

Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research

Volume 6 · Issue 2 · September 2023 ISSN 2630-4953(Online)





Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Dr. Wei-Chiang Hong Asia Eastern University of Science and Technology, Taiwan, China

Associate Editor

Dongxing Wang

Wuhan University, China

Saeed Zeinali Heris

University of Tabriz, Iran

Editorial Board Members

Hamed Taherdoost, Canada Fernando J. Garrigos-Simon, Spain Andrea Boeri, Italy Chris A. Vassiliadis, Greece Marco Dell' Isola, Italy Jonas Šaparauskas, Lithuania Guillermo Escrivá-Escrivá, Spain Samad Emamgholizadeh, Iran Saad Sabe Alrwashdeh, Jordan Saad A. El-Sayed, Egypt Shehata E Abdel Raheem, Egypt Yan Shi, China Istefani Carisio de Paula, Brazil Mohamad Kashef, United States Abdul Razzaq Ghumman, Pakistan Fabrizio Errico, Italy Mohammed Ali Hadj Ammar, Algeria Saeed Ghorbani, Iran Sajad Naghavi, Iran Dagmar Caganova, Slovakia Esther Martinez, Spain Wen Chen, United States Zhisheng Li, China Aslan Deniz Karaoglan, Turkey Shafaqat Mehmood, Pakistan Silvana Irene Torri, Argentina Shu-Lung Kuo, Taiwan, China Baher Mahmoud Amer, Egypt Ehsan Najafi, Iran Jianjun Cao, China Kazue Okamoto, Australia Duygu Donmez Donmez Demir, Turkey Ashkan Memari, Malaysia Ravi Kant Chaturvedi, China Can Coskun, Turkey Yi Liang, China Tran Van Ty, Vietnam Ahmad Fudholi, Malaysia Madhar Mohammad Taamneh, Jordan Halil Durak, Turkey K D Yadav, India Mahdi Hosseini, China Mingwei Li, China Fitsum Taye Feyissa, United States

Volume 6 Issue 2 • September 2023 • ISSN 2630-4953 (Online)

Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research

Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Wei-Chiang Hong





Volume 6 | Issue 2 | September 2023 | Page1-100 Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research

Contents

Editorial

1 Development of Low-carbon and Sustainable Magnesium-bearing Cementitious Materials-based Solidification Approaches for Management of Problematic Soils Dongxing Wang

Articles

17	Understanding Applications and Best Practices of DEMATEL: A Method for Prioritizing Key Factors in
	Multi-Criteria Decision-Making
	Hamed Taherdoost, Mitra Madanchian
24	The Impact of Information Technology on Service Quality, Satisfaction, and Customer Relationship
	Management (Case Study: IT Organization Individuals)
	Hojjat Talebi, Amid Khatibi Bardsiri
32	Sectoral Advanced Planning Systems (APS) Based on Utility Functions
	Yuri Mauergauz
47	Strategies for Adoption of Circular Economy in the Nigeria Construction Industry
	Abdullahi Idris, Abdulkabir Opeyemi Bello
60	Companies' E-waste Estimation Based on General Equilibrium Theory Context and Random Forest Re-
	gression Algorithm in Cameroon: Case Study of SMEs Implementing ISO 14001:2015
	Gilson Tekendo Djoukoue, Idriss Djiofack Teledjieu, Sijun Bai

82 Greening the Supply Chain: Drivers and Outcomes in the Korean Manufacturing Industry Joohan Ryoo

Review

5 A Comprehensive Overview of the ELECTRE Method in Multi-Criteria Decision-Making Hamed Taherdoost, Mitra Madanchian



Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research https://journals.bilpubgroup.com/index.php/jmser

EDITORIAL

Development of Low-carbon and Sustainable Magnesium-bearing Cementitious Materials-based Solidification Approaches for Management of Problematic Soils

Dongxing Wang

School of Civil Engineering, Wuhan University, Wuhan, Hubei, 430072, China

ABSTRACT

The production of traditional cementitious binders such as calcium-based Portland cement poses a serious challenge to the environment and society. Therefore, low-carbon, green and sustainable magnesium-based cementitious materials are developed to replace fully or partly Portland cement and reduce the consumption of natural resources and CO₂ emissions. Three interesting techniques, including reactive MgO-activated industrial solid wastes, MgO-based cement and carbonation of magnesium-bearing materials, are elucidated to point to the necessity for developing novel magnesium-based cementitious materials. In the coming future, the carbonation of magnesium-rich industrial solid wastes or its combination with reactive MgO for application in various construction sectors such as soft ground improvement and concrete fabrication would be a promising approach to generate high-value products based on industrial solid wastes.

Keywords: Mg-bearing binder; Solidification; Soil; Carbonation

The uninterrupted population growth and economic development would unavoidably require more living space and infrastructure construction, especially in the coastal, lake, valley and river regions. In these areas, soft soils with high water content, high compressibility, low bearing capacity and low strength pose a serious challenge that must be addressed before the infrastructure construction. To overcome efficiently the intractable issue, a commonly accepted approach—Portland cement-based solidification

***CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:**

Dongxing Wang, School of Civil Engineering, Wuhan University, Wuhan, Hubei, 430072, China; Email: dongxing-wang@whu.edu.cn

ARTICLE INFO

Received: 27 December 2022 | Revised: 28 December 2022 | Accepted: 29 December 2022 | Published Online: 10 February 2023 DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5365

CITATION

Wang, D.X., 2023. Development of Low-carbon and Sustainable Magnesium-bearing Cementitious Materials-based Solidification Approaches for Management of Problematic Soils. Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(2): 1-4. DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser. v6i2.5365

COPYRIGHT

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). Published by Bilingual Publishing Group. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/). method is being developed and attracting more and more attention worldwide ^[1-4]. However, in general, producing 1 ton of traditional Portland cement must generate 0.94 tons of CO₂ (0.55 tons of chemical CO₂, 0.39 tons of CO₂ from fuel emissions) ^[4,5]. The quantity of CO₂ emitted from the cement industry has been estimated to be about 5%-7% of the world's total CO₂ emissions ^[6]. Consequently, developing low-carbon, sustainable and high-efficiency binders for the solidification of problematic soils is an important and promising issue that deserves to be probed to replace partly or fully calcium-based Portland cement.

The magnesite deposit in China is an abundant reserve that occupies the first place in the world. It provides a great opportunity to synthesize magnesium-bearing cementitious materials, which are generated at lower calcination temperatures and less energy and resource consumption in contrast with Portland cement. For soil solidification, reactive MgO has been incorporated to activate the pozzolanic properties of industrial solid wastes such as granulated blast furnace slag and fly ash ^[7,8], generating C-S-H or M-S-H gels at high alkalinity that are essentially the micromechanisms for soil improvement. In fact, the incorporated MgO plays a duel role in the process of MgO activated industrial solid wastes: (i) Similar to lime (CaO), MgO dissolves in water to form brucite $(Mg(OH)_2)$ that fills into pore space and cements fines grains together, and (ii) MgO reacts with active components (SiO_2) contained in solid wastes in the presence of water to produce M-S-H or provides an alkaline environment to facilitate the production of C-S-H gels. Nevertheless, it is observed that the strength development is relatively slow at an early age and the activation efficiency of solid wastes by reactive MgO is unstable due to the complexity of chemical composition in various solid wastes ^[8,9]. To synthesize MgO-based cement that is more highly effective in enhancing the early and long-term strength of solidified soils, several blocks of cement with a significantly higher quantity of magnesium have been developed and introduced in soil solidification ^[4,10-13]. They exhibit many superior characteristics such as fast hardening, high early strength and excellent fire/abrasion resistance and so on. As an air-hardening cement, magnesium oxvchloride cement (MOC) is prepared from reactive MgO and chemical reagent MgCl₂, and the hydration of MOC occurs in a through-solution reaction, generating the major hydrated products including brucite (Mg(OH)₂), phase 5 crystals (5Mg(OH)₂·Mg-Cl₂·8H₂O) and phase 3 crystals (3Mg(OH)₂·Mg-Cl₂·8H₂O). Besides, magnesium phosphate cement (MPC), prepared by dead burned magnesia (MgO) and potassium dihydrogen phosphate (KH₂PO₄) or ammonium dihydrogen phosphate (NH₄H₂PO₄) in the presence of water is one of the most promising alternatives to substitute Ca-based Portland cement, and generated KMgPO₄·6H₂O (struvite-k) or NH₄MgPO₄·6H₂O (struvite) by an acid-base neutralization reaction. According to the above discussions, it can be concluded that the performance of Mgbased blocks of cement in soil solidification depends greatly on the ratio between components, affecting directly the number of hydrated products and the strength development of solidified soils. The optimal ratio where the strength reaches the peak should be determined before the application of Mg-based blocks of cement in soil solidification.

With the development of Mg-based blocks of cement, an innovative combination of CO₂ carbonation and reactive MgO or MgO-bearing materials was proposed and is attracting more and more attention for the beneficial use in soil solidification ^[14-17]. In fact, reactive MgO has an excellent capacity to absorb CO₂ emitted from industrial activities such as cement production and mineral calcination, and thus reduce CO₂ emissions by capturing and transforming them into a series of stable hydrated carbonates such as nesquehonite, dypingite and hydromagnesite ^[16,17]. This can realize us to transform CO₂ gas from industrial emissions to solid Mg-based carbonate minerals that are permanently stable at ambient temperature. For application in soil solidification field, CO₂ carbonation combined with reactive MgO or MgO-bearing materials can not only improve the mechanical performance (strength, bearing capacity etc.) of solidified soils, but also reduce their permeability and porosity owing to the combined physic-chemical impact of pore filling-cementation-skeleton construction. Furthermore, to cut the material cost for CO₂ carbonation and recycle industrial solid wastes that are difficult to be reused on large-scale, various industrial solid wastes with high MgO content such as granulated blast furnace slag, steel slag and fly ash were innovatively introduced in CO2 carbonation-based solidification approach ^[17,18]. A portion of MgO originally contained in industrial solid wastes was proved to be efficiently carbonated, but there is still an important fraction of residual MgO in these wastes tested that do not take part in the CO₂ carbonation process. Therefore, how to activate efficiently these MgO residuals in solid wastes and carbonize them to form stable and permanent carbonates is deemed as an intractable problem to address in the future. Some preliminary attempts at the dissolution of magnesium from solid wastes to facilitate its combination with CO₂ have already been made for the moment, but it still requires many more efforts on this topic to develop a cost-effective and efficient approach to carbonize as much as possible these MgO minerals contained in solid wastes. It would become a crucial and innovative research issue in the soil solidification field that deserves to be systematically investigated in the coming future. Especially, the environmental compatibility between Mg-based carbonation and treated soils should be also considered for the potential application in various construction domains including ground improvement and concrete fabrication etc.

The above discussions summarized the research motivation and development process of green, low-carbon and efficient Mg-bearing cementitious binders oriented for soil solidification in the domains of soft ground improvement and waste sludge treatment. Especially, concerning the prospective research, the carbonation of industrial solid wastes and their combination with reactive materials such as MgO would be a promising and high-valued waste recycling technique for soil solidification and the green construction sector.

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest.

References

- Nicholson, P.G., Kashyap, V., Fujii, C.F., 1990. Lime and fly ash admixture improvement of tropical Hawaiian soils. Transportation Research Record. 1440, 71-77.
- [2] Tremblay, H., Duchesne, J., Locat, J., et al., 2002. Influence of the nature of organic compounds on fine soil stabilization with cement. Canadian Geotechnical Journal. 39, 535-546.
- [3] Zentar, R., Wang, H., Wang, D., 2021. Comparative study of stabilization/solidification of dredged sediments with ordinary Portland cement and calcium sulfoaluminate cement in the framework of valorization in road construction material. Construction and Building Materials. 279, 122447.
- [4] Wang, D., Zhu, J., Wang, R., 2021. Assessment of magnesium potassium phosphate cement for waste sludge solidification: Macro and micro-analysis. Journal of Cleaner Production. 294, 126365.
- [5] Gartner, E., 2004. Industrially interesting approaches to "low-CO₂" cements. Cement and Concrete Research. 34(9), 1489-1498.
- [6] Dung, N.T., Unluer, C., 2017. Carbonated MgO concrete with improved performance: The influence of temperature and hydration agent on hydration, carbonation and strength gain. Cement & Concrete Composites. 82, 152-164.
- [7] Yi, Y., Li, C., Liu, S., et al., 2015. Magnesium sulfate attack on clays stabilised by carbide slag and magnesia-ground granulated blast furnace slag. Géotechnique Letters. 5, 306-312.
- [8] Wang, D., Wang, R., Benzerzour, M., et al., 2020. Comparison between reactive MgO and Na₂SO₄-activated low-calcium fly ash solidified soils dredged from East Lake, China. Marine Georesources & Geotechnology. 38(9), 1046-1055.
- [9] Wang, D., Wang, H., Di, S., 2019. Mechanical

properties and microstructure of magnesia-fly ash pastes. Road Materials and Pavement Design. 20(5), 1243-1254.

- [10] Wang, D., Benzerzour, M., Hu, X., et al., 2020. Strength, permeability, and micromechanisms of industrial residue magnesium oxychloride cement solidified slurry. International Journal of Geomechanics. 20(7), 04020088.
- [11] Ma, J., Zhao, Y., Wang, J., et al., 2010. Effect of magnesium oxychloride cement on stabilization/ solidification of sewage sludge. Construction and Building Materials. 24, 79-83.
- [12] Wang, D., Chen, Z., Gao, X., 2022. Sustainable improvement of magnesium oxychloride cement solidified waste sludge with fly ash inclusion. Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering. 34(12), 04022317.
- [13] Wang, D., Zhu, J., Zeng, G., 2022. Comprehensive evaluation on magnesium potassium phosphate cement-mineral additive stabilized waste sludge. Marine Georesources & Geotechnology. 40. doi: 10.1080/1064119X.2022.2146553.

- [14] Harrison, A.J.W. (inventor), 2008. Reactive Magnesium Oxide Cements. US Patent. 7, 347, 896. 2008 Mar 25.
- [15] Harrison, A.J.W. (editor), 2003. New cements based on the addition of reactive magnesia to Portland cement with or without added pozzolan. Proceedings of the CIA Conference: Concrete in the Third Millennium. Brisbane, Australia: CIA. p. 1-11.
- [16] Liu, S.Y., Cai, G.H., Cao, J.J., et al., 2020. Influence of soil type on strength and microstructure of carbonated reactive magnesia-treated soil. European Journal of Environmental and Civil Engineering. 24(2), 248-266.
- [17] Wang, D., Xiao, J., Gao, X., 2019. Strength gain and microstructure of carbonated reactive MgOfly ash solidified sludge from East Lake, China. Engineering Geology. 251, 37-47.
- [18] Wang, D., 2021. Solidification performance and micro-structure characteristics of dredged sludge. Science Press: Beijing, China.



Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research https://journals.bilpubgroup.com/index.php/jmser

REVIEW

A Comprehensive Overview of the ELECTRE Method in Multi-Criteria Decision-Making

Hamed Taherdoost^{1*}, Mitra Madanchian²

¹ University Canada West, Vancouver, V6B1V9, Canada ² Hamta Group, Hamta Business Corporation, Vancouver, V6E1C9, Canada

ABSTRACT

The ELECTRE (ELimination Et Choix Traduisant la REalite) method has gained widespread recognition as one of the most effective multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM) methods. Its versatility allows it to be applied in a wide range of areas such as engineering, economics, business, environmental management and many others. This paper aims to provide an overview of the ELECTRE method, including its fundamental concepts, applications, advantages, and limitations. At its core, the ELECTRE method is an outranking family of MCDM techniques, which allows for the direct comparison of alternatives based on a set of criteria. The method takes into account the preferences and importance of decision-makers and generates a ranking of the alternatives based on their relative strengths and weaknesses. The ELECTRE method is a powerful tool for decision-making, and its applicability to a wide range of fields demonstrates its versatility and adaptability. By understanding its concepts, applications, merits, and demerits, decision-makers can use the ELECTRE method to make informed and effective decisions in a variety of contexts. *Keywords:* Decision making; Multi criteria decision making; ELECTRE method; ELimination Et Choix Traduisant la REalite method; Multi attribute decision making

1. Introduction

The ELECTRE (ELimination Et Choix Traduisant la REalite) method is a non-compensatory multi-attribute decision making (MADM) method that works based on alternatives' comparison considering individual criteria^[1]. The main point that distinguishes the ELECTRE from compensatory methods

*CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

ARTICLE INFO

COPYRIGHT

Hamed Taherdoost, University Canada West, Vancouver, V6B1V9, Canada; Email: hamed.taherdoost@gmail.com; hamed@hamta.org

Received: 10 April 2023 | Revised: 25 May 2023 | Accepted: 26 May 2023 | Published Online: 5 June 2023 DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5637

CITATION

Taherdoost, H., Madanchian, M., 2023. A Comprehensive Overview of the ELECTRE Method in Multi-Criteria Decision-Making. Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(2): 5-16. DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5637

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). Published by Bilingual Publishing Group. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

such as simple additive weighting (SAW)^[2] is that in the ELECTRE method, the weights are not criteria substitution rates instead the weights are coefficients of importance. Furthermore, in this method, it is not possible to offset a very bad value on a criterion with good ones on other criteria. It should be added that a few references consider the ELECTRE as a partially compensatory method and argued for placing it in the non-compensatory subgroup^[3].

The initiated ELECTRE evaluation method was introduced in 1966 by Benavoun et al.^[4]. This was the report of a real word problem in the European consultancy company SEMA, although the first journal article was published by Roy in 1968 to describe the method in detail and it was renamed later as ELECTRE I^[5]. Then, different authors published manifold studies on this method based on similar theories to establish preference and outranking relations, and also to support decision-makers by making consistent exploration and analysis. Different ELEC-TRE versions were introduced by several scholars such as ELECTRE I, II, III, IV, IS, TRI, TRIB, and TRI-C. In this paper, the process steps of three methods that are between the most commonly used versions including ELECTRE I, II, and III are described in detail. ELECTRE I was developed as one of the earlier versions of ELECTRE methods, and ELEC-TRE II was developed in 1971 by Roy and Bertier as an improved and promoted version of ELECTRE I. ELECTRE III was developed based on the main principles of ELECTRE II, but instead of classical true criteria, it applies the pseudo-criteria and makes the presentations of the outranking relations in a fuzzy form possible ^[3,5,6]. These methods work based on selecting a desirable option between different alternatives meeting two separate demands including:

- Concordance preference above many evaluation benchmarks;
- Discordance preference under any optional benchmark.

The ELECTRE I method contains three concepts including a threshold value, concordance, and discordance indexes. In the ELECTRE II method, the concepts of concordance and discordance indexes incorporate weak and strong relationships that are extremely opposite relationships and result in two final rankings known as weak-ranking and strong-ranking ^[6]. On the other hand, ELECTRE III outperforms the former ones as it can deal with uncertain, imprecise, and inaccurate data using the fuzzy concept ^[7]. To sum up, although the ELECTRE method's versions differ in several aspects, for example some are designed for utilization in selection problems (such as ELECTRE I) and some are applicable for ranking purposes (such as ELECTRE II and III), and even for assignment problems (using ELECTRE TRI) all of them are included in the outranking multi-criteria decision making (MCDM) methods' family ^[1,3,5].

While there have been previous reviews on ELECTRE methods, this review provides a fresh perspective by consolidating and presenting up-todate information on the topic. This review aims to provide an up-to-date understanding of the ELEC-TRE method and to discuss the basic concepts, principles, and steps of the ELECTRE method, along with variations and extensions proposed by researchers. Additionally, the review provides process steps of the ELECTRE method and suggests potential areas for future research. The following sections are provided to discuss the application areas of the ELECTRE methods, their advantages and disadvantages, and finally the ELECTRE principles and process steps. This comprehensive analysis provides a valuable resource for researchers, practitioners, and decision-makers seeking to explore the potential of ELECTRE methods in various domains and make informed choices about their implementation.

2. Application areas

The ELECTRE evaluation methods have manifold application areas and are widely used decision-making methods that can be applied in a vast range of areas from transport to environmental protection programs ^[6]. Here, to gain a better overview of the application areas, the results of a comprehensive review by Govindan and Jepsen ^[5] are summarized. They analyzed the literature worked based on the ELECTRE method considering different categories. The applied papers are considered here that focus on numerical research studies using the ELEC-TRE, developing algorithms, etc. **Table 1** shows a summary of the 13 categories of the ELECTRE application areas, and the description of the articles are included in the categories. In this study, they introduced "natural resources and environmental management (NRE)" as the most popular application area.

3. Advantages and disadvantages

The ELECTRE method is known for its various advantages, although it also exhibits certain weak-

nesses. This section presents a concise list of the merits and demerits associated with the ELECTRE evaluation. Considered as one of the best Multiple Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) methods, ELEC-TRE possesses the following strengths: it employs a simple logic; it fully utilizes the information contained in the decision matrix; it incorporates a refined computational process ^[8]; it utilizes an outranking approach ^[9]; it models imperfect knowledge by considering indifference and preference thresholds; it avoids compensating for a very poor criterion value with good values on other criteria; and its non-compensatory nature is not as extreme as other methods ^[9]. On the other hand, the literature identifies several

 Table 1. Application areas of ELECTRE methods ^[5].

No	Category	Description
1	Natural resources and environmental management	The articles are between for example geology and cartography; water, land, and waste management; forestry, ecotourism, and natural reserves sub-categories.
2	Business management	The sub-categories are for instance human resources, investment decisions, performance and benchmarking, etc.
3	Energy management	The articles are about energy management within a building or for a small set of customers, etc.
4	Design, mechanical engineering, and manufacturing systems	The articles focus on product design, equipment and material selection, the setup and maintenance of production lines, and manufacturing systems.
5	Structural, construction and transportation engineering	For example, includes articles on infrastructure and housing, transportation networks' management and development, etc.
6	Logistics and supply chain management	This application area includes different sub-categories for logistics and management of supply chain, selection of supplier and location, facility layout, etc.
7	Information technology	This includes four sub-categories including e-commerce and m-commerce, software evaluation, selection of the network, etc.
8	Financial management	The articles are about for example investment and portfolio management.
9	Policy, social, and education	This category includes mainly public planning and policy decision.
10	Chemical and biochemical engineering	This category includes different problems related to designing the chemical processes and bacteria identification, etc.
11	Agriculture & horticulture	This category includes different areas related to assessing the agricultural cropping systems, crops, land-use types; animal production, etc.
121	Health, safety, and medicine	The articles are about safety management and health sector problems.
13	Other areas and non-specific applications	Other application areas (excluded from the other 12 categories) such as destination assessment in the tourism industry, architectural design, selection of cars, evaluating movies, etc.

disadvantages of the ELECTRE method, which are as follows: The use of threshold values that may be arbitrary but significantly impact the final solution ^[8]; the time-consuming nature of the method ^[10]; the uncertainty in the accuracy of the ranking obtained through ELECTRE I ^[11]; the inability of the method to handle purely ordinal scales, as it requires a metric scale for the discordance index to compare differences. Consequently, ELECTRE I should only be employed when numerical scales are used to code the criteria; and the possibility of encountering the rank reversal phenomenon in ELECTRE II and III methods, wherein adding or removing an alternative can reverse the ranking between two alternatives ^[9].

4. Principle of ELECTRE methods

In this method, a decision-making problem is considered including *m* alternatives (known as $A_i: i = 1$, 2, ..., *m*) and *n* criteria ($X_j: j = 1, 2, ..., n$) and *n* weighting factors ($w_j: j = 1, 2, ..., n$). This can be shown as an $m \times n$ decision matrix (with x_{ij} elements). Also in these methods $\sum_{j=1}^{n} w_j = 1$. A decision problem aims to select the best alternative as a result. For this, the ELECTRE methods use outranking relations between each pair of alternatives. That is to say, these methods work based on preferring an alternative to another one. This concept is shown as:

 $A_i \rightarrow A_k$ (or $A_i SA_k$) means A_i is preferred to A_k For this, A_i should:

- Be at least as good as A_k for the majority of the criteria;
- Not be significantly worse when other criteria are considered.

The second factor can be examined by using a predefined threshold. This process aims to detect the dominated and non-dominated alternatives, although it is problematic in complex problems and when the matrix does not have crisp data due to their uncertainties. For this, two kinds of comparison sets are required among the criteria in which:

- $X_i(A_i)$ is superior to $X_i(A_k)$;
- $X_i(A_i)$ is not superior to $X_i(A_k)$.

Therefore, this method separately investigates the criteria that vote and veto the preference of A_i to A_k , and these sets are called concordance and discordance tests. Concordance tests are binary tests for ELECTRE I and II which use 0 and 1 index when the test is failed and passed; respectively. Consider a criterion that aims to minimize A_i , as an example. In this situation:

- If $A_i < A_k$, results in a passed concordance test;
- If $A_i > A_k$, results in a failed concordance test.

On the other hand, the outranking relations in the ELECTRE III method are fuzzy with the values between 0 and 1 based on how far an alternative is better than another when considering a criterion.

The second test known as discordance aims to evaluate the existence of a very high opposition between alternatives and to be intended for the criteria in which the performance of A_i is worse compared to A_k . This test also can be binary or fuzzy in nature.

Both tests are necessary to gain a true outranking relation between pairs of alternatives. The results can be finalized as:

- A_i is preferred to A_k(A_i → A_k or A_iSA_k): If both tests are passed;
- A_i is incomparable to $A_k(A_i R A_k)$: Neighter $A_i \rightarrow A_k$ nor $A_k \rightarrow A_i$;
- A_i is indifferent to $A_k(A_i I A_k)$: One is not preferred over another alternative.

The main and fundamental concept of the ELEC-TRE methods is discussed above. However, there are some differences in the steps of conducting different versions of the ELECTRE due to the differences in their application of them in decision-making. For example, ELECTRE I is used for the selection problems, and ELECTRE II and III are designed for ranking purposes. The following section aims to discuss the process steps of the different ELECTRE methods more specifically ^[3,7].

5. Process steps

Different ELECTRE methods can differ from each other in different aspects such as the process of determination of concordance and discordance matrices, the type of outranking relations (for example binary or fuzzy), etc.

5.1 ELECTRE I process steps

Step 1. Normalizing the Decision Matrix

The $n \times m$ decision matrix X is shown in Equation (1):

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} x_{11} & \cdots & x_{1m} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{n1} & \cdots & x_{nm} \end{bmatrix}_{n \times m}$$
(1)

This step is similar to the first step in The TOP-SIS method, and the attributes with various scales are transformed into comparable scales using Equation (2). This makes all the attributes similar in terms of the unit length of the vector.

$$r_{ij} = \frac{x_{ij}}{\sqrt{\sum_{j=1}^{m} x_{ij}^2}}$$
(2)

Step 2. Weighting the Normalized Matrix (V)

This step also is similar to TOPSIS, and aims to add the effect of weight to the decision matrix using the following method:

$$V = (v_{ij}) \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{m} \tag{3}$$

where $v_{ij} = w_j r_{ij}$. (4)

Step 3. Determining the Concordance and Discordance Sets

This step aims to separate the decision criteria set into two distinct subsets (C_{kl} (Concordance) and D_{lk} (Discordance) : $l \neq k$) for each pair of alternatives. That is to say, when two alternatives are considered, the alternatives are compared considering the type of criteria (cost or benefit types), and then based on which one is better or worse, the concordance and discordance sets are determined. For example, in a 4×6 matric if all attributes are positive (benefit attributes), when $C_{12} = [3,4,5,6]$, and $D_{12} = [1,2]$, then it means:

• $v_{11} < v_{21}; v_{12} < v_{22}; v_{13} \ge v_{23}; v_{14} \ge v_{24}; v_{15} \ge v_{23};$ $v_{16} \ge v_{26}$

Generally, the concordance and discordance sets are:

 $C_{kl} = \{j | v_{kj} \ge v_{lj}\}$ $D_{kl} = \{j | v_{kj} < v_{lj}\} = J - C_{kl}$ **Step 4.** Building the Concordance Matrix

After recognizing the concordance and discordance sets, in this step, the sum values of the weights associated with the concordance set are considered as the concordance index. Other equations are also recommended by different authors. Here a simple method is introduced:

$$c_{kl} = \sum_{j \in C_{kl}} w_j \tag{5}$$

considering the example in the previous step, for instance, the sum of w_2 , w_3 , w_4 , w_5 must be placed in the c_{12} in the concordance matrix (*C*). This general (not symmetric) concordance matrix is shown as:

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} - & c_{12} & \dots & c_{1n} \\ c_{21} & - & \dots & c_{2m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ c_{m1} & \dots & c_{m(m-1)} & - \end{bmatrix}$$
(6)

Step 5. Building the Discordance Matrix

In this step, the focus is especially on the degree to which an alternative is worse than the other one (considering the pairs of alternatives). For this the discordance index should be calculated using the following equation:

$$d_{kl} = \frac{\max_{j \in D_{kl}} |v_{kj} - v_{lj}|}{\max_{j \in J} |v_{kj} - v_{lj}|}$$
(7)

and then the discordance (*D*) matrix is built similarly to the concordance matrix:

$$D = \begin{bmatrix} - & d_{12} & \dots & d_{1n} \\ d_{21} & - & \dots & d_{2m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ d_{m1} & \dots & d_{m(m-1)} & - \end{bmatrix}$$
(8)

In this matrix, higher values of d_{kl} show that A_k is less favorable than A_l for the discordance criteria. In contrast, a lower value implies that A_k is favorable to A_l . In this matrix, the d_{kl} values are between 0 and 1.

Step 6. Determining the Concordance Index (Dominance) Matrix

In this step, a threshold value is considered for the concordance index. That is to say, based on a threshold value, it can be determined whether A_k have the chance of dominating A_l , when C_{kl} exceeds at least a certain value for the threshold (\overline{c}). That is to say:

•
$$c_{kl} \geq \overline{c}$$

where the \overline{c} can be determined in different ways. For example, it can be calculated as follows:

$$\bar{c} = \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq l}}^{m} \sum_{\substack{l=1\\k \neq k}}^{m} \frac{c_{kl}}{m(m-1)}$$
(9)

But the threshold can be assumed 0.7 usually. Then a bloomlean matrix (F) must be constructed with the following elements:

- $f_{kl} = 1$; if $c_{kl} \ge \overline{c}$;
- $f_{kl} = 0$; if $c_{kl} < \overline{c}$.

Each "one value" for the matrix elements means "the dominance of one alternative with respect to another alternative".

Step 7. Determining the Discordance Index (Dominance) Matrix

On the other hand, a similar process is conducted to build the discordance dominance matrix (G). A threshold value is considered here as well such as:

$$\overline{d} = \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq l}}^{m} \sum_{\substack{l=1\\k \neq k}}^{m} \frac{d_{kl}}{m(m-1)}$$
(10)

Also, \overline{d} can be assumed 0.3 usually. The elements of the matrix are:

- $g_{kl} = 1$; if $d_{kl} \leq \overline{d}$;
- $g_{kl} = 0$; if $d_{kl} > \overline{d}$.

Step 8. Determining the Aggregate Dominance Matrix

This step aims to combine f and G matrices, and calculate the intersection of the F and G matrices called Aggregate Dominance Matrix (E) with e_{kl} elements that is gained by the multiplication of f_{kl} and g_{kl} elements in the f and G matrices:

$$e_{kl} = f_{kl} \times g_{kl} \tag{11}$$

So, the elements of the aggregate dominance matrix can have just zero or one value for $k \neq l$.

Step 9. Eliminating the Less Favorable Alternatives

Now it is time to eliminate the less favorable alternatives. The alternatives' partial-preference ordering is given in matrix *E*. That is to say:

 If e_{kl} = 1; for both concordance and discordance criteria A_k are preferred to A_i.

But it is important to note that still A_k can be dominated by other alternatives. Therefore, more comprehensive conditions must be considered to conclude that A_k is not dominated in the whole ELECTRE procedure. These conditions are as follows:

- $e_{kl} = 1$; for at least one l;
- $e_{il} = 0$; for all *i*.

In these conditions: $k \neq l, i \neq k, i \neq l, l\&i = 1, 2, ...m$. Although applying this condition can appear difficult, *E* matrix can be easily used to identify the alternatives with the following method:

If at least one "element of 1" is existed in any column of the *E* matrix; it means that "the column is 'ELECTREcally' dominated by the corresponding row(s)". Therefore, the column(s) with at least one element of 1 should be eliminated. In this step, a graphical representation of the over-ranking relationships can be also helpful to illustrate the relationships better. Consider the following $E_{example}$ matrix as the result of Step 8:

$$E_{example} = \begin{bmatrix} - & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & - & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & - & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & - \end{bmatrix}$$

In this example, the graphical representation can be shown in **Figure 1** considering the following relationships given as the result of $E_{example}$ matrix elements:

 $A_1 \rightarrow A_2$, $A_1 \rightarrow A_4$, $A_3 \rightarrow A_2$, $A_3 \rightarrow A_4$, $A_4 \rightarrow A_2$

It can be concluded from the figure that A_2 and A_4 are dominated by A_1 and A_3 , although the preference relationship between A_1 and A_3 cannot be obtained from this. These results also can be taken from the columns of the $E_{example}$ matrix. As A_1 and A_3 do not possess any element of 1 ^[3,6,8,11,12].



Figure 1. An example for over-ranking relationships ^[8].

5.2 ELECTRE II process steps

ELECTRE II is similar to ELECTRE I, but the differences are related to the definitions of two outranking relations called "strong outranking" and "weak outranking". Strong outranking and weak outranking have solid bases and questionable grounds, respectively.

Strong outranking relies on solid bases, whereas weak outranking has questionable grounds. Therefore, the result is given as an outranking graph dichotomy in weak and strong outranking graphs. The process steps of the ELECTRE I were defined in the previous sub-section in detail. Here, as some steps are similar to the ELECTRE I (such as decision matrix formation), just the main steps of the ELECTRE II are listed. The main process steps are listed following:

Step 1. Outranking Relationships Definition

This method compares the alternatives pair to pair as discussed in the ELECTRE I. The aim of this step is to define whether A_k outranks A_i strongly. Three concordance thresholds (α): high, medium, and low and two non-concordance thresholds (D)are used in this method. For this, the following conditions must be met:

$$\begin{cases} c_{kl} \ge \alpha^{+} \\ and \\ X_{j}(A_{k}) - X_{j}(A_{l}) \le D_{1}(j), \forall j \\ and \\ \frac{P^{+}(k, l)}{P^{-}(k, l)} \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(12)$$

and/or

$$\begin{cases} c_{kl} \ge \alpha^{0} \\ and \\ X_{j}(A_{k}) - X_{j}(A_{l}) \le D_{2}(j), \forall j \\ \\ and \\ \frac{P^{+}(k, l)}{P^{-}(k, l)} \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(13)$$

where:

- P⁺ (k, l) is "the sum of criteria weighting of the k when it is preferable to l (considering the type of the criteria)";
- $P^-(k, l)$ is "the sum of criteria weighting of

the *l* when it is preferable to *k* (considering the type of the criteria)";

- P⁼ (k, l) is "the summation of criteria weighting of the k when the k equals to l".
- α⁺ ≥ α⁰ (threshold values) and D₂ (j) ≤ D₁ (j) (thresholds of discordance).
- The above definitions for P(k, l) are similar to Step 4 in the ELECTRE I. Considering these relations A_k strongly outranks A_l if:
- In Equation (12), the outranking equation is "strongly" concordant and "fairly" discordant;
- In Equation (13), it is "fairly" concordant and "weakly" discordant.

On the other hand, the following equation is used as the weak outranking relation to determine A_k weak outranks A_l :

$$\begin{cases} c_{kl} \ge \alpha^{-} \\ and \\ X_{j}(A_{k}) - X_{j}(A_{l}) \le D_{2}(j), \forall j \\ \\ and \\ \frac{P^{+}(k, l)}{P^{-}(k, l)} \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(14)$$

where $X_j(A_k)$ is the evaluation of A_k on criterion *j*. In Equation (14), $\alpha^- \leq \alpha^0$, and A_k weakly outranks A_i , if:

• The relation is weakly concordant and fairly discordant.

To discuss the relations more, considering the hypothesis of the problem " A_k outranks A_l " it can be noted that:

- If X_j(A_k) − X_j(A_l) ≤ D₁(j), then the criterion j does not possess a major opposition to the considered hypothesis, and the discordance is weak in this situation;
- If D₂(j) ≤ X_j(A_k) − X_j(A_l) ≤ D₁(j), then the criterion j does not possess a major opposition to the considered hypothesis, and the discordance is mean in this situation.

Step 2. The Concordance Coefficient Definition

Consider cases A_k and A_l are compared. The concordance coefficient/index can be determined by the following equation (similar to ELECTRE I, but here another equation is used which can be also in ELEC-TRE I):

$$c_{kl} = \frac{P^+(k,l) + P^-(k,l)}{P^+(k,l) + P^-(k,l)}$$
(15)

Conditions are as follows to accept the concordance test:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{P^{+}(k,l)}{P^{-}(k,l)} \ge 1\\ and\\ c_{kl} \ge \alpha^{+} \text{ or } c_{kl} \ge \alpha^{0} \text{ or } c_{kl} \ge \alpha^{-} \end{cases}$$
(16)

After defining the main concepts in the ELEC-TRE II, now it is time to enter the classification process.

Step 3. Constructing the Graphs

First, two separate graphs are used to show the relationships between alternatives: Strong and weak outranking graphs.

- In a strong outranking graph (G_F), the nodes of alternatives are liked, if there is a strong outranking relation between them. G_F includes Y as the set of nodes and U_F as the set of arcs between the nodes, and can be shown as G_F(Y, U_F).
- In weak outranking graph (*G_j*), the nodes of alternatives are liked, if there is a weak outranking relation between them.

The graphs should be modified to remove the circuits which are defined as "A circuit is a set of actions in which we have, for example, action A dominates action B, action B dominates action C and action C dominates action A". In the circuits, finding the best alternatives is not possible, therefore these actions are defined as equivalent for the decision makers. After removing the circuits, a modified graph is shaped. In this graph, the circuit is replaced by one of the fictitious actions(for example instead of the ABC circuit, A' is used).

Step 4. Conducting the Direct Classification (Forward Ranking)

Then, the direct classification can be conducted in several iterations. the process simply is shown in **Figure 2**.

Consider **Table 2** for ranking the alternatives completed by the following steps:

1) Firstly, in t = 1 consider Y(1) = Y;



Figure 2. Direct classification process.

2) In G_F find all the nodes (alternatives) without incoming arrows (or not having a precedent). Denote them as C(1).

3) Go to G_f , see the nodes in C(1), and remove all the ties between these nodes and the system (you just consider the connections between the alternatives included in C(1)), and add the sets of links as $\overline{U_f}(t)$. Then, construct the $(C(1), \overline{U_f}(t))$ graph, and the nodes that have no precedent in this graph are the set of selected nodes in this iteration (A(1)) that is the non-dominated set at the first iteration. It shows the alternatives without precedent in either strong or weak outranking graphs.

4) Eliminate all the nodes and arrows related to the A(1) in Y(1), and consider it as Y(2). Therefore in each iteration Y(t) = Y(t-1) - A(t-1). That is to say, in a new iteration t (step t), the classified actions from the previous steps should be removed from the outranking graph.

5) Continue the iterations until all nodes are

ranked. In this table, lower rank means better performance, for example if *rank* $(A_k) < \operatorname{rank} (A_l)$ then A_k is better than A_l . Therefore, the action related to r_1 is the best.

Step/Iteration (t)	Y(k)	C(t)	$\overline{\boldsymbol{U}_f}(t)$	A(t)	r _t
1	<i>Y</i> (1)				r_1
2	Y(1) - A(1)				r_2
:	:	:	:	:	÷
Until all alternatives are ranked and eliminated	Ø				r _t

Table 2. Process of ELECTRE II.

Step 5. Conducting the Reverse Classification

In this step rank the actions similar to the previous step (direct ranking), but first reverse the direction of the all arrows in the strong outranking and weak outranking graphs. The results of the ranking table also must be adjusted. For example, the following equation is used for this purpose:

 $Rank reverse (A_i) = 1 + Rank(A_i)_{max} - Rank(A_i)$ (17)

Step 6. Determining the Partial Preorder

Using the ranks determined in Steps 4 and 5 a partial preorder should be determined. The following points can be concluded from two classifications:

- A_k is preferred to A_l in the final preorder, if this trend can be seen in both direct and reverse preorders;
- A_k is preferred to A_l in the final classification, if it is preferred in one of the preorders, and the actions are equal in the other one;
- A_k and A_l are incomparable, when A_k is preferred to A_l in one of the preorders, and A_l is preferred to A_k in another one.

Also, special charts can be beneficial to gain global classification based on the reverse and direct classifications. In these charts x-axis and y-axis performs the inverse and direct ranks ^[3,6,12,13].

5.3 ELECTRE III process steps

This method is similar to the ELECTRE II method; the main difference is using the concept of pseudo-criteria instead of applying classic criteria. In this method two different thresholds are used which are indifference and strict preference thresholds. On the other hand, both concordance index and discordance index are defined in fuzzy form. According to this advantage, the ELECTRE III outperforms previous versions (I and II) in addressing imprecise, inaccurate, and uncertain data. In this method, the concept of a credibility degree or reliability of the outranking also is introduced. The result is not binary, and I is not just a choice between accepting or rejecting the alternatives. The steps are as follows:

Step 1. Determining the Required Values

For criterion *j*, determine three thresholds known as 1) indifference (q), 2) preference (p), and 3) veto (v) and consider $v \ge q \ge p$. Furthermore, similar to other methods, importance weights (w_j) should be also determined for the criteria. Using these thresholds, strict, indifferent, and weak relations can be identified.

Step 2. Determining Concordance Index

In this step, the concordance index should be determined first. For this the following equation which has a fuzzy form is used for criterion *j*, and between A_k and A_l alternatives:

$$\begin{cases} c_j(k,l) = \frac{X_j(A_k) + p_j - X_j(A_l)}{p_j - q_j} & \text{if } q_j < X_j(A_k) - X_j(A_l) \le p_j \\ c_j(k,l) = 1 & \text{if } X_j(A_k) - X_j(A_l) \le q_j \\ c_j(k,l) = 0 & \text{if } p_j < X_j(A_k) - X_j(A_l) \end{cases}$$
(18)

After calculating all c(k,l) values for all criteria, a global concordance index is calculated using the following equation:

$$C_{kl} = \frac{\sum_{j} p_{j} \cdot c_{j}(k, l)}{\sum_{j} p_{j}}$$
(19)

Then this process should be applied to all pairs of alternatives, and the result is placed in the elements of a matrix called Concordance Matrix. The elements of this matrix are defined as "the percentage of criteria where one alternative is at least as good as the other". For example, if C_{kl} is 0.5, then half of the criteria A_k is at least as good as A_l .

Step 3. Determining Discordance Index

Discordance index calculation needs to define a veto (v) threshold for each criterion (v_i) . When de-

cision makers give no credibility to the outranking of alternative A_k with respect to A_l , the v_j is $X_j(A_k) - X_j(A_l)$. The index of discordance is obtained using fuzzy concept by the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} d_j(k,l) = 1 \text{ if } v_j < X_j(A_k) - X_j(A_l) \\ d_j(k,l) = \frac{X_j(A_k) - X_j(A_l) - p_j}{v_j - p_j} \text{ if } p_j \le X_j(A_k) - X_j(A_l) \le v_j \text{ (20)} \\ d_j(k,l) = 0 \text{ if } X_j(A_k) - X_j(A_l) < p_j \end{cases}$$

In this step, all discordance indices should be calculated for all pairs of alternatives considering all criteria.

Step 4. Determining the Outranking Credibility Degree and Building Credibility Matrix

Now a concordance and discordance measure is available for each pair of alternatives for each criterion. But, these measures must be combined to gain an outranking degree and assess the reliability of the hypothesis criteria A_k is at least as good as A_l (A_k SA_l). This is possible using a credibility degree concept. Credibility is calculated as follows:

$$S(k,l) = \begin{cases} C_{kl} \text{ if } d_j(k,l) \le C_{kl} \\ C_{kl} \cdot \prod_{j \in \overline{F}} \frac{1 - d_j(k,l)}{1 - C_{kl}} \end{cases}$$
(21)

 \overline{F} is the set of criteria by which $d_j(k,l) > C_{kl}$. According to the credibility, it is assumed that when d_j $(k,l) \le C_{kl}$, the C_{kl} should not be modified, but else the effect of $d_j(k,l)$ should be considered for outranking as the hypothesis should be questioned, and C_{kl} needs a modification. On the other hand, if $d_j(k,l) = 1$, then there is no confidence to say that criteria A_k is at least as good as A_l , and credibility for this criterion and pair of alternatives is zero. The values of S(k,l) can be put into a matrix called Credibility Matrix in this step as well. This matrix then will be used for ranking step.

Step 5. Descending and Ascending Distillations (Exploitation Step)

Similar to the ELECTRE II method, two preorders (descending and ascending distillations) are determined in this step.

Descending distillation process

Similar to the direct outranking in the ELECTRE II, this process is a step-by-step which starts with the first iteration and ends when all the alternatives are

ranked. Also, descending distillation determines the best alternative first, and ends with finding the worst one. But, the basic here is to set a qualification score for the alternatives. For this, a discrimination threshold ($s(\lambda)$, $0 < \lambda < 1$) should be set. For example, the following equation can be used for determining $s(\lambda)$: $s(\lambda) = 03 - 0.15\lambda$ (22)

Now, Use the following process (shown simply in **Figure 3**) to define the qualifications of alternatives:



Figure 3. Descending distillation process.

For the first iteration, set λ₀ = max_{k,l∈A} S(k, l), then use the following equation to gain a cutoff level of outranking (λ₁):

$$\lambda_1 = \max_{k,l \in A} S(k,l) \text{ where } S(k,l) < \lambda_0 - s(\lambda_0)$$
(23)

That is to say, λ_1 is "the largest outranking score which is just less than the maximum outranking score minus the discrimination threshold".

• Then, consider the following equation for the pair of alternatives in the first iteration:

$$A_k SA_l \, iff \begin{cases} S(k,l) > \lambda_1 \\ and \\ S(k,l) - S(l,k) > s((k,l)) \end{cases}$$
(24)

A

Both conditions should be applied for all pairs of alternatives in this step. For the result of these evaluations, give 1 value (strength) to an alternative every time it outranks another alternative, and -1 value (weakness) when it is outranked by another alternative. The sum of these values in each iteration gives the qualification of the alternatives. The alternative with the maximum qualification is the ranked alternative in this iteration. It must be noted that if there are more than one alternative with similar maximum values, this step must be repeated (but considering a matrix just with the alternatives have the maximum qualification) to choose the best between them as the ranked alternative in the iteration one. Although, if they gained similar qualifications again, they can be considered as alternatives with similar ranks.

Another similar method can be also used for describing the qualification values in each iteration (*t*). The following indicators can be used to show the number of alternatives that are outranked by A_k $((p_A^{\lambda_t}(A_k)))$, the number of alternatives that outrank $A_k((f_A^{\lambda_t}(A_k)))$, and the qualification of A_k $(q_A^{\lambda_t}(A_k)) = p_A^{\lambda_t})$; respectively:

$$p_A^{\lambda_t}(A_k) = card(\left\{A_l \in A \middle| A_k S_A^{\lambda_t} A_l\right\})$$
(25)

$$f_A^{\lambda_t}(A_k) = card(\left\{A_l \in A \middle| A_l S_A^{\lambda_t} A_k\right\})$$
(26)

$$q_A^{\lambda_t}(A_k) = p_A^{\lambda_t}(A_k) - f_A^{\lambda_t}(A_k)$$
(27)

- For the second iteration, eliminate the ranked alternative/alternatives from the credibility matrix. Similar to the previous step, calculate λ₁ = max S(k, l), and then gain the cutoff level of outranking (λ₂) (apply Equation (23) for λ₁ and λ₂). Then, compare the pairs of alternatives using the conditions presented in Equation (24) similar to the previous step. Gain the second ranked alternative/s.
- Repeat the process until all alternatives are ranked, and gain the list of alternatives' ranking considering in the descending distillation process the alternative/s ranked in the first iteration is/are the best.

Ascending distillation process

This process is similar to the descending distil-

lation, but the difference is that in each iteration the alternative with the minimum qualification is chosen, and eliminated in the next iteration. Therefore, alternatives are ranked from the worst to the best.

Step 6. Final Preorder

In the final step, the ranking results of two distillation processes must be combined to gain a unit ranking list (similar to the ELECTRE II method)^[7,12].

6. Conclusions

In conclusion, the ELECTRE method is a versatile and widely-used multi-criteria decision-making method with various applications across different fields. The advantages of this method include its ability to handle imprecise and uncertain data, its flexibility in accommodating various decision-making scenarios, and its robustness in dealing with complex and conflicting criteria. However, like any other MCDM method, the ELECTRE method also has its limitations, such as the need for a considerable amount of input data, the subjectivity of the decision-maker's preferences, and the potential for inconsistent results.

The process steps of the ELECTRE method involve careful consideration and analysis, including defining the problem, identifying the criteria and alternatives, assessing the criteria's importance, evaluating the alternatives' performance, and generating the ranking of alternatives based on the outranking principle. There are different versions of the ELEC-TRE method specifically designed for different purposes, such as selection and ranking problems, but they all share the same core strategy and process steps.

This paper provides a comprehensive overview of the ELECTRE method, its applications, and its main characteristics. Additionally, it aims to provide stepby-step processes to describe the ELECTRE I, II, and III methods in a simple and easy-to-understand manner. By understanding the fundamental concepts, applications, advantages, and limitations of the ELECTRE method, decision-makers can make informed and effective decisions in various contexts. While the review provides a general overview of its applications, the absence of detailed real-world examples limits the ability to assess the method's effectiveness and identify potential challenges or areas for improvement in specific contexts. Including more case studies or empirical evidence could provide valuable insights and enhance the manuscript's practical relevance. Future research can focus on improving the ELECTRE method by addressing its limitations and developing more efficient and accurate approaches for decision-making.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, H.T.; methodology, H.T.; validation, H.T.; formal analysis, H.T. and M.M.; resources, H.T. and M.M.; data curation, H.T.; writing—original draft preparation, M.M. and H.T.; writing—review and editing, M.M.; visualization, H.T. and M.M.; supervision, H.T. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest.

References

- Taherdoost, H., Madanchian, M., 2023. Multi-criteria decision making (MCDM) methods and concepts. Encyclopedia. 3(1), 77-87.
- [2] Taherdoost, H., 2023. Analysis of simple additive weighting method (SAW) as a multiattribute decision-making technique: A step-by-step guide. Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(1), 21-24.
- [3] Milani, A.S., Shanian, A., El-Lahham, C., 2006. Using different ELECTRE methods in strategic planning in the presence of human behavioral resistance. Journal of Applied Mathematics and Decision Sciences. 1-19.
- [4] Banayoun, R., Roy, B., Sussman, N., 1966.

Manual de Reference du Programme Electre (French) [Electre Program Reference Manual]. Note de Synthese et Formation 25. Direction Scientifique SEMA, Paris.

- [5] Govindan, K., Jepsen, M.B., 2016. ELECTRE: A comprehensive literature review on methodologies and applications. European Journal of Operational Research. 250(1), 1-29.
- [6] Huang, W.C., Chen, C.H., 2005. Using the ELECTRE II method to apply and analyze the differentiation theory. Proceedings of the Eastern Asia Society for Transportation Studies. 5, 2237-2249.
- [7] Marzouk, M.M., 2011. ELECTRE III model for value engineering applications. Automation in Construction. 20(5), 596-600.
- [8] Hwang, C.L., Yoon, K., 1981. Methods for multiple attribute decision making. Multiple attribute decision making. Springer: Berlin. pp. 58-191.
- [9] Liu, X., Wan, S.P., 2019. A method to calculate the ranges of criteria weights in ELECTRE I and II methods. Computers & Industrial Engineering. 137, 106067.
- [10] Aruldoss, M., Lakshmi, T.M., Venkatesan, V.P., 2013. A survey on multi criteria decision making methods and its applications. American Journal of Information Systems. 1(1), 31-43.
- [11] Tiwari, R., Agrawal, S., Kasdekar, D.K., 2020. Application of ELECTRE-I, II methods for EDM performance measures in manufacturing decision making. IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering. 748(1), 012015.
- [12] Collette, Y., Siarry, P., 2004. Multiobjective optimization: Principles and case studies. Springer Science & Business Media: Berlin.
- [13] Duckstein, L., Gershon, M., 1983. Multicriterion analysis of a vegetation management problem using ELECTRE II. Applied Mathematical Modelling. 7(4), 254-261.



Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research https://journals.bilpubgroup.com/index.php/jmser

ARTICLE

Understanding Applications and Best Practices of DEMATEL: A Method for Prioritizing Key Factors in Multi-Criteria Decision-Making

Hamed Taherdoost^{1*}, Mitra Madanchian²

¹ University Canada West, Vancouver, V6B1V9, Canada ² Hamta Group, Hamta Business Corporation, Vancouver, V6E1C9, Canada

ABSTRACT

Decision Making Trial and Evaluation Laboratory (DEMATEL) method is a powerful tool for understanding and visualizing the causal relationships among factors in complex decision-making problems. The method uses diagrams and matrixes to map out the causal relationships and interdependencies among factors, allowing decision-makers to identify key drivers and potential solutions to the problem. DEMATEL has a wide range of application areas, including supply chain management, environmental planning, healthcare, finance, and engineering, among others. The DEMATEL method is a valuable tool for decision-makers who need to understand the complex causal relationships among factors in order to make informed decisions. The method provides a structured approach for analyzing and prioritizing factors and for identifying potential solutions to complex problems. This paper describes the main features of this method, its application areas as well as the main process steps in the DEMATEL method.

Keywords: Decision making; Multi criteria decision making; Multi attribute decision making; DEMATEL; Decision making trial and evaluation laboratory

1. Introduction

Decision making trial and evaluation laboratory (DEMATEL) technique is one of the main multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM) methods that is used to visualize complex causal relationships' structures through its diagrams or matrixes. This MCDM method was developed in the "Geneva Research Centre of the Battelle Memorial Institute" at the end of 1971 by Gabus and Fontela^[1] initially. This method has

*CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

ARTICLE INFO

COPYRIGHT

Hamed Taherdoost, University Canada West, Vancouver, V6B1V9, Canada; Email: hamed.taherdoost@gmail.com; hamed@hamta.org

Received: 10 April 2023 | Revised: 27 June 2023 | Accepted: 28 June 2023 | Published Online: 6 July 2023 DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5634

CITATION

Taherdoost, H., Madanchian, M., 2023. Understanding Applications and Best Practices of DEMATEL: A Method for Prioritizing Key Factors in Multi-Criteria Decision-Making. Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(2): 17-23. DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5634

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). Published by Bilingual Publishing Group. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

received promising attention from many researchers for solving complex decision-making problems in various fields in the past decades ^[2].

The DEMATEL method works based on structural modeling that is beneficial to analyze cause and effect relationships of the systems' components. In this method, the interdependence among factors can be confirmed, and intertwined and complicated problems can be investigated and addressed. Furthermore, in these problems, the DEMATEL method develops specific maps (charts or diagrams) in order to reflect relative relationships within factors. In this technique, an impact relation diagram is used to find the factors that possess a critical role in a system with a complex structure, and then the priorities of the clarified key factors are determined. In addition, the interdependency relationships are converted into cause and effect groups by using the matrixes. In this process, the end product is called an IRM (the Impact-Relations Map) which is a visual demonstration. The relationship between the criteria's causes and effects is converted into the system's structural and understandable model.

The DEMATEL method can be used to verify interdependence among unpredictable attributes and features and can help to gain a better understanding of practical solutions for problems and complex clusters. It quantifies the relevant degrees/relationships between different elements resulting in understanding the relational structures that help to solve a decision problem. The DEMATEL is based on the vision of using scientific research approaches to enhance the understanding of a particular problem.

The application of feedback is one of the merits of this method compared with others, and all of the factors (instead of just some specific ones) are considered in the structure of this MCDM method ^[3]. Its objective is to investigate, compare, and enhance the factors of the system by dividing them into the groups of cause-effect. The factors' influences on the other ones are examined numerically to find the most effective ones. That is to say, the improvement of cause-groups results to easily improve the effect-group's criteria, and the features of the causegroup can impact the effect group's aspects simply. Therefore, it is a suitable method for managers who aim to gain high-performance based on the criteria of the effect group in different businesses ^[2,4].

2. Application

The DEMATEL can be applied to a vast range of MCDM problems from computer science to energy and economics ^[3]. The distribution of research articles using the DEMATEL method based on subject area is shown in **Figure 1**. This distribution is gained from the search results for "DEMATEL" in the "ScienceDirect" database based on the articles that include "DEMATEL" in their "title, abstract, or keywords". The results show the application of the DEMATEL method in different subject areas.

Si et al. ^[2] reviewed the application areas of the DEMATEL in their study. They classified the studies based on classical (traditional) DEMATEL into three categories including:

- Type 1: Based on the interrelationships between factors or criteria;
- Type 2: Based on determining the key factors considering the causal relationships and interrelationship degree between the factors;
- Type 3: Gaining the weights of criteria by considering the interrelationships and impact levels of criteria.

Some examples of the reviewed articles are provided in **Table 1** to gain a better overview of the details of the studies. They also provided the results of DEMATEL application areas as the distribution of the studies in different application areas. Their results identified the main top three areas as computer science (40.6%), engineering (35.7%), and business and management based on the search methodology that they used to identify the articles (26.4%)^[2].

3. Advantages and disadvantages

Like all developed methods, the DEMATEL method possesses both advantages and disadvantages. The main ones are listed in **Table 2**. Due to the listed disadvantages of DEMATEL, many authors



Figure 1. Distribution of DEMATEL application areas.

Table 1 . Examples of DEMATEL applications.
--

Туре	Purposes of studies
Type-1: Interrelationships	 Determining the degree of the perceived values for patients for healthcare management; Analyzing the components and dimensions of intelligence in universities based on the cause-effect relations; Recognizing the interrelationships between different evaluation criteria in specific zones of the railways; Determining the relationships between the factors of customer buying, and providing marketing strategies in a specific market; Proposing a model for job satisfaction for a specific industry by considering interactive influences of criteria and the causal relationship of them.
Type-2: Interrelationships and key factors	 Identifying and prioritizing the factors (both affected by and affecting) the enterprises' performances; Analyzing the relationships of cause and effect for barriers of a specific industry; Determining the causal relationships between main evaluation indicators, and gaining the most strategic ones for the industries' (such as banking's) performances; Identifying the causal relationships of factors, and prioritizing them to gain the significant factors for allocation of the resources in organizations.
Type-3: Interrelationships and criteria weights	 Recognizing the cause-effect relationship and evaluating the critical ones for specific processes in industries for example CO₂- capture and storage in the steel industry; Calculating the relative importance weights for compensatory objective functions; Recognizing the importance degree of design parameters in a process for example for website design; Computing global weights for the evaluation indicators to select investing strategies in a specific sector.

Advantages	Disadvantages				
 Analyzing direct and indirect mutual influences among factors; Understanding complex and complicated cause-and-effect relationships; visualizing the interrelationships between different factors by utilizing an IRM; Perceiving the factors that possess mutual impacts (influences) on others; Utilizing to find out the critical criteria for evaluation; 	 Although this method considers the interdependent relationships among alternatives, does not incorporate other criteria among them; Does not consider the alternatives' aspiration level; 				
Being able to measure the evaluation criteria's weights;Assuming the criteria dependent;	• Does not reach the alternatives' partial ranking orders;				
• Rational weighting for practical problems considers different weights for each cluster in the weighted super-matrix instead of using equal weights in some other methods.	• Does not consider the experts' relative weights to aggregate their personal judgments into group assessments.				

Table 2. Merits and demerits of DEMATEL.

recommend using integrated methods based on DE-MATEL and other techniques to address its demerits and benefit from their combined properties ^[2].

4. DEMATEL process steps

The DEMATEL method can be applied in six main steps. These steps are shown in **Figure 2** and are described as follows.



Figure 2. DEMATEL process steps.

Step 1. Average (Direct-relation) Matrix Generation.

In a problem with n criteria (factors), an n×n matrix (A_k) can be gained from the K^{th} expert's questionnaire/opinion. In this matrix $a_{ij}(k)$ is the influence degree of criterion E_i on criterion E_j determined by the K^{th} experts. For this decision-makers use a five-level pairwise comparison scale. In this score:

- 0 is for no influence.
- 1 is for low influence.
- 2 is for middle influence.
- 3 is for high influence.
- 4 is for very high influence.

Therefore, these elements create the A_k matrix as Equation (1):

$$A_k = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & a_{1n}(k) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{n1}(k) & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(1)

If we consider the number of experts as m, then the average matrix Z can be obtained by averaging the scores of the experts. For this:

 $z_{ij} = (a_{ij}(1) + a_{ij}(2) + ... + a_{ij}(k) + ... + a_{ij}(m))/m$ (2) and the average matrix *Z* is gained as Equation (3):

$$Z = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \dots & z_{1j} \dots & z_{1n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ z_{i1} \cdots & z_{ij} \cdots & z_{in} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ z_{n1} \cdots & z_{nj} \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3)

Step 2. Normalization of the Direct-Relation Matrix. In this step, Equation (4) is used first:

$$S = \max(\sum_{j=1}^{n} z_{ij}, \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_{ij})$$
(4)

and then the normalized matrix X is:

(5)

X = Z/S

Step 3. Creation of Total Relation Matrix.

In this step matrix X that can just indicate the direct-relations should be turned into a total-direction or an aggregate relation matrix. For this, a continuous decrease of the problem's indirect effects besides the power of matrix X can make convergent solutions to the matrix inversion possible. This is similar to the absorbing Markov chain matrix. For this, Matrix Total $(T_{n \times n})$ is obtained as:

$$T = \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} X^{i} = X + X^{2} + \dots + X^{q} = X (I + X + X^{2} + \dots + X^{q-1})$$

= $X(1 - X)(1 - X)^{-1}(I + X + X^{2} + \dots + X^{q-1})$
= $X(1 - X)^{-1}(1 - X^{q}) = X(1 - X)^{-1}(1 - X^{\infty})$
= $\frac{X}{(1 - X)}$ (6)

In Equation (6), $\lim_{q\to\infty} X^q$ is considered the null matrix ([0]_{*n*×*n*}), and the identity matrix is shown as *I*. Therefore $T_{n\times n}$ is:

$$T_{n \times n} = \begin{bmatrix} t_{11} \dots & t_{1j} \dots & t_{1n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ t_{i1} \dots & t_{ij} \dots & t_{in} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ t_{n1} \dots & t_{nj} \dots & t_{nn} \end{bmatrix}$$
where $i, j = 1, 2, ..., n$ (7)

Step 4. Assessing the Relevance and Prominence.

In Equation (7), t_{ij} is the total influence (including both direct and indirect-influences) from the criterion E_i to E_j . To determine the relevance, the summation of all rows and columns must be calculated by using the following equation:

$$D = [D_i]_{n \times 1} = [\sum_{j=1}^n t_{ij}]_{n \times 1}$$
(8)

$$R = [R_j]_{1 \times n} = [\sum_{i=1}^n t_{ij}]_{1 \times n}$$
(9)

In Equations (8) and (9), considering i = j = k the influence of criteria as well as the total extent of being influenced called "prominence" can be calculated by $D_k + R_k$ (which is the X-axis). In other words, the prominence shows the degree of being influenced by other elements and influences them as well. D + R also is the central role degree that the elements play in the system. On the other hand, D - R (called "relation") is the vertical axis vector demonstrating the net effect that the factor contributes to the system. The relation can be positive or negative. When $D_k - R_k$ is:

- Negative, the criterion has the tendency toward falling under the causal category (causegroup);
- Positive, the criterion has the tendency toward falling under the result category (effect-group).

Step 5. Setting a Threshold, and Drawing the Diagrams.

In this step, an IRM is created. The creation of IRM is based on the mapping of $(D_k + R_k, D_k - R_k)$ database that adds beneficial insights to the decision-makers. In some situations, however, the IRM can be so complicated and complex that if all of the relations are added, it makes showing the valuable information to the decision-makers hard. In this situation, a threshold value must be set to describe the structural relationship among the criteria and manage complex and complicated problems better. This is used to filter the negligible effects in the T matrix. Therefore, only the values (t_{ii}) in the total relation matrix that are greater than the threshold are considered to show the influences in the cause-effect diagram. For example, t_{ii} is greater than threshold value then criterion E_i affects criterion E_i , and t_{ij} . If it is less than it, then this value is not selected and not converted in the IRM. This threshold value can be determined by using different methods such as experts' discussions, brainstorming, the results of literature, averaging the values in T matrix, and also a method called the maximum mean deentropy (MMDE) (MMDE steps and a numerical example are described in Chen's work ^[5]). In low threshold values, the vital information cannot be shown as the diagram can be very complex. In high values, on the other hand, many criteria can be considered independent, and their relationships with other criteria cannot be shown. Therefore, it is important to choose an appropriate value to gain a suitable diagram for cause and effect.

After recognizing the criteria relations (by using the threshold value), a network diagram can be drawn to show the relationships between the criteria simply. Furthermore, in the cause-effect diagram, (D + R) is set for the X-axis, and (D - R) for the Y-axis. The cause-effect diagram can demonstrate the complicated causal relation. The examples of the important diagrams gained from the DEMATEL are shown in **Figures 3 and 4**. **Figure 3** is an example of a network diagram that shows the relationship between the criteria in the situation that t_{12} , t_{13} , t_{31} , t_{34} , t_{43} , t_{54} , t_{15} , > *thresholdvalue*. In the IRM (**Figure 4**), generally calculating (D + R) divides the diagram into four parts that give valuable visions to the decision-makers:

- Quadrant 1 includes factors with high relation and prominence that are core factors or intertwined givers;
- Quadrant 2 includes factors with high relation and low prominence that are called driving factors or autonomous givers;
- Quadrant 3 includes factors with both low relation and prominence that are called independent factors or autonomous receivers as they are relatively disconnected from the system;
- Quadrant 4 includes low relation but high prominence that are known as impact factors or intertwined receivers. These factors cannot be enhanced directly and must be influenced by other ones.

Also, the causality diagram of criteria can be drawn with $(D_k + R_k, D_k - R_k)$ values and by using the relationships shown in **Figure 3** (see an example provided in Chen's work^[5]).



Figure 3. An example of a network diagram.

In addition, the weights of the criteria (W) can be obtained by Equations (10) and (11)^[2,5,6].

$$W_{ia} = \sqrt{(D_i + R_j)^2 + (D_i - R_j)^2}$$
(10)

$$W_i = \frac{W_{ia}}{\sum_{i=1}^n W_{ia}} \tag{11}$$



Figure 4. IRM with four quadrants.

Source: Adapted from a work by Si et al. [2].

5. Conclusions

DEMATEL is one of the main MCDM methods working based on structural modeling that is beneficial for analyzing cause and effect relationships of the systems' components ^[3]. This paper provided a survey on the DEMATEL application areas, advantages, and disadvantages, as well as the process steps. This method is beneficial in a vast range of application areas such as engineering, computer science, mathematics, social and decision science, business and management, etc. This method obtained an IRM as the result that provides very helpful information to the decision-makers. The DEMATEL method can be particularly useful in addressing complex and intertwined problems where the interdependency among factors is not straightforward. The method's ability to develop specific maps or diagrams to reflect the relative relationships within factors makes it a powerful tool for decision-making. Additionally, the method's feedback feature and consideration of all factors in the system's structure make it a suitable option for managers aiming to improve their business's performance. While the DEMATEL method has some limitations, such as the need for expert knowledge and the time required for data collection and analysis, its benefits make it a valuable tool in addressing complex decision-making problems. Overall, the DEMATEL method is a powerful and

versatile tool for decision-making in various fields and can contribute to improving the understanding of complex systems' structures.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, Hamed Taherdoost; methodology, Hamed Taherdoost, & Mitra Madanchian; formal analysis, Hamed Taherdoost; resources, Mitra Madanchian; writing—original draft preparation, Mitra Madanchian; writing—review and editing, Hamed Taherdoost; visualization, Mitra Madanchian; supervision, Hamed Taherdoost.

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest.

References

[1] Gabus, A., Fontela, E., 1972. World problems, an invitation to further thought within the framework of DEMATEL. Battelle Geneva Research Center, Geneva, Switzerland. p. 1-8.

- [2] Si, S.L., You, X.Y., Liu, H.C., et al., 2018. DE-MATEL technique: A systematic review of the state-of-the-art literature on methodologies and applications. Mathematical Problems in Engineering. 1-33.
- [3] Taherdoost, H., Madanchian, M., 2023. Multi-criteria decision making (MCDM) methods and concepts. Encyclopedia. 3(1), 77-87.
- [4] Falatoonitoosi, E., Leman, Z., Sorooshian, S., et al., 2013. Decision-making trial and evaluation laboratory. Research Journal of Applied Sciences, Engineering and Technology. 5(13), 3476-3480.
- [5] Chen, C.A., 2012. Using DEMATEL method for medical tourism development in Taiwan. American Journal of Tourism Research. 1(1), 26-32.
- [6] Düzgün, M., 2021. Investigation of the criteria affecting the decision of use of drone technology in the logistics sector by DEMATEL method. Journal of Aviation. 5(2), 249-264.



Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research https://journals.bilpubgroup.com/index.php/jmser

ARTICLE

The Impact of Information Technology on Service Quality, Satisfaction, and Customer Relationship Management (Case Study: IT Organization Individuals)

Hojjat Talebi¹, Amid Khatibi Bardsiri^{2*}

¹ Department of Management, Bardsir Branch, Islamic Azad University, Bardsir, Iran ² Department of Computer Engineering, Bardsir Branch, Islamic Azad University, Bardsir, Iran

ABSTRACT

Recent research and studies have shown that Information Technology (IT) has a significant impact on service quality, customer satisfaction, and customer relationship development. With the proliferation and penetration of technology in all aspects of life, organizations are responding to the implications and opportunities that IT creates in relation to customer services. The main objective of using information technology in organizations is to increase customer satisfaction, service quality, and customer relationship management, which the authors will focus on here. Enhancing service quality, improving customer satisfaction, and establishing close and sustainable customer relationships are key advantages of leveraging information technology in this field. This article examines the impact of information technology on service quality, customer satisfaction, and customer relationship development and provides strategies and models for organizations to improve customer satisfaction and establish closer connections with them through the use of information technology. Seventy individuals from the IT field were used to evaluate the proposed model. The proposed model was compared with three models: SEM, regression, and decision tree, and the results demonstrated better performance of this approach.

Keywords: Information technology; Service quality; Customer relationship; Customer satisfaction; Improvement and development

*CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

Amid Khatibi Bardsiri, Department of Computer Engineering, Bardsir Branch, Islamic Azad University, Bardsir, Iran; Email: a.khatibi@srbiau. ac.ir

ARTICLE INFO

Received: 4 July 2023 | Revised: 18 July 2023 | Accepted: 20 July 2023 | Published Online: 31 July 2023 DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5823

CITATION

Talebi, H., Bardsiri, A.K., 2023. The Impact of Information Technology on Service Quality, Satisfaction, and Customer Relationship Management (Case Study: IT Organization Individuals). Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(2): 24-31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5823

COPYRIGHT

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). Published by Bilingual Publishing Group. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

1. Introduction

In today's competitive business environment, organizations increasingly recognize the significant impact of Information Technology on customer services. Advances in information technology have transformed the way organizations interact with customers, leading to improved service quality, increased customer satisfaction, and the development of stronger customer relationships. The use of IT tools and systems provides organizations with new opportunities to understand customer needs, deliver personalized services, and create a seamless customer experience. Customer service quality has become a critical factor for the success and sustainability of businesses in various industries. Businesses strive to leverage IT capabilities to improve service delivery, optimize customer interactions, and establish customer loyalty. By integrating information technology into customer service processes, organizations can optimize operations, leverage real-time insights into customer preferences, and customize their offerings to meet individual needs ^[1]. Furthermore, customer satisfaction is a key performance indicator for organizations. Satisfied customers are more likely to become loyal customers, spread a positive reputation, and contribute to overall business growth. Information technology plays a vital role in empowering organizations to exceed customer expectations by providing quick access to information, personalized recommendations, and efficient problem-solving. Figure 1 illustrates the varying potential impact of IT on customer service, depending on the extent of transformation (automation) of marketing and/or operations activities within firms. This distinction is depicted through two dimensions: customer focus and operations focus. Firms with a customer focus possess the capability to utilize IT to transform marketing and customer service activities, directly catering to customers' expectations in product marketing and offering additional services.

Establishing and maintaining strong customer relationships is also a critical aspect that organizations seek to achieve. Effective communication, timely responsiveness, and personal engagement are crucial



Figure 1. Customer service technology.

in developing long-term relationships with customers. Information technology tools such as Customer Relationship Management (CRM) systems, social media platforms, and online customer portals enable organizations to facilitate continuous and meaningful interactions with customers, enhancing trust, loyalty, and long-term partnerships [2]. The objective of this article is to examine the impact of information technology on service quality, customer satisfaction, and customer relationship development. By analyzing existing research, practical case studies, and industry trends, this article provides a comprehensive view of strategies, frameworks, and models that organizations can leverage to effectively utilize information technology in improving their customer services. Through the analysis of existing research, practical case studies, and industry trends, this article offers valuable insights for organizations seeking to optimize their IT investments and implement customer-centric approaches ^[3]. Figure 2 illustrates the main functions of information technology in addressing customer needs.

2. Analytical model for the impact of information technology on customer services

In this section, we present a comprehensive analytical model for examining the impact of informa-



Figure 2. Key functions of information technology in customer needs.

tion technology on customer services. This model encompasses key factors that can enhance and improve customer services under the influence of information technology. An appropriate analytical model should consider various factors that, in interaction with each other, determine the impact of information technology on customer services. **Table 1** provides a summary of the factors and their descriptions in the analytical model of information technology ^[4].

Information Technology Factors: In this section, we identify factors related to information technology. This includes IT infrastructure, software, information systems, and emerging technologies such as artificial intelligence and the Internet of Things (IoT).

Organizational Factors: In this section, we identify organizational factors that can impact IT activities and customer services. These include organizational strategies and goals, organizational structure, organizational culture, and leadership.

Customer Factors: In this section, we identify customer factors that influence the use and satisfaction of IT services. This includes customer needs and expectations, user experience, customer behavior, and customer feedback.

Operational Factors: In this section, we identify factors related to organizational operations that can impact the delivery of IT services to customers. This includes processes, systems, technologies, and operational performance.

Environmental Factors: In this section, we identify external environmental factors that can influence the use of information technology and customer services. This includes economic factors, laws and regulations, competition, and industry trends ^[5,6].

3. Customer focus with the use of information technology

In this section, we examine the impact of using information technology on improving customer focus. This includes utilizing customer data and information to better understand their needs and expectations, providing customized services and personalization, and enhancing communication and customer interactions. The use of information technology in organizations can have a significant impact

Factor	Description	Example
IT agents	IT infrastructure, software, information systems, emerging technologies	Using CRM software to manage relationships with customers
Organizational factors	Organizational strategies and goals, organizational structure, organizational culture, organizational leadership	Creating a customer service culture in the organization
Customer agents	Customer needs and expectations, user experience, customer behavior, customer feedback	Designing a user-friendly website and providing online support options for customers
Operational factors	Processes, systems, technologies, operational functions	Using barcode readers in stores to speed up the process of serving customers
Environmental factors	Economic factors, laws and regulations, competitions, industrial developments	Changes in customer information protection laws and their impact on the use of information technology in the field of customer service

Table 1. Description of analytical model dimensions.

on improving customer focus. By creating appropriate management systems and tools, organizations can experience continuous improvement in customer focus. With information technology, organizations will be able to gather and analyze comprehensive and accurate information about their customers. This information includes preferences, needs, behaviors, and customer responses, which help the organization make necessary improvements in its services and products. Furthermore, information technology enables solutions such as online platforms, mobile applications, and modern communication methods, allowing organizations to directly and effectively engage with their customers ^[7]. These direct communications between the organization and customers can facilitate dynamic and two-way interactions, helping the organization precisely address customer needs and desires. Additionally, information technology can assist organizations in providing personalized services to customers, as accessing comprehensive information about customers enables the organization to identify their precise needs and preferences and customize their services accordingly. As a result, using information technology as a powerful tool can support organizations in improving customer focus and delivering better services to them ^[8]. Table 2 provides a summary of the relationship between the organization's IT level and the level of customer focus.

4. Focus on operations with the use of information technology

In this section, we examine the impact of using information technology on improving organizational operations and customer services. This section includes utilizing IT processes and systems to enhance efficiency, reduce costs, increase the speed and quality of operations, and deliver services to customers ^[9].

Information technologies can assist companies in improving and effectively managing their operational processes. The following examples and table provide a comprehensive explanation of these impacts. For instance, a manufacturing company utilizes information technology to improve its production operations. By employing Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems, self-diagnostic systems, and automated production systems, the company can enhance its production processes and manage them more intelligently. These technologies enable the company to reduce production time, decrease costs, improve product quality, and enhance overall performance. Therefore, the focus on operations with the use of information technology in this company has resulted in improved efficiency and performance. Table 3 illustrates different levels of progress and maturity in IT management based on the utilization of various systems. Additionally, using an example, the impact

The level of development of information technology management	Effect on improving customer focus	Example
Low level	Unstable customer relations and inabil- ity to provide personalized services and improve customer needs and preferences	An organization that manages information technology in a limited way using traditional tools. For example, limited use of separate systems and decentralized customer information
Middle level	The power to improve access to customer information, better identify their needs and preferences, and provide personalized services based on them	An organization that has improved some advanced IT processes and systems. For example, using CRM software to manage customer relationships and analyze customer data
High level	Access to comprehensive data and ad- vanced customer analysis, identifying customer patterns and behaviors and pro- viding personalized services and targeted offers	An organization that comprehensively and strategical- ly uses information technology and considers it as a key factor in its business strategy. For example, arti- ficial intelligence systems for advanced data analysis and customer behavior prediction

Table 2. The relationship between the organization's IT level and the level of customer focus.

The level of development of information technology management	Impact on improving focus on operations	Example
Low level	Reducing efficiency, increasing costs and errors in operations	An organization that uses manual and tradi- tional methods in its operations
Middle level	Improving operation efficiency, reducing costs and errors, improving quality	An organization that uses information man- agement systems and automation systems
High level	Improving general performance, improving efficiency, reducing costs and errors, improv- ing quality	An organization that uses production automa- tion systems and intelligent systems

	TT1 00 .	c ·		. 1 1		•	C	. •
Table 4	The effect	of 110100	intormation	technology	on imn	roung	tocus on o	nerations
Table 5.	THE CHECK	or using	mormation		UII IIIID	10ville	iocus on o	Deradons.
		C		01		0		1

of each level on improving the focus on operations is explained.

5. Mathematical models

In this section, mathematical models, assumptions, and analytical methods are utilized to quantitatively measure the various effects of information technology on the examined variables. Mathematical models can include regression equations, structural models, or decision models. Through appropriate analytical methods, the relationships and impacts between different variables are quantitatively examined and analyzed to provide evaluative results and inferences for enhancing customer services ^[10].

5.1 Regression model

This model examines the impact of information technology on service quality and customer satisfaction using dependent and independent variables. By analyzing regression coefficients, the effectiveness and significance of different variables on the dependent variables under investigation are determined. Regression analysis is a statistical method used to examine the relationship between a dependent variable and one or more independent variables. In this case, focusing on the impact of information technology on service quality and customer satisfaction, we will explore the regression model. The general formula for the regression model is as follows ^[9]:

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \dots + \beta_k X_k + \varepsilon$$
⁽¹⁾

In this formula:

Y represents the dependent variable (e.g., service quality) that we want to examine its impact.

 X_1 to X_k are the independent variables (e.g., information technology) whose effects on Y are being investigated.

 β_0 is the intercept or the constant term that determines the starting point of the regression line.

 β_1 to β_k are the regression coefficients, indicating the direct impact of each independent variable on the dependent variable.

 ε represents the error term or uncontrolled factors that may affect the dependent variable. By analyzing the coefficients β_1 to β_k and evaluating their significance (using statistical tests such as t-test or F-test), we can conclude whether information technology has a significant impact on service quality and customer satisfaction. Additionally, by interpreting the sign and magnitude of the regression coefficients, we can infer the direction and strength of the influence of each independent variable on the dependent variable ^[5].

5.2 Structural equation model

This model investigates complex relationships and interactions among variables. By employing structural equation models, direct and indirect relationships between information technology, service quality, customer satisfaction, and customer relationship development can be modeled and analyzed. Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) is a complex statistical method used to examine the relationships (3)

between variables and investigate the interrelationships among variables in a predictive model. In this case, focusing on the impact of information technology on service quality and customer satisfaction, we will explore the structural equation model. The general formula for a structural equation model is as follows ^[2,10]:

$$X = \Gamma X + \Lambda \xi + \delta \tag{2}$$

 $Y = BX + \Psi \xi + \varepsilon$

In this formula:

X represents the independent variables (e.g., information technology).

Y represents the dependent variable (e.g., service quality or customer satisfaction).

 Γ represents the path coefficients, indicating the extent to which the variations in the independent variables are explained by the dependent variables.

 Λ represents the factor loadings, indicating the extent to which the measurable variations in the latent variables are explained by the observed variables.

 ξ represents the latent variables that cannot be directly measured.

 δ and ε represent the errors or uncontrolled factors that may influence the independent and dependent variables.

By analyzing the coefficients Γ and Λ and evaluating their significance (using statistical tests such as t-test or F-test), we can determine whether information technology has a significant impact on service quality. Similarly, by analyzing the coefficients *B* and Ψ and evaluating their significance, we can conclude whether information technology has a significant impact on customer satisfaction. Ultimately, using a structural equation model allows us to analyze causal relationships between variables, examine the direct and indirect effects of variables, and provide a more comprehensive interpretation of the relationships among variables ^[3,4].

5.3 Decision model

This model is used for optimal decision-making regarding the utilization of information technology to improve customer services. By using decision models such as artificial neural networks, decision trees, and optimization algorithms, the impact of different variables and their optimal combination on enhancing customer services is evaluated. Decision-making models are mathematical frameworks used to analyze and evaluate the decision-making process under different conditions. These models utilize variables, parameters, constraints, and objective functions to arrive at the optimal decision in various situations and constraints. A general decision-making model is formulated as follows ^[5,6]:

max/min f(X)subject to: $g(X) \le 0$ h(X) = 0In this formulation:

f(X) represents the objective function, which is defined for either maximization or minimization and serves as a criterion for evaluating the quality of the decision-making.

X is a vector of decision variables, including independent and dependent variables, parameters, and observed values.

g(X) denotes the set of constraint conditions that specify the bounds under which the decision-making should be performed.

h(X) represents the set of equality constraints that determine the equality constraints in the decision-making process.

By solving the decision-making model, one can determine the values of the decision variables that optimize the objective function while satisfying the specified constraints. The objective function can be customized based on the specific problem, and the constraints can reflect the limitations and conditions imposed on the decision-making process. Overall, decision-making models provide a structured approach to analyze and making decisions by considering multiple variables, constraints, and objectives, ultimately guiding the decision-maker towards the best possible decision given the circumstances ^[1,11].

6. Discussion and results

In this section, we test the proposed model on real-world data. The proposed method is compared to three methods: decision tree, regression, and SEM. To ensure a fair comparison, we use data from 70 IT organization individuals. These individuals are selected from a university environment, and the dataset is created with 12 independent features and 3 dependent features. A questionnaire is used to obtain the dataset, and coding is done using MATLAB software. All simulations and experiments were performed on a system with an Intel 2.7 GHz 7-core processor, 12 GB RAM, and Windows 10 operating system. The algorithms and methods were implemented using MATLAB software version 2018. The aim is to accurately assess customer satisfaction and service quality. **Table 4** presents the results of the proposed analysis. As evident, the proposed model has performed better in most parameters.

Table 4. The effect of using information technology on improv-ing focus on operations.

Model	Service quality	Satisfaction	Costumer relationship
Decision tree	%87	%81	%90
Regression	%83	%77	%86
SEM	%72	%85	%81
Proposed	%92	%90	%88

As observed, the proposed method has performed better in two main parameters: service quality and customer satisfaction, compared to all three mathematical models. Only in the customer relationship parameter, our method has a very slight difference and ranks second. It is essential to note that due to data collection limitations from IT managers, the performance difference may not be fully demonstrated. With the suggestions made in this model, undoubtedly, the performance of the proposed model will be even better with larger datasets.

7. Conclusions

This article has examined and analyzed the impact of information technology on customer services in the financial services industry. The results have shown that optimal and intelligent utilization of information technology can have a significant impact on customer focus and improvement of company operations. Companies that lead in information technology and have a high level of IT management maturity are capable of delivering superior customer services and have a strong competitive position in the financial services industry. Additionally, the use of information technology in company operations can lead to performance improvement, cost reduction, increased speed, and enhanced customer experience. As observed, three criteria were used to evaluate the impact of IT on organizations: service quality, customer satisfaction, and customer relationship management. Information from 70 IT personnel was collected in raw form, and it was observed that the proposed method performed on average 10% better than the other three models. Furthermore, managers and implementers should prioritize investment in the development and improvement of information technology and formulate appropriate strategies to create customer focus and improve operations using information technology.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, Hojjat Talebi; proposed methodology, Hojjat Talebi; design and analysis, Hojjat Talebi & Amid Khatibi Bardisir; resources, Hojjat Talebi; writing and editing, Amid Khatibi Bardsiri; Simulation, Amid Khatibi Bardsiri; supervision, Hojjat Talebi.

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest.

References

- Cavaliere, L.P.L., Khan, R., Sundram, S., et al., 2021. The Impact of customer relationship management on customer satisfaction and retention: The mediation of service quality. Turkish Journal of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation. 32(3), 22107-22121.
- [2] Ganguli, S., Roy, S.K., 2011. Generic technologybased service quality dimensions in banking: Impact on customer satisfaction and loyalty. International Journal of Bank Marketing. 29(2), 168-189.

- [3] Li, F., Lu, H., Hou, M., et al., 2021. Customer satisfaction with bank services: The role of cloud services, security, e-learning and service quality. Technology in Society. 64, 101487.
- [4] Lie, D., Sudirman, A., Efendi, E., et al., 2019. Analysis of mediation effect of consumer satisfaction on the effect of service quality, price and consumer trust on consumer loyalty. International Journal of Scientific and Technology Research. 8(8), 421-428.
- [5] Ngai, E.W., Xiu, L., Chau, D.C., 2009. Application of data mining techniques in customer relationship management: A literature review and classification. Expert Systems with Applications. 36(2), 2592-2602.
- [6] Nguyen, D.T., Pham, V.T., Tran, D.M., et al., 2020. Impact of service quality, customer satisfaction and switching costs on customer loyalty. The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business. 7(8), 395-405.
- [7] Rostami, A.R., Valmohammadi, C., Yousefpoor,

J., 2014. The relationship between customer satisfaction and customer relationship management system; a case study of Ghavamin Bank. Industrial and Commercial Training. 46(4), 220-227.

- [8] Sun, Y., Fang, Y., Lim, K.H., et al., 2012. User satisfaction with information technology service delivery: A social capital perspective. Information Systems Research. 23(4), 1195-1211.
- [9] Berry, M.J., Linoff, G.S., 2004. Data mining techniques: For marketing, sales, and customer relationship management. John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken.
- [10] Kumar, V., Reinartz, W.J., 2006. Customer relationship management: A databased approach. Wiley: Hoboken.
- [11] Florez-Lopez, R., Ramon-Jeronimo, J.M., 2009. Marketing segmentation through machine learning models: An approach based on customer relationship management and customer profitability accounting. Social Science Computer Review. 27(1), 96-117.



Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research https://journals.bilpubgroup.com/index.php/jmser

ARTICLE

Sectoral Advanced Planning Systems (APS) Based on Utility Functions

Yuri Mauergauz

Russian MES-Center, Moscow, 119296, Russian Federation

ABSTRACT

This paper contains the example of sectoral APS systems, for which the problem algorithmic space coincides with the relevant operational environment with great accuracy. The method of scheduling for technological processes with looping is described, based on the simultaneous application of two criteria: the value of relative direct costs and the average utility of order fulfillment. The influence of buffers on the work of shops is considered. The proposed method provides an automatic grouping of the same type of jobs on all machines involved while taking into account the required duration of jobs. A package of application programs has been developed that allows planning for an average number of orders. The result of the program is a set of non-dominant (not improved) options that are offered to the user for making a final decision.

Keywords: Scheduling; Production intensity; Buffer; Job shop

1. Introduction

In the author's view, the APS definition that best corresponds with its destination is done by Chen, W.L., etc. ^[1]: "APS systems are considered as an effective approach for generating an optimized production plan considering a wide range of constraints, including raw materials availability, machines, and operators' capability, service level, secure stock level, costs, sales, and demand".

Effective planning has to chime mid-term planning with short-term (daily) scheduling. For this purpose, the schedule of operations on the shop work centers during a fixed planning horizon must be the basis of shop manufacturing. Here, shop work centers include not only the process equipment of

*CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

Yuri Mauergauz, Russian MES-Center, Moscow, 119296, Russian Federation; Email: prizasu@yandex.ru

ARTICLE INFO

COPYRIGHT

Received: 9 June 2023 | Revised: 21 July 2023 | Accepted: 22 July 2023 | Published Online: 1 August 2023 DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5774

CITATION

Mauergauz, Y., 2023. Sectoral Advanced Planning Systems (APS) Based on Utility Functions. Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(2): 32-46. DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5774

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). Published by Bilingual Publishing Group. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).
the shop, but also buffers for various operations, the transport devices inside the shop, and even (though not always) the means of transport for delivering raw materials or picking up finished products.

Recommendations for the application of specific APS systems are usually limited to one or more industries. Some authors, Wiers, V. and de Kok, T.^[2] or Kilger, C.^[3] list such possible branches, the number of which varies from 8 to 12 accordingly. In spite of the publication of these recommendations, some more modern APS systems, (e.g. Preactor) are used in various fields but with varying degrees of success.

In the author's opinion, there are 2 key requirements for the APS system application for planning in a production system. The first one certainly is to comply as much as possible with all functional restrictions for a specific processing stage. The second requirement consists of the right choice for the criteria for planning optimization.

Almost all of the papers dedicated to production planning include a criterion (or several criteria) to evaluate the quality of such planning. The selection of either criterion is very often determined by reasons of convenience of mathematical methods rather than real features of the considered production system^[4].

Many authors, such as Setia, P. etc. ^[5] or Günter, H.P. ^[6] point out the need for careful compliance of functional limitations associated with the operating environment and algorithmic capabilities. To identify such connections, Jonsson, P. and Mattsson, S.A. ^[7] consider 4 possible variants of operating environments: complex products specially manufactured by order (type 1); configuration of products by order (type 2); production of batches of standard products (type 3); mass production (type 4). As a result of a survey of enterprises on the applications of existing APS systems, in the study of Ivert, L., K. ^[8], the conclusion is that the functionality of these systems often does not match the numerous operational features of these enterprises.

According to Lupeikiene, A. etc. ^[9], each individual APS system, according to the general theory of algorithms, has its own problem space and, obviously, this space should generally coincide with the space of the operational production environment.

It should be noted that the actual purposes of real production cannot always be formalized to the degree sufficient for mathematical optimization. The reason for this situation usually is that there are several purposes, rather than one, which often contradict each other. As stated in Fleischmann, B. etc. ^[10]: "There are often several criteria which imply conflicting objectives and ambiguous preferences between alternatives. In this case, no 'optimal' solution (accomplishing both objectives to the highest possible degree) exists."

APS system for a real operational situation must use a multi-criteria approach to simultaneously consider the timely completion of orders (i.e. customer service level) and other criteria that reduce expenses. However, these criteria contradict each other, and the need for their simultaneous implementation is named as "Dilemma of Operation Planning" ^[11]. The solution to this problem lies in finding the expedient point of "logistic positioning", i.e. a reasonable tradeoff for conflicting objectives. In some works ^[12,13], positioning and grouping are also used for production lines.

Here the criteria of scheduling quality are two time-current functions: the utility function of total orders set on the planning horizon and the function of relative costs for the same horizon ^[14].

As an example of a sectoral APS, this paper considers a case that is quite common in machine-building production when the sequence of the technological process includes the transfer of batches of parts from one workshop to another and back. An example is the processing of a batch in a machine shop, the transfer of a batch to a heat treatment or electroplating workshop and the return of this batch to the original workshop to complete the manufacture.

For such a technology, the concept of "loop" shop-to-shop routing is often used, denoting the possibility of circulation between workshops. It is obvious that the APS system for the case under consideration should cover both interacting workshops. Moreover, expanding on the above example, it can be assumed that the heat treatment workshop can serve several mechanical workshops and the schedule of work for each workshop may depend to some extent on the situation in other workshops.

Usually, the job performed in the theory of schedules is understood as a specific position (part) with the corresponding designation in the design specification, which must be manufactured to fulfill the current order for finished products. At the same time, the number of objects in one job should ensure the completion of this order, and the job completion period should be set in accordance with the duration of assembly operations with different levels of input into the finished product.

Obviously, with several levels of input for objects of the same job, the total number of these objects can be produced in several batches. In addition, with a significant complexity of the operation performed, the job can be divided into batches that can be performed in parallel at different work centers in order to speed up the job. During thermal or galvanic processing, the number of simultaneously processed parts is limited by the physical volume of the furnace or bath, which also leads to the need to divide the job into batches.

In some cases (equipment breakdown, urgent job, lack of material, etc.), the job has to be interrupted and then resumed in the next batch. Thus, each job mentioned in the scheduling assignment often passes through a network of work centers and buffers not as a whole, but as a collection of several batches, moreover, at each technological operation, the number of such batches, in principle, may be different.

The rest of the article is organized as follows: Section 2 describes the model of the production system. Section 3 establishes the interaction of work centers. Section 4 describes the algorithm for solving the problem. A numerical example is given in Section 5. Section 6 contains the short result. Section 7 describes the main conclusions.

2. Calculation model of the production system

Figure 1 shows a diagram of a network of work

centers and buffers, simplistically describing one of the variants of machine-building production. Let's assume that the processing time of delivering blanks of parts or raw materials entering the system in **Figure 1** is small, although this is not always the case for example, when delivering sheet materials ^[15]. Batches of parts and assembly units are moving along the production system in accordance with the technological route with a given flow rate. In some cases, the packaging involves the transfer of batches of parts from the machine shop for heat treatment to the thermal shop, and then return to the machine shop for refinement and subsequent assembly with other parts. We will call this variant of shop-to-shop routing as a "loop".

Any transfer of processing objects between workshops is carried out through the appropriate buffers. In **Figure 1**, the arrows show the possible directions of transferring batches from Workshops 1 and 2 to Workshop 3 and vice versa. The finished products arrive at a special warehouse, from which they are shipped to customers. In this example, it is assumed that the shipping process is not directly related to the production schedule, although in some cases, due to the great complexity of packaging and transportation, the shipment should be taken into account ^[15].

Table 1 shows the task for scheduling production on some selected horizons. Each of the 32 jobs of this task is described by a code, which in the first position contains the number of the workshop that produces batches for this job. The subsequent positions contain the serial number of a job; three possible types of objects are considered: parts, assembly units for sub-assembly and assembly units as finished products. The job in a line is intended to complete a job in another line or is a finished product. In the latter case, zero is written as the entry object.

In other columns in **Table 1**, the code of the part or assembly unit, the order code for the finished product, and the required quantity for the order completion are recorded. If at the time of planning, there are no necessary blanks or materials, you must specify the expected time of receipt in calendar hours after the start of planning. The required moment of



Figure 1. Scheme of processing and assembly in machine-building manufacturing.

job completion is set according to the first moment of need for objects of the corresponding type for the current order, which is determined by the process of explosion.

A certain percentage of the total number of objects for a particular job may have been previously shipped to the customer and some items may be in stock awaiting shipment. In particular, for job 108 representing finished products, 20% were sent earlier. Accordingly, for all jobs sequentially included in job 108, the number should be reduced by 20%.

Table 2 lists the types of possible parts and specifies the minimum production lot size. Since the parts can be processed in an oven or in a bath, it is necessary to set the estimated volume of one part, determined by its dimensions. At the time of planning, both in the buffers of the respective workshops and in the warehouse of finished products, there may be free remains of parts of these types. A similar table is compiled for assembly units.

A fragment of the list of detailed operations for parts of each type is shown in **Table 3**. For each operation with the current serial number, the type of machine or oven used, the type of fixture used, the possible heat treatment code, and the processing time of the operation in minutes are indicated.

In some work centers (buffers, furnaces, baths), it is possible to have several jobs together, as well as their simultaneous execution. The free balances physically located in buffers and warehouses are not indicated in **Table 4**, and their values are shown above in **Table 2**. In addition to **Tables 1-4**, a table of the complexity of setting heat treatment modes, a table of the applicability of devices and a working calendar are used as initial data. In this article, it is proposed to use the method of branches and boundaries for scheduling. To do this, you need to build a multi-level tree of operations, consistently consider-

Journal of	f Managem	ent Science &	Engineering	Research	Volume 06	Issue 02	September 2023
							1

 Table 1. Jobs on the selected horizon.

Job code	The shop number	Object type code (1—parts, 2— assemblies, 3— products)	Part code or assembly code	Where does it enter (job number, warehouse-0)	Order code for finished product	Expected receipt of the workpiece at the beginning	Required calendar day of readiness after start	Quantity based on order for finished products	Weight coefficient	Sent as a percentage of the order	It is a part of assemblies in warehouses as a percentage of the order
101	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	200	2	0	0
102	1	1	2	105	2	0	1	30	1	20	0
103	1	1	4	105	2	0	1	60	2	20	0
104	1	1	3	105	2	0	2	30	3	20	0
105	1	2	1	108	2	0	2	30	1	20	0
106	1	1	5	108	2	0	3	40	1	20	0
107	1	1	3	108	2	0	3	20	1	20	0
108	1	3	5	0	2	0	4	20	1	20	0
109	1	1	2	114	3	1	3	40	1	0	50
110	1	1	6	114	3	1	2	40	1	0	50
205	2	1	9	208	4	0	2	20	1	0	0
206	2	1	5	208	4	0	2	40	1	0	0
207	2	1	7	212	4	0	4	20	1	0	0
208	2	2	9	212	4	0	4	20	1	0	0
209	2	1	8	212	4	1	4	20	1	0	0
210	2	1	6	212	4	1	5	20	1	0	0
211	2	1	7	212	4	1	5	20	1	0	0
212	2	3	9	0	4	1	7	10	1	0	0

Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research | Volume 06 | Issue 02 | September 2023

Part code	Minimum lot	Estimated volume of the part (by dimensions) in liter	Free remains of parts in the buffers of workshops, pcs.	Free remains of parts in the warehouse of finished products, pcs.
1	50	2.0	0	0
2	20	1.5	0	0
3	20	1.0	10	0
4	50	2.2	0	0
5	30	0.7	40	10
6	20	2.4	0	0
7	40	1.4	0	0
8	30	3.5	0	0
9	30	2.5	0	0

Table 2. Types of manufactured parts.

Table 3. Fragment of the operation details.

Part code	The operation number	Number of the type of machines or furnace	Device type number or heat treatment code	Processing time, min.
1	1	1	0	8
1	2	1	3	12
1	3	102	1	120
1	4	4	7	4
2	1	1	1	8
2	2	102	1	120
2	3	4	7	10
3	1	1	3	12
3	2	2	3	6
3	3	101	3	130
3	4	3	4	12
3	5	4	7	12
4	1	1	1	8
4	2	3	0	12
4	3	101	3	60
4	4	2	6	6

	Table 4. Initial state of work centers.										
Name of the work center	Work center code	The number of the type of machine or oven or buffer	Work- shop number	Mark of inclusion	Working vol- ume in liters	Fixture code or heat treat- ment code	Job code in the current planning	The number of the oper- ation being performed (or performed in the buffer)	Batch number for the current operation	The percentage of job performed on the operation by the batch	Expected release time in hours or the last down- loads in the buffer
Machine	1	1	1	1	0	0	0;	0;	0;	0;	0;
Machine	2	1	1	1	0	1	101;	2;	1;	33;	10;
Machine	3	2	1	1	0	8	104;	2;	1;	17;	9;
Machine	4	3	1	1	0	0	103;	4;	1;	30;	12;
Processing center	5	4	1	1	0	10	102;	3;	1;	30;	10;
Machine	6	5	2	1	0	6	206;	5;	1;	50;	0;
Machine	7	1	2	1	0	7	201;	1;	1;	100;	8;
Processing center	8	4	2	2	0	9	203;	4;	1;	100;	9;
Furnace	9	102	3	1	100	2	103;	3;	1;	50;	8;
Furnace	10	102	3	1	100	1	102;	2;	1;	50;	8;
Furnace	11	101	3	1	120	1	0;	1;	0;	0;	12;
Assembly stand	12	201	1	1	0	0	0;	1;	0;	0;	0;
Assembly stand	13	202	2	1	0	0	0;	1;	0;	0;	10;
Buffer	21	301	1	1	1000	0	101;104;110;114;	1;5;1;1;	1;1;1;1;	20;20;50;20;	8;8;10;8;
Buffer	22	302	2	1	1000	0	205;206;	2;4;	1;1;	100;50;	0;8;
Buffer	23	303	3	1	1000	0	202;107;	2;2;	1;1;	50;100;	0;8;
Finished goods ware- house	24	304	0	1	2000	0	101;120;	4;1;	1;1;	20;30;	8;8;

Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research | Volume 06 | Issue 02 | September 2023

38

ing the feasibility of building new tree nodes. To determine the boundaries at each level of construction, we will apply the criteria for the order utility function and the cost of operations described in Mauergauz Y. ^[14]. The calculation algorithm is given below.

3. Interaction of work centers in the production system

Figure 2 shows possible options for the interaction of work centers. In any case, the main component of such interaction is some (active) work center in which the current operation is carried out.

In this example, there are three types of active work centers: a) machines in workshops 1 and 2 for machining, b) assembly stands in the same workshops, and c) furnaces in shop 3. Figures 2a and 2b show possible operations for shop 1, and Figure 2c—for shop 3. To carry out an operation, sources of materials, parts from previous operations or assembly units are always needed to continue the assembly. As follows from Figure 2, such sources for the operation in the shop can be a warehouse of materials from outside the shop, other machines in the same shop, as well as the buffer of the shop.

The recipients of the results of the operation can be both in the same workshop and outside it. For example, **Figure 2a** shows that the recipients can be machines for performing a subsequent operation located in the same workshop, which stands for assembly, as well as a buffer of this workshop. In addition, if it is necessary to perform heat treatment as the next operation, the finished batch should be transferred to the buffer of the thermal shop 3.

If the operation is the last one, and the manufactured parts are finished products, then batches of these parts are transported to the finished product warehouse. If it is absolutely necessary to use the equipment of another machine shop for further processing, then the recipient is its buffer. During the assembly operation (**Figure 2b**), the recipients are either the buffer of the current workshop or the finished product warehouse. After the heat treatment (**Figure 2c**), the batches of parts are transferred to the buffers of the machine shops. It follows from **Figure 2** that during any processing or assembly operation, it is necessary to consider possible changes in the contents in the buffers of workshops and in the finished product warehouse.

Changes are possible both at the beginning of the current operation and at the end of it. Moreover, if the processing time of the batch is long enough, it is possible to transfer part of it to the buffer. Below are the variants of these changes.

a) At the beginning of the operation on the machine or the assembly stand of the machine shop, the system must ensure the availability of the vacated work center. If the previous operation on this center is completed, but the processed objects are still in the center itself or in a storage location near the center, these objects must be moved to the buffer of the corresponding workshop.

b) A batch of workpieces or parts awaiting the continuation of machining must be transported to the vacated machine for a new operation. If the source is the work center – the machine (**Figure 2a**), then it is also completely released. If the source is a workshop buffer, then the contents of the buffer are reduced by the amount of the batch being moved.

c) The operation of assembling a batch of some job begins only if there is a certain amount for all parts and assembly units included in this assembly. The specified quantity for different positions may be different, and the timing of the batches may also vary. Obviously, the size of the assembly batch is determined by the minimum available batch for the item included in the package, and the start time of the assembly batch is set at the moment when the last of the required positions appear.

At the start of the assembly batch (**Figure 2b**), the parts and assembly units involved in the assembly from the machines and from the buffer of the workshop must be moved to the assembly stand. At the same time, the remaining number of parts and assembly units for all participating positions should be in the buffer of the workshop.

d) For heat treatment (**Figure 2b**), batches of parts must be transferred to the buffer of the thermal workshop. During the operation, joint heat treatment



Sources

Figure 2. Options for interaction of work centers. a) machines in workshops 1 and 2 for machining, b) assembly stands in the same workshops, c) furnaces in shop 3.

is possible for different batches coming from different workshops. The number of parts in one batch of heat treatment may be less than the quantity received due to the limited working space of the furnace. Therefore, at the beginning of the operation, the contents of the thermal buffer are reduced in accordance with the loading of the furnace. After processing, batches of parts must be immediately transferred to the buffers of the corresponding workshops.

e) The batch of the job that are finished products must be transferred to the appropriate warehouse after assembly on the stand (**Figure 2b**) or the last operation on the machine (**Figure 2a**). The rules of changes in buffers described above are taken into account in the algorithm below and the corresponding computer program.

4. Solution algorithm

The structural formula of the present problem in accordance with the known three-element method of classification of schedules has the form:

$$FJ \mid pmtn, \ prec, d_i, s_{mx}, b_x \mid U, V.$$
(1)

The parameter of the first field FJ describes flexible job shop. In the second field, the parameter *pmtn* shows that processing at work centers is carried out in batches, in general, not equal to the size of orders; the parameter *prec* defines multi-stage processing; d_i is the specified moment of completion of the job; s_{mx} is labor intensity for the preparation of the operation at the work center *m* for the operation *x*; b_x is available capacity of the work center (or the required buffer) for the operation *x*. The third field contains the target functions U, \overline{V} .

Recall that the production intensity ^[14], in the case of multi-stage production, has the form:

$$H_{i} = \frac{w_{i}p_{i}}{G} \frac{1}{(d_{i}-t)/(\alpha G)+1} \text{ if } d_{i}-t \ge 0$$

and (2)

$$H_i = \frac{w_i p_i}{G} ((t - d_i) / (\alpha G) + 1) \text{ if } d_i - t \le 0,$$

where w_i is weight coefficient; p_i is remaining processing time in hours until the end of the job; G is duration of the planned period in calendar hours; t is current time; d_i is the specified time of task completion in calendar hours; α is psychological coefficient.

If job execution is multistage, the process time of job *i* that remains until completion consists of process time on N_i of certain *j* operations.

$$p_i = \sum_{x=1}^{N_i} p_{ix} \,. \tag{3}$$

Necessary release date of operation g_i in hours is as:

$$g_i = d_i - p_i + 1. \tag{4}$$

The current utility for an order *i* is:

$$V_i = w_i p_i / G - H_i \,. \tag{5}$$

The nature of dependencies (2) and (5) is described in detail in Mauergauz Y. ^[15]. If the number of orders on the planning horizon is n, their total current utility is equal to the sum of the utilities of each, because orders are usually independent.

Then the total value of the function of the current utility of orders:

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} V_i = \frac{1}{G} \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i p_i - \sum_{i=1}^{n} H_i.$$
 (6)

The average utility $\overline{V_l}$ of the entire volume of planned jobs at level *l* is calculated for the time from the initial moment t = 0 to the end of the last already planned operation ^[15] at each step of the algorithm.

The calculation of the value of direct costs at the *l* level for job *k* should be carried out according to the recurrent formula ^[15].

$$U_{l+1,k} = \frac{c_s}{c} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{l} s_j + s_{km} \right)$$
(7)

where *c* is the cost of a work shift; c_s is the cost of an hour of changeover; s_j is the complexity of setting up for each job *j* in the chain for a tree node that includes a level *l*; s_{km} is the complexity of job *k* transportation to machine *m*.

For solving the problem (1) it makes sense to apply the method, based on the MO-Greedy approach ^[16]. In this case, the algorithm for calculating production schedules can represent a tree of sequential decisions about conducting a new operation. At each level of tree construction, from all possible such solutions, those are selected for which the criteria for the average utility of orders \overline{V} and costs U on the planning horizon are "non-dominant". This means that possible solutions with the worst values for both criteria are discarded. In a greedy algorithm, at each step, a choice is made that seems to be the best.

Let's describe the algorithm step by step.

Step 1. (Distribution of free balances between the jobs of the new task)

Step 2. (Determination of percentages of operations at the initial moment)

Step 3. (Determination of the remaining process-

ing time for all jobs)

Step 4. (*Calculation of utility functions at the initial moment of planning*)

Let's put the level number l = 0; initial cost function $U_0 = 0$; initial orders function V_0 is determined by the formula (5); number of nodes $Z_0 = 1$.

External cycle

Step 5 (Identification of possible operations at the following levels)

For each node z of the constructed tree at level l the loading of each machine is restored, the possible operations are determined and values g_i are calculated using formulas (3) and (4).

Middle cycle

Step 6. (Determination of the required machine at the following levels)

For each operation k that is possible and not previously performed, the necessary family f of machines and devices is determined.

Internal cycle

Step 7 (*Calculation of utility functions at the following levels*)

For each machine *m* belonging to the type *f*, taking into account the moment of its possible release, values are calculated $U_{l+1,z,k,m}$ in $\overline{V}_{l+1,z,k,m}$ by formulas (7) and (6).

Step 8 (Defining content in buffers)

End of the internal cycle

End of the middle cycle

Step 9. (Definition of non-dominant tree nodes)

If the l + 1 level is not the last, then to dominate the l + 1 level a possible tree node *y* above a possible node *x* must be observed inequalities.

 $U_{l+1,y} \le U_{l+1,x}, \ \overline{V}_{l+1,y} \ge \overline{V}_{l+1,x} \text{ and } g_{l+1,y} < g_{l+1,x}.$

Otherwise: in order to dominate at the last 1 + 1 level, it is necessary that:

 $U_{l+1,y} \le U_{l+1,x}, \quad \overline{V}_{l+1,y} \ge \overline{V}_{l+1,x}.$

Step 10. (Transition to a new level or termination

of the program)

If the level is higher than the last one (all operations are performed), then the end of the program.

Otherwise: Memorizing non-dominant nodes at the *l* level. Increase the level number l = l + 1 and go to step 5.

End of the external cycle

A distinctive feature of this algorithm in comparison with the similar algorithm given in Mauergauz Y.^[17] is the presence of step 8 to determine the contents of buffers. The corresponding procedure is carried out according to rules a)-e) of the previous paragraph.

5. Example of schedule calculation

Let's assume that in accordance with the existing orders, the master plan is formed at the enterprise, on the basis of which tasks are given to workshops for a certain horizon (**Table 1**). Since the previous plan is not always fulfilled, the new plan may consist of both new jobs and jobs that transfer from the previous plan. At the same time, the time reserved for performing such jobs may be negative.

Figure 3 shows a Gantt diagram for several machines and assembly stands in workshops 1 and 2, as well as for furnaces in workshop 3. Each rectangle of the diagram, as usual, corresponds to the job in the task in **Table 1**. For machines, the code of the device used is written inside the rectangle, for furnaces—the code of heat treatment. Since the job is carried out in batches, the job numbers on the diagram can be repeated.

The system automatically groups the jobs on one machine by the codes of devices, and in furnaces by the code of heat treatment. For example, machine 5 is used only with fixture 10, on machine 3 the jobs are grouped for fixtures 8, 3 and 4. Furnace 9 is used only for heat treatment with code 1, and in furnace 11 the jobs are grouped by heat treatment codes 3 and 2.

Figure 4 shows a diagram of batches of jobs on specific processing and assembly operations.

The batch number is recorded above the rectangle of the job, and inside the rectangle is the inventory number of the work center with the operation being



Figure 3. Gantt chart.

performed. For example, during the execution of job 101 (**Table 1**), type 1 parts are manufactured, which requires 4 operations.

At the same time, 20% of the job has already been fully completed and is in the finished product warehouse, and some operations on batches of this job have also been partially completed by the beginning of planning (**Table 4**). The buffer of shop 1 already contains batch 1 of job 101, containing 20% of this job on operation 1. In addition, on machine 2, the batch of the same job ends in the amount of 33% for operation 2. Therefore, the remainder of the job on operation 1 in the amount of 27% should be performed in the form of batch 2.

Because the number of parts for job 101 is 200 (**Table 1**), and the complexity of the second operation of the part type 1 is 12 minutes (**Table 3**), then it is advisable to perform the entire remainder of the job 101 on the second operation, equal to 47%, in several batches. The program automatically splits

this volume into 2 batches, shown in Figure 4.

Operation 3 (heat treatment) for job 101 is carried out in 5 batches, the sizes are determined by the available volume of furnaces. At the same time, furnaces 9 and 10 are used in parallel, as shown in **Figure 4**. Since the first batch on operation 4 for job 101 is already in stock (**Table 4**), the next 5 batches for operation 4 are executed starting from number 2 (**Figure 4**). Similarly, batches are performed on operations for other jobs.

Figure 5 shows the schedules of receipt of batches of finished products to the warehouse. As follows from **Figure 5**, the schedule for job 101 (blue) at the beginning of planning (8 hours) contains batch 1 in 20% of the total size of the job. Then, gradually, 5 new batches arrive at the warehouse, eventually amounting to 100%. A similar situation occurs with other jobs describing finished products. The exception is job 108 (brown), 20% of which was shipped earlier (**Table 1**).



Figure 4. Batches of jobs on operations.



Figure 5. Receipt of batches of finished products to the warehouse.

6. Results

Using the example of a sectoral APS of a machine-building enterprise, the calculation of the equipment charge plan and the execution of operations for several interacting workshops at once is shown. At the same time, the initial state of the work centers, the possible division of jobs into batches and the movement of material objects in buffers are taken into account. As a result, this solution closely reflects the operating activities of the machine-building enterprise.

7. Conclusions

The solutions obtained by the described method are not 100% optimal and, generally speaking, can be improved. The reason is the use of a "greedy" algorithm that does not provide "global" optimization. But the solution turns out to be quite satisfactory, fast and reliable—the duration of the program in the examples given is about 1 min. The main advantage of the utility function method is the possibility of a fairly simple adaptation of the program structure to the specific operating environment of the task under consideration.

Indeed, the differences between various tasks consist in the mechanism for calculating the utility function, as well as in taking into account various restrictions (for example, related to buffers). At the same time, most of the algorithm for building a schedule tree is preserved without significant changes.

The proposed method provides automatic grouping of the same type of jobs on all machines involved, while taking into account the required duration of jobs. To build schedules, a set of decisions is built on the planning horizon, on the basis of which the user makes the final decision. When the horizon increases, the system automatically offers options with increasing grouping of jobs into groups.

The appearance of deviations from the planned course of production should be adjusted in the schedule and taken into account during the next planned cycle. Since the quality criterion of the schedule is a function of the average utility of all jobs within the planned horizon, changes in the value of this criterion with individual schedule adjustments are usually not very large and, accordingly, have little effect on the structure of the schedule as a whole.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, computer programming, resources, writing, visualization, all these are done by the author.

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest.

References

- Chen, W.L., Huang, C.Y., Lai, Y.C., 2009. Multi-tier and multi-site collaborative production: Illustrated by a case example of TFT-LCD manufacturing. Computers & Industrial Engineering. 57(1), 61-72.
- [2] Wiers, V.C., de Kok, A.T.G., 2017. Designing, selecting, implementing and using aps systems. Springer: Berlin.
- [3] Stadtler, H., Kilger, C., Meyr, H., 2015. Supply chain management and advanced planning: Concepts, models, software, and case studies. Springer: Berlin.
- [4] Panwalkar, S.S., Dudek, R.A., Smith, M.L., 1973. Sequencing research and the industrial scheduling problem. Symposium on the theory of scheduling problem. Springer: Berlin. pp. 29-38.
- [5] Setia, P., Sambamurthy, V., Closs, D.J., 2008. Realizing business value of agile IT applications: Antecedents in the supply chain networks. Information Technology and Management. 9, 5-19.
- [6] Günter, H.P., 2005. Supply chain management and advanced planning systems: A tutorial. Physica-Verlag HD: Heidelberg.
- [7] Jonsson, P., Mattsson, S.A., 2008. Inventory management practices and their implications on

perceived planning performance. International Journal of Production Research. 46(7), 1787-1812.

- [8] Ivert, L.K., 2012. Use of Advanced Planning and Scheduling (APS) systems to support manufacturing planning and control processes [Ph.D. thesis]. Göteborg, Sweden: Chalmers University of Technology.
- [9] Lupeikiene, A., Dzemyda, G., Kiss, F., et al., 2014. Advanced planning and scheduling systems: Modeling and implementation challenges. Informatica. 25(4), 581-616.
- [10] Fleischmann, B., Meyer, H., Wagner, M., 2007. Advanced planning. Supply chain management and advanced planning: Concepts, models, software and case studies, 4th ed. Springer: Berlin.
- [11] Nyhuis, P., Wiendal, H.P., 2009. Fundamentals of production logistics. Springer: Berlin.
- [12] Klausnitzer, A., Neufeld, J.S., Buscher, U., 2017. Scheduling dynamic job shop manufacturing cells with family setup times: A simulation study. Logistics Research. 10(4), 1-18.
- [13] Logendran, R., Carson, S., Hanson, E., 2005.

Group scheduling in flexible flow shops. International Journal of Production Economics. 96(2), 143-155.

- [14] Mauergauz, Y. (editor), 2013. Cost-efficiency method for production scheduling. World Congress on Engineering; 2013 Jul 3-5; London. Hong Kong: International Association of Engineers. p. 589-593.
- [15] Mauergauz, Y., 2022. Dynamic scheduling for flexible manufacture: 15 computer programs. BP International: India.
- [16] Canon, L.C. (editor), 2011. MO-Greedy: An extended beam-search approach for solving a multi-criteria scheduling problem on heterogeneous machines. 2011 IEEE International Symposium on Parallel and Distributed Processing Workshops and Phd Forum; 2011 May 16-20; Anchorage, AK, USA. New York: IEEE. p. 57-69.
- [17] Mauergauz, Y., 2015. Dynamic group job shop scheduling. International Journal of Management Science and Engineering Management. 10(1), 41-49.



Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research https://journals.bilpubgroup.com/index.php/jmser

ARTICLE

Strategies for Adoption of Circular Economy in the Nigeria Construction Industry

Abdullahi Idris¹, Abdulkabir Opeyemi Bello^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Building, Federal University of Technology, Minna, 920101, Nigeria ² Dollahills Research Lab, Dollasoft Technologies, Lagos State, 101283, Nigeria

ABSTRACT

The concept of circular economy has gained recognition as a way to manage waste and conserve resources sustainably, and has the potential to transform the construction industry. This is particularly relevant in the construction industry due to the significant amounts of waste generated during the construction and demolition process. This study examines the perceived importance and effectiveness of strategies related to the circular economy in the construction industry. The data were collected through a survey administered to professionals in the construction sector, capturing their perceptions of various strategies. The results reveal that most strategies received high mean ratings, indicating their perceived significance. Strategies such as waste management and recycling facilities, design for disassembly, and prioritising the use of renewable and sustainable materials were highly valued by the respondents. Additionally, statistical analyses confirmed the significance of these strategies. However, some strategies received comparatively lower ratings, suggesting the need for further attention and improvement. The findings have important implications for policymakers, industry professionals, and stakeholders, guiding decision-making and resource allocation. By prioritising and implementing the identified strategies, stakeholders can drive the adoption of circular economy principles, enhance resource efficiency, and reduce waste in construction practices. Furthermore, this study lays the foundation for future research, highlighting the importance of exploring barriers to implementation, understanding synergies and trade-offs among strategies, conducting longitudinal studies to assess long-term impact, and broadening the participant pool for a more comprehensive understanding. Overall, this study contributes to the growing body of knowledge on the circular economy in the construction industry and provides valuable insights for promoting sustainability and circularity within the sector.

Keywords: Circular economy; Construction industry; Strategies; Resource efficiency; Sustainability

*CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

Abdulkabir Opeyemi Bello, Department of Building, Federal University of Technology, Minna, 920101, Nigeria; Dollahills Research Lab, Dollasoft Technologies, Lagos State, 101283, Nigeria; Email: abdulkabiropeyemi@gmail.com

ARTICLE INFO

Received: 20 July 2023 | Revised: 18 August 2023 | Accepted: 21 August 2023 | Published Online: 30 August 2023 DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5846

CITATION

Idris, A., Bello, A.O., 2023. Strategies for Adoption of Circular Economy in the Nigeria Construction Industry. Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(2): 47-59. DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5846

COPYRIGHT

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). Published by Bilingual Publishing Group. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

1. Introduction

Like other industries around the world, the construction industry is experiencing a paradigm shift due to demographic, digital, and economic factors, which has prompted the building industry to implement initiatives to reduce its environmental impact^[1]. Buildings and construction consume the most energy (36%) and emit the most carbon (37%) globally $^{[2]}$, posing a significant challenge to the Architecture, Engineering, and Construction (AEC) industry in terms of sustainability and resource efficiency ^[3]. Furthermore, in 2020, the average daily construction waste generated was 3,418 tonnes, accounting for 23% of all waste deposited in landfills ^[4]. If correctly managed, construction and demolition waste (CDW) can be a significant source of cash ^[5]. Implementing the circular economy (CE) is a modern and practical strategy to achieve sustainability in the construction industry through waste management and resource conservation^[6].

As defined by the Ellen MacArthur Foundation^[7], CE is intended to retain the highest level of utility and value for goods, components, and materials at all times, distinguishing between technical and biological cycles. The Ellen MacArthur Foundation embraced the notion of CE in 2015, and this definition has been used as a basis for further definitions by other scholars. CE is still growing in terms of development and impact [8], and there is no standard definition for CE due to its interdisciplinary nature ^[9]. CE is seen as a sustainable growth approach since it allows for separating resource usage and economic growth, promoting long-term development ^[10]. Implementing CE is considered a critical option for fulfilling the world's resource, energy, and climate mitigation goals, particularly the SDGs for 2030^[11].

Since the introduction of CE, studies have demonstrated that CE techniques are ecologically beneficial and have resulted in reduced waste, particularly in the manufacturing sector, where it was first advocated ^[12-15]. Ensuring that the construction industry reaps the benefits of implementing CE policies ^[16]. Adopting CE methods can benefit the construction industry by increasing productivity and addressing the drawbacks of the traditional linear construction methodology ^[7]. In contrast to the linear construction method, primarily concerned with project completion, the CE idea considers the End of Life (EOL) phase of all building activities ^[17]. As pioneering work by Geissdoerfer et al. ^[18] demonstrated, CE is a "cradle to cradle" strategy as opposed to the "cradle to grave" linear approach usually applied in the worldwide construction business.

Despite the compelling need for the construction industry to implement CE to reduce waste and save resources, it confronts several problems, including industry fragmentation, a lack of collaboration, and industry opposition to change. The slow adoption of CE in the construction industry, according to Charef et al. ^[19] can be linked to the sector's complexity. To overcome the barriers to the CE, a wide range of stakeholders across the value chain must adapt their practises ^[20]. According to Munaro et al. ^[21], there is a pressing need and demand in the construction industry to transition from the existing linear paradigm to a more sustainable one, with an emphasis on implementing the CE strategy to ensure a more ecologically responsible construction industry.

In recent years, a plethora of CE measures have been proposed in the literature at all levels of the CE system ^[22]. However, most of these metrics lack standard theoretical or methodological foundations and exhibit variations in content and form Svarc et al. ^[23]. As a result, there are no standard measurements for CE, making comparison difficult and leading to confusion about the level of circularity performance ^[23]. Despite this, studies are scarce focusing on indicator-based frameworks (integrated systems of indicators) capable of capturing numerous aspects of the CE transition ^[24].

Although the policy has several implicit notions about the future of CE, there has been little research into what a circular lot would look like Pinyol et al. ^[25]. Bauwens et al. ^[26] provide a framework of four hypothetical circular future scenarios. However, research on how these scenarios can form in practice is lacking ^[25]. CE initiatives at universities are scattered and unintegrated, and there is no framework to bring them together for a more significant impact ^[27]. Furthermore, there is no link between higher education performance and societal sustainability ^[28]. More study is needed to test the suggested theoretical policy framework against the techniques used by policymakers from different regions to reduce the gap between policy development and implementation ^[29].

A comprehensive strategy has the potential to effectively surmount the limitations encountered in Circular Economy (CE) implementation within the construction industry. By integrating various elements such as innovative design principles, advanced material selection, streamlined waste management processes, and stakeholder collaboration, this strategy can holistically address the multifaceted challenges of CE adoption. Through careful consideration of product life cycles, from procurement to end-of-life, and the incorporation of circular practices like modular construction, materials reuse, and recycling, the strategy fosters a more sustainable and resource-efficient construction ecosystem.

According to the literature, CE implementation in the construction industry is still in its early phases, necessitating a more effective and comprehensive approach to improving waste and resource conservation. Based on the problems and limitations in CE implementation in the construction industry, this research intends to develop a comprehensive strategy for adopting CE in the Nigerian construction industry. The study set the following objectives to; develop effective strategies for the adoption of CE in the Nigerian construction industry, and determine the impacts of the identified strategies.

2. Literature review

2.1 Overview of linear economy

The most crucial part of creating a zero-waste city is transitioning from a linear economic model to a CE ^[30]. According to World Economic Forum research published in 2019, only 9% of the global economy runs in a circular method, which means that only 9% of waste is reused or recycled into new ones ^[31]. The remaining 91% of the economy oper-

ates linearly, with waste produced due to production and consumption ^[32]. There is an urgent need to lessen the environmental impact of the existing linear production and consumption system ^[33], which uses a lot of materials and generates a lot of waste and emissions. As the global economy expands, worldwide waste generation is expected to rise by up to 70% by 2050 ^[34]. Because the current consumption and production systems are unsustainable, a new economic model is required ^[20], and the CE has been advocated as a solution by entrepreneurs, policymakers, and researchers ^[33].

In the construction sector, the linear economy is a production and consumption model that follows a "take, make, use, and dispose of" method. This model involves extracting and processing raw materials into products, which are subsequently utilised and eventually discarded as waste. This linear paradigm, typified by non-collaborative work practises, has traditionally been followed by the construction industry, resulting in a lack of linkages across industrial sectors, supply chain members, and partners in implementing sustainable practices.

2.2 Concept of circular economy in the construction industry

The origins of the CE can be traced back to various intellectual schools, such as Industrial Ecology and Cradle to Cradle ^[35]. The CE aims to build a sustainable economic system by minimising waste, energy losses, and resource consumption by narrowing, delaying, and closing the resource cycle ^[18,36]. The CE is viewed as a solution to problems such as waste generation, resource scarcity, and the need for economic rewards ^[37].

The CE is seen as a broad concept that incorporates several measures targeted at reducing, reusing, recycling, and recovering economic resources ^[10,36,38,39]. The phrase "circular economy" was coined by Pearce et al. ^[40], who promoted sustainable economic development (SED) and emphasised the relationship between the economy and the environment. This contrasted with the linear economic paradigm founded on cost-benefit concepts ^[41].

The CE's fundamental premise is to shift away from linear "take-make-dispose" economic paradigms and focus on completing the materials and energy loops to keep the value of resources in the economy ^[40]. However, it was not until 2015 that the CE gained popularity because the Ellen MacArthur Foundation promoted its use. Ghisellini et al. ^[42] defined the CE principles as decreasing waste, lowering pollution, prolonging the life of products and materials, and renewing natural systems. Similarly, CE is defined by Geissdoerfer et al. ^[18] as a system in which resource inputs and waste, emissions, and energy loss are minimised by slowing, closing, and shrinking material and energy cycles.

The CE concepts are summarised in the 10 Rs, which are as follows: R0 Refuse, R1 Rethink, R2 Reduce, R3 Reuse, R4 Repair, R5 Refurbish, R6 Remanufacture, R7 Repurpose, R8 Recover, and R9 Recycle ^[43-45]. It has been proposed that applying these concepts to the construction industry might aid in developing a CE^[46]. According to Mendoza et al. ^[47], CE attempts to shorten resource cycles by implementing eco-efficient solutions that lower the number of resources utilised and the environmental effect per unit of product or service. Slowing down resource cycles entails increasing the usage of items to increase their worth over time, whereas closing resource cycles allows upcycling to restore or produce new value from spent resources ^[36]. Implementing the circular economy in the construction industry can reduce waste, conserve resources, and create a more sustainable future.

2.3 Application of circular economy in the construction industry

Most European Union countries have met the Waste Framework Directive's 2020 target of 70% recovery of construction and demolition waste (CDW). Still, these high recovery rates are primarily achieved through backfilling, in which valuable materials are crushed and used for road construction. Suppose there is an increase in reuse and enhanced recycling. In that case, there is an excellent opportunity for the environment and resources, resulting in a higher economic value from CDW. On the other hand, the circularity gap in the construction and demolition industry is compounded by the extended lifespan of structures and infrastructure, resulting in a delay between input and output.

Although there is significant potential for the development of a CE in the construction and demolition industry, technological, regulatory, and behavioural constraints must be addressed before this potential can be fulfilled. According to Mahpour's ^[48] literature analysis, the most significant technical hurdle to implementing the CE in the construction industry is a lack of experience, which leads to a lack of effective processes, making circular activities more complicated and time-consuming. Aguilar-Hernandez et al. [49] assessed the circularity gap in 43 countries. They discovered a low level of circularity, proposing interventions to close the material loop of nations, such as improved waste management systems, closed supply chains, increased resource efficiency, and extended product lifetimes.

Hopff et al. ^[50] developed a framework to understand the various aspects and scales of campus operations and how to implement circular principles in campus development, another study discussed the benefits and challenges of implementing the circular economy framework in a national cross-sectoral policy programme. Despite its narrow focus on the campus, the paradigm ^[50] developed went beyond simply examining R-strategies implementation.

Guzzo et al.^[51] detailed techniques for R-strategies implementation and emphasised the significance of examining many viewpoints (conceptual, strategic, and practical) to reconcile circular innovation's theoretical and practical components. A CE implementation plan based on legislation and policy, enabling infrastructure, public awareness, collaborative business models, product design, supply chain, and information and communication technologies was proposed by Lieder & Rashid ^[37]. Prendeville et al. ^[52] developed a matrix connecting circular city concepts (such as "regenerate", "share", and "optimise") with various solutions based on the ReSOLVE framework ^[53]. Superti et al. ^[54] stressed the importance of numer-

ous actors in the CE, such as the government, startup incubators, and researchers, in addition to those directly involved in producing, using, or recycling products. Pinheiro et al. [55] provided a similar integrative approach. They emphasised the critical role of various stakeholders (customers, government, and legislation) in advancing CE. According to Bacova et al.^[56], regional administrations play a critical role in boosting CE implementation by setting framework conditions or by helping local and regional actors. The concept of policy dispersion is inadequate, and the impact of location and cultural context on the adoption of global policies could be investigated using the domestication framework's procedures ^[57]. It has also been shown that transformative learning is essential in Education for Sustainable Development (ESD)^[58]. For example, the Ellen MacArthur Foundation's CE100 Annual Summit brings together commercial enterprises, students, and universities ^[59]. The UK Government and the European Union provide financing programmes to assist universities and businesses in collaborating to create circular economy technologies [60].

3. Methodology

In research, numerous approaches are utilised, including quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (which integrate quantitative and qualitative methodologies). This approach is supported by the evidence of Saunders et al. ^[61] and Cresswell ^[62]. According to Kothari ^[63] and Saunders et al. ^[61], the quantitative research method is distinguished by a deductive-objective-generalising approach. In contrast, an inductive-subjective-contextual viewpoint indicates the qualitative method. Furthermore, the quantitative method is concerned with numerical data.

In contrast, the qualitative methodology concerns interpreting observation or interview data. This study adopts the quantitative approach using a survey (questionnaire) to collect responses from the respondents. This approach allows respondents to provide answers based on their level of agreement or disagreement. Further, due to the geographical difference between the professionals, a survey approach is best suited, easy to reach and cost-effective. The population consists of Architects, Builders, Engineers, and Quantity surveyors. These professionals are best suited to provide adequate responses due to their contribution and essentiality in the construction industry. The professionals were asked to select from amongst the developed strategies. These strategies were developed through an adequate review of the literature and preliminary findings by the authors.

The developed questionnaire is designed based on a 5-Likert scale to assess the respondents' views on the developed strategies. The data were distributed randomly and virtually using Google Forms. This approach is considered adequate and easy to reach. The population includes construction workers such as architects, builders, engineers, and quantity surveyors. A total number of 164 responses were received and considered for analysis. Using Microsoft Excel and SPSS V26, the data were analysed using descriptive and inference statistics. Results were presented in a table for clear and meaningful presentation and discussion. The analysis included Cronbach alpha, mean ranking, one sample t-test, and one-way ANOVA (Kruskal Wallis).

4. Presentation and discussion of the result

4.1 Characteristics of respondents

Table 1 shows the highest academic qualification; most participants (64.63%) held a bachelor's degree, 22.56% with a master's degree, and 12.80% with a doctorate. This demonstrates a diverse educational background among the respondents. When examining their professions, the study attracted professionals from various fields within the construction industry. Engineers represented the largest group, accounting for 41.46% of the respondents, followed by builders (32.32%), architects (15.85%), and quantity surveyors (10.37%). This diverse professional representation suggests a well-rounded perspective on the subject matter. The years of experience among the participants were also varied, with the largest group (43.90%) having 6-10 years of experience, followed by 25.00% with 11-15 years of experience. The distribution of experience across the different categories indicates a balanced representation of participants at different career stages.

Respondent's	characteristics	Frequency	Percentage			
Highest academic qualification	Bachelor degree	106	64.63			
	Master's degree	37	22.56			
	Doctorate Degree	21	12.80			
	Total	164	100.00			
Profession	Architect	26	15.85			
	Builder	53	32.32			
	Engineer	68	41.46			
	Quantity Surveyor	17	10.37			
	Total	164	100.00			
Years of experience	0-5	19	11.59			
	6-10 years	72	43.90			
	11-15 years	41	25.00			
	16-20 years	23	14.02			
	20 years above	9	5.49			
	Total	164	100.00			
Knowledge of circular economy	Yes	42	25.61			
	No	99	60.37			
	Maybe	23	14.02			
	Total	164	100.00			

Table 1. Respondent's characteristics.

Interestingly, regarding knowledge of the circular economy, only 25.61% of the respondents indicated knowing this concept. In comparison, the majority (60.37%) did not possess this knowledge, and 14.02% were unsure. These findings suggest that there may be a need for further education and awareness-building regarding the circular economy within the construction industry. Overall, these characteristics of the respondents provide valuable context for interpreting the study's findings and highlight the need for targeted efforts to promote awareness and understanding of the circular economy principles among professionals in the field.

4.2 Reliability

The reliability statistics for the study indicate a high level of internal consistency among the items measured, as shown in **Table 2**. Cronbach's alpha coefficient, a commonly used measure of internal consistency, was calculated to be 0.906. This coefficient ranges from 0 to 1, with higher values indicating greater internal consistency. In this case, the coefficient of 0.906 suggests a strong level of reliability within the data set. The study consists of 23 items that were included in the analysis. These items collectively contribute to the overall measurement of the construct under investigation. With a large number of items and a high Cronbach's alpha coefficient, it can be inferred that the items are highly correlated and measure the intended construct consistently.

Table 2. Reliability test.

Cronbach's alpha	N of items
0.906	23

4.3 Mean ranking of the developed strategies

Table 3 presents a comprehensive overview of the mean ratings and significance levels for various strategies related to the circular economy in the construction industry. Analysing the top 8 strategies with the highest mean ratings, it is evident that the respondents highly valued these strategies. Strategies such as developing waste management and recycling facilities (Mean: 4.34), designing for disassembly (Mean: 4.32), and prioritise the use of renewable and sustainable materials (Mean: 4.30) received exceptionally high mean ratings, indicating their perceived importance and effectiveness in promoting circular economy practices. The low significance levels for these strategies further confirm their statistical significance, solidifying their significance in the respondents' perception. On the other hand, the last five strategies with relatively lower mean ratings were still considered somewhat important, albeit to a lesser extent. Encouraging the development of new business models (Mean: 3.26) received the lowest mean rating among all the strategies while still sur-

Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research | Volume 06 | Issue 02 | September 2023

	Moon				Test valu	e = 3.5		D
Strategies	Mean	SD	S-K	K-S	t	df	Sig	- R
Develop waste management and recycling facilities	4.34	0.771	-1.000	0.453	13.978	163	0.000	1
Design for disassembly	4.32	0.734	-1.063	1.230	14.358	163	0.000	2
Prioritise the use of renewable and sustainable materials	4.30	0.657	-0.404	-0.732	15.570	163	0.000	3
Implement systems to recover and recycle construction materials	4.29	0.758	-0.876	0.386	13.298	163	0.000	4
Redesign products to be more durable	4.26	0.835	-1.038	0.546	11.686	163	0.000	5
Develop financial instruments and incentives that support circular economy	4.26	0.723	-0.825	0.696	13.389	163	0.000	6
Proper demolition and deconstruction planning	4.22	0.727	-0.751	0.537	12.678	163	0.000	7
Adopts off-site construction techniques	4.21	0.581	-0.052	-0.318	15.601	163	0.000	8
Design buildings to maximise resources and minimising waste	4.14	0.782	-0.563	-0.278	10.480	163	0.000	9
Optimise resource use through efficient processes	4.13	0.684	-0.517	0.461	11.755	163	0.000	10
Introduce reverse logistics	4.12	0.569	0.013	0.010	13.857	163	0.000	11
Develop processes for remanufacturing products	4.10	0.841	-0.700	-0.085	9.194	163	0.000	12
Invest in technologies and infrastructure	4.09	0.713	-1.360	4.922	10.518	163	0.000	13
Encourage collaboration and partnerships	4.08	0.709	-0.741	1.107	10.461	163	0.000	14
Integrate eco-design principles into product development	4.07	0.705	-0.741	1.149	10.405	163	0.000	15
Increase education and awareness	4.06	0.707	-0.087	-0.978	10.167	163	0.000	16
Develop and promote circular design guidelines	3.90	0.838	-0.130	-0.930	6.151	163	0.000	17
Encourage product longevity through maintenance	3.90	0.764	0.178	-1.263	6.640	163	0.000	18
Encourage product and material traceability	3.87	0.693	-0.719	1.066	6.872	163	0.000	19
Provision of financial incentives and regulations	3.74	0.788	0.184	-0.840	3.963	163	0.000	20
Incorporate circular economy criteria into procurement processes	3.62	1.132	-0.664	-0.130	1.311	163	0.192	21
Establish efficient systems for the collection, sorting, and reprocessing	3.39	1.048	-0.450	-0.403	-1.341	163	0.182	22
Encourage the development of new business models	3.26	1.025	-0.152	-0.514	-3.047	163	0.003	23

Fable	3.	Mean	ranking	of the	strategies.
-------	----	------	---------	--------	-------------

passing the benchmark. These lower-rated strategies still demonstrated statistical significance, suggesting they are perceived as significant to a certain degree. Overall, these findings provide valuable insights into the highly valued and considered essential strategies for advancing circular economy principles in the construction sector, as well as the areas that could benefit from further attention and improvement.

4.4 Chi-square and Kruskal Wallis (one way ANOVA)

Table 4 presents the results of chi-square tests and Kruskal-Wallis tests conducted for the construction industry's different strategies related to the circular economy. The chi-square test evaluates the association between the strategies and the variables. In

Strategies	Chi-square	df	Asymp. Sig.	Kruskal- Wallis H	df	Asymp. sig.
Design for disassembly	106.683ª	3	0.000	2.593	4	0.628
Implement systems to recover and recycle construction materials	90.390^{a}	3	0.000	2.732	4	0.604
Prioritise the use of renewable and sustainable materials	38.207^{b}	2	0.000	2.781	4	0.595
Design buildings to maximise resources and minimising waste	70.390^{a}	3	0.000	2.926	4	0.570
Adopts off-site construction techniques	72.049 ^b	2	0.000	6.775	4	0.148
Proper demolition and deconstruction planning	98.195 ^a	3	0.000	6.143	4	0.189
Encourage collaboration and partnerships	126.000^{a}	3	0.000	3.441	4	0.487
Encourage product and material traceability	146.390 ^a	3	0.000	8.775	4	0.067
Increase education and awareness	21.415 ^b	2	0.000	3.323	4	0.505
Develop waste management and recycling facilities	96.098 ^a	3	0.000	6.731	4	0.151
Introduce reverse logistics	84.305 ^b	2	0.000	1.699	4	0.791
Provision of Financial incentives and regulations	62.780^{a}	3	0.000	4.968	4	0.291
Develop and promote circular design guidelines	46.244 ^a	3	0.000	2.440	4	0.655
Redesign products to be more durable	82.293 ^a	3	0.000	5.084	4	0.279
Optimise resource use through efficient processes	115.366 ^a	3	0.000	2.557	4	0.634
Encourage product longevity through maintenance	6.817 ^b	2	0.033	4.002	4	0.406
Invest in technologies and infrastructure	146.098^{a}	3	0.000	3.611	4	0.461
Develop financial instruments and incentives that support circular economy	101.024 ^a	3	0.000	7.275	4	0.122
Integrate eco-design principles into product development	128.829 ^a	3	0.000	3.376	4	0.497
Develop processes for remanufacturing products	61.902 ^a	3	0.000	8.080	4	0.089
Incorporate circular economy criteria into procurement processes	50.146°	4	0.000	31.703	4	0.528
Establish efficient systems for the collection, sorting, and reprocessing	62.585°	4	0.000	77.744	4	0.172
Encourage the development of new business models	55.024°	4	0.000	163.000	4	0.361

Table 4. Chi-Square and Kruskal Wallis.

contrast, the Kruskal-Wallis test compares the mean ranks of the strategies across different groups. The results show the test statistics, degrees of freedom (df), and the associated significance levels.

Analysing the chi-square test results, several strategies demonstrate a statistically significant association with the variables. For instance, strategies such as "Design for disassembly" (Chi-Square = 106.683, df = 3, p = 0.000), "Implement systems to recover and recycle construction materials" (Chi-Square = 90.390, df = 3, p = 0.000), and "Proper demolition and deconstruction planning" (Chi-Square = 98.195, df = 3, p = 0.000) show significant associations. This suggests that the perception of these strategies differs significantly across different groups.

Similarly, the Kruskal-Wallis test results indicate significant differences in mean ranks for various

strategies. Strategies such as "Adopts off-site construction techniques" (H = 6.775, df = 4, p = 0.148), "Encourage product and material traceability" (H = 8.775, df = 4, p = 0.067), and "Develop and promote circular design guidelines" (H = 8.080, df = 4, p = 0.089) exhibit relatively higher p-values, indicating a lack of statistically significant differences in mean ranks across different groups.

On the other hand, the strategies "Encourage the development of new business models" (H = 163.000, df = 4, p = 0.361) and "Establish efficient systems for the collection, sorting, and reprocessing" (H = 77.744, df = 4, p = 0.172) show higher test statistics and p-values, suggesting no significant differences in mean ranks among the strategies across different groups.

In summary, the results of the chi-square and

Kruskal-Wallis tests indicate significant associations and differences in mean ranks for several strategies related to the circular economy in the construction industry. These findings highlight the variations in perceptions and rankings of strategies among different groups, providing valuable insights for understanding the significance and effectiveness of these strategies in promoting circular economy practices within the industry. Since the respondents have similar opinions on the developed strategies, this could make the process of developing policies on CE easy and effective.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, this study has examined the perceived importance and effectiveness of various strategies related to the circular economy in the construction industry. The findings indicate that most strategies were perceived as essential and effective, with high mean ratings and statistical significance. The respondents particularly valued strategies such as waste management and recycling facilities, design for disassembly, and prioritising the use of renewable and sustainable materials. However, some strategies received comparatively lower ratings, indicating the need for further attention and improvement in their implementation.

The theoretical implication of this study lies in the concept of CE, emphasizing the shift from a linear "take-make-dispose" model to one that prioritizes resource efficiency, reduced waste, and sustainable practices. This study acknowledges the potential benefits of adopting circular economy principles in the construction industry, such as minimizing material waste, extending product lifecycles, and lowering environmental impacts. The practical implications of this research encompass the identification of context-specific strategies, policy recommendations, and stakeholder engagement methods that can facilitate the implementation of circular economy practices in Nigeria's construction sector. These insights can guide industry stakeholders, policymakers, and businesses towards fostering sustainable growth, reducing environmental burdens, and enhancing resource management within the construction industry. Further, the outcome of this study can further be implemented in other developing countries with similar characteristics as Nigeria.

The implications of this study are significant for policymakers, industry professionals, and stakeholders involved in the construction industry. The identified strategies can guide decision-making and resource allocation, enabling stakeholders to focus on the strategies highly valued and recognised by industry professionals. By prioritising these strategies, stakeholders can drive the adoption of circular economy principles, enhance resource efficiency, and reduce waste in construction practices. Furthermore, this study provides a foundation for future research in the field of circular economy in the construction industry. First, further investigation is needed to understand the barriers and challenges associated with implementing the identified strategies. Identifying and addressing these barriers will be crucial in facilitating the successful adoption and implementation of circular economy practices.

Future studies could explore the potential synergies and trade-offs between different strategies. Understanding the interdependencies and interactions among the strategies can provide valuable insights into the holistic implementation of circular economy principles in the construction industry. This will allow stakeholders to optimise their efforts and resources, ensuring a more integrated and practical approach to circularity. Longitudinal studies are warranted to assess the long-term impact of these strategies on key performance indicators, such as waste reduction, resource efficiency, and overall sustainability in the construction sector. By monitoring and evaluating the outcomes of the implemented strategies over time, stakeholders can gain a deeper understanding of their effectiveness and make informed decisions for continuous improvement. Lastly, future research could expand the scope of the study by including a broader range of participants from different regions and backgrounds. This would enhance the generalizability of the findings and provide a more comprehensive understanding of the perceptions and priorities related to the circular economy in the construction industry.

Authors Contribution

Abdullahi Idris—*Conceptualisation and Writ*ing.

Abdulkabir Opeyemi Bello—*Writing and Analysis.*

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest.

References

- Fagone, C., Santamicone, M., Villa, V., 2023. Architecture engineering and construction industrial framework for circular economy: Development of a circular construction site methodology. Sustainability. 15(3), 1813. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su15031813
- [2] Global Status Report for Buildings and Construction [Internet]. UNEP; 2021 [cited 2021 Oct 25]. Available from: http://www.unep.org/resources/report/2021-global-status-report-buildings-and-construction
- [3] Debrah, C., Chan, A.P., Darko, A., 2022. Artificial intelligence in green building. Automation in Construction. 137, 104192.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2022.104192
- [4] Monitoring of Solid Waste in Hong Kong. Waste Statistics for 2020 [Internet]. Environmental Protection Department, The Government of Hong Kong SAR; 2021. Available from: https:// www.wastereduction.gov.hk/sites/default/files/ msw2020.pdf
- [5] Islam, R., Nazifa, T.H., Yuniarto, A., et al., 2019. An empirical study of construction and demolition waste generation and implication of recycling. Waste Management. 95, 10-21.
- [6] González, A., Sendra, C., Herena, A., et al., 2021. Methodology to assess the circularity in building construction and refurbishment activities. Resources, Conservation & Recycling Ad-

vances. 12, 200051.

- [7] Towards a Circular Economy: Business Rationale for an Accelerated Transition [Internet]. Ellen MacArthur Foundation; 2015. Available at: https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/towardsthe-circular-economy-vol-1-an-economic-andbusiness-rationale-for-an
- [8] Hossain, M.U., Ng, S.T., Antwi-Afari, P., et al., 2020. Circular economy and the construction industry: Existing trends, challenges and prospective framework for sustainable construction. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 130, 109948.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.109948

[9] Hart, J., Adams, K., Giesekam, J., et al., 2019. Barriers and drivers in a circular economy: The case of the built environment. Procedia Cirp. 80, 619-624.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2018.12.015

- [10] Blomsma, F., Brennan, G., 2017. The emergence of circular economy: A new framing around prolonging resource productivity. Journal of Industrial Ecology. 21(3), 603-614.
- [11] Urain, I., Eguren, J.A., Justel, D., 2022. Development and validation of a tool for the integration of the circular economy in industrial companies: Case study of 30 companies. Journal of Cleaner Production. 370, 133318.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.133318
- [12] Tennakoon, G.A., Rameezdeen, R., Chileshe, N., 2022. Diverting demolition waste toward secondary markets through integrated reverse logistics supply chains: A systematic literature review. Waste Management & Research. 40(3), 274-293.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X211021478

[13] Ghisellini, P., Ji, X., Liu, G., et al., 2018. Evaluating the transition towards cleaner production in the construction and demolition sector of China: A review. Journal of Cleaner Production. 195, 418-434.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.05.084

[14]Bigolin, M., Danilevicz, Â.D.M.F., da Silva Filho, L.C.P., (editors), 2016. Sustainability requirements for concrete block elements based on recycled CDW: A case study for supporting social production in southern Brazil. 2016 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET); 2016 Sep 4-8; Honolulu, HI, USA. New York: IEEE. p. 2413-2419.

[15] Bouzon, M., Govindan, K., Rodriguez, C.M.T., 2015. Reducing the extraction of minerals: Reverse logistics in the machinery manufacturing industry sector in Brazil using ISM approach. Resources Policy. 46, 27-36.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2015.02.001

[16] Wijewansha, A.S., Tennakoon, G.A., Waidyasekara, K.G.A.S., et al., 2021. Implementation of circular economy principles during pre-construction stage: The case of Sri Lanka. Built Environment Project and Asset Management. 11(4), 750-766.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/BEPAM-04-2020-0072

- [17] Guerra, B.C., Leite, F., 2021. Circular economy in the construction industry: An overview of United States stakeholders' awareness, major challenges, and enablers. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 170, 105617. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.105617
- [18] Geissdoerfer, M., Savaget, P., Bocken, N.M., et al., 2017. The circular economy—A new sustainability paradigm? Journal of Cleaner Production. 143, 757-768.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.048
- [19] Charef, R., Morel, J.C., Rakhshan, K., 2021. Barriers to implementing the circular economy in the construction industry: A critical review. Sustainability. 13(23), 12989.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su132312989
- [20] Christensen, T.B., Johansen, M.R., Buchard, M.V., et al., 2022. Closing the material loops for construction and demolition waste: The circular economy on the island Bornholm, Denmark. Resources, Conservation & Recycling Advances. 15, 200104.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rcradv.2022.200104

[21] Munaro, M.R., Tavares, S.F., Bragança, L.,

2020. Towards circular and more sustainable buildings: A systematic literature review on the circular economy in the built environment. Journal of Cleaner Production. 260, 121134. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121134

- [22] Brändström, J., Eriksson, O., 2022. How circular is a value chain? Proposing a Material Efficiency Metric to evaluate business models. Journal of Cleaner Production. 342, 130973. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.130973
- [23] Švarc, J., Dabić, M., Lažnjak, J., 2022. Assessment of the European monitoring frameworks for circular economy: The case of Croatia. Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal. 33(2), 371-389.
- [24] Henrysson, M., Papageorgiou, A., Björklund, A., et al., 2022. Monitoring progress towards a circular economy in urban areas: An application of the European Union circular economy monitoring framework in Umeå municipality. Sustainable Cities and Society. 87, 104245. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2022.104245
- [25] Alberich, J.P., Pansera, M., Hartley, S., 2023. Understanding the EU's circular economy policies through futures of circularity. Journal of Cleaner Production. 385, 135723.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.135723
- [26] Bauwens, T., Hekkert, M., Kirchherr, J., 2020. Circular futures: What will they look like? Ecological Economics. 175, 106703.
- [27] Qu, D., Shevchenko, T., Saidani, M., et al., 2021. Transition towards a circular economy: The role of university assets in the implementation of a new model. Detritus. 17, 3-14.
- [28] Orr, D.W., 2002. Four challenges of sustainability. Conservation Biology. 16(6), 1457-1460.
- [29] Yu, Y., Junjan, V., Yazan, D.M., et al., 2022. A systematic literature review on Circular Economy implementation in the construction industry: A policy-making perspective. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 183, 106359.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106359
- [30]Zaman, A.U., Lehmann, S., 2013. The zero waste index: A performance measurement tool

for waste management systems in a 'zero waste city'. Journal of Cleaner Production. 50, 123-132.

- [31] Potocnik, J., Antonia, G., 2019. The World's Economy is Only 9% Circular. We Must Be Bolder about Saving Resources [Internet]. World Economic Forum. Available from: https://www. weforum.org/agenda/2019/11/economy-circular-recycling/
- [32] Solid Waste Master Plan: Review of Policy and Trends [Internet]. HDR Consulting, Dillon Consulting Limited, Love Environmental Inc., Robins Environmental; 2020. Available from: https://ehqproduction-canada.s3.ca-central-1.amazonaws. com/documents/attachments/f05fff54c60dff3434 21f0a617d0b642837451dc/000/033/067/original/ Technical Memorandum 4 Review of Policies and Trends.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKI A4KKNOAKIOR7VAOP4%2F20230822% 2Fca-central-1%2Fs3%2Faws4 request&X-Amz-Date=20230822T012803Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=eec8e0ff13cbd015d536af2018e04 1927e1a6319e32322cdf8f043f355f644b2
- [33] Stahel, W.R., 2016. The circular economy. Nature. 531(7595), 435-438.DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/531435a
- [34] Kaza, S., Yao, L., Bhada-Tata, P., et al., 2018.What a waste 2.0: A global snapshot of solid waste management to 2050. World Bank Publications: Washington, D.C.
- [35] Schools of Thought [Internet]. Ellen MacArthur Foundation; 2022 [cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: guides.co/g/mv5ue63s0a/165170
- [36] Bocken, N.M., De Pauw, I., Bakker, C., et al., 2016. Product design and business model strategies for a circular economy. Journal of Industrial and Production Engineering. 33(5), 308-320.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/21681015.2016.1172124
- [37] Lieder, M., Rashid, A., 2016. Towards circular economy implementation: A comprehensive review in context of manufacturing industry. Journal of Cleaner Production. 115, 36-51.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.12.042

- [38] Christensen, T.B., Hauggaard-Nielsen, H., 2020. Circular economy: Practices, knowledgebases and novelty. Journal of Transdisciplinary Environmental Studies. 18(1), 2-16.
- [39] Kirchherr, J., Reike, D., Hekkert, M., 2017. Conceptualizing the circular economy: An analysis of 114 definitions. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 127, 221-232.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.09.005
- [40] Pearce, D.W., Turner, R.K., Turner, R.K., 1990. Economics of natural resources and the environment. Johns Hopkins University Press: Baltimore.
- [41] Osei-Tutu, S., Ayarkwa, J., Osei-Asibey, D., et al., 2023. Barriers impeding circular economy (CE) uptake in the construction industry. Smart and Sustainable Built Environment. 12(4), 892-918.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/SASBE-03-2022-0049

- [42] Ghisellini, P., Cialani, C., Ulgiati, S., 2016. A review on circular economy: The expected transition to a balanced interplay of environmental and economic systems. Journal of Cleaner Production. 114, 11-32.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.09.007
- [43] Peiró, L.T., Polverini, D., Ardente, F., et al., 2020. Advances towards circular economy policies in the EU: The new Ecodesign regulation of enterprise servers. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 154, 104426.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104426

- [44] Vermeulen, W.J., Reike, D., Witjes, S., 2019. Circular Economy 3.0: Solving confusion around new conceptions of circularity by synthesising and re-organising the 3R's concept into a 10R hierarchy. Renewable Matter. 27, 12-15.
- [45] Potting, J., Hekkert, M.P., Worrell, E., et al., 2017. Circular economy: Measuring innovation in the product chain. PBL Publishers: The Hague.
- [46] Pomponi, F., Moncaster, A., 2017. Circular economy for the built environment: A research framework. Journal of Cleaner Production. 143, 710-718.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.055

[47] Mendoza, J.M.F., Gallego-Schmid, A., Azapagic, A., 2019. Building a business case for implementation of a circular economy in higher education institutions. Journal of Cleaner Production. 220, 553-567.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.02.045

[48] Mahpour, A., 2018. Prioritizing barriers to adopt circular economy in construction and demolition waste management. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 134, 216-227.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.01.026

[49] Aguilar-Hernandez, G.A., Sigüenza-Sanchez, C.P., Donati, F., et al., 2019. The circularity gap of nations: A multiregional analysis of waste generation, recovery, and stock depletion in 2011. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 151, 104452.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104452

- [50] Hopff, B., Nijhuis, S., Verhoef, L.A., 2019. New dimensions for circularity on campus—Framework for the application of circular principles in campus development. Sustainability. 11(3), 627. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su11030627
- [51] Guzzo, D., Trevisan, A.H., Echeveste, M., et al., 2019. Circular innovation framework: Verifying conceptual to practical decisions in sustainability-oriented product-service system cases. Sustainability. 11(12), 3248. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123248
- [52] Prendeville, S., Cherim, E., Bocken, N., 2018. Circular cities: Mapping six cities in transition. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions. 26, 171-194.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2017.03.002

- [53] Growth Within: A Circular Economy Vision for a Competitive Europe [Internet]. EMF, SUN, & Deutsche Post Foundation; 2015 [cited 2021 Apr 13]. Available from: https://www.ellenmacarthur foundation.org/assets/downloads/publications/ EllenMacArthurFoundation_Growth_Within_ July15.pdf
- [54] Superti, V., Houmani, C., Binder, C.R., 2021.

A systemic framework to categorize Circular Economy interventions: An application to the construction and demolition sector. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 173, 105711. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.105711

[55] Pinheiro, M.A.P., Seles, B.M.R.P., Fiorini, P.D.C., et al., 2018. The role of new product development in underpinning the circular economy: A systematic review and integrative framework. Management Decision. 57(4), 840-862.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-07-2018-0782

- [56] Bacova, M., Bohm, K., Guitton, M., et al., 2016. Pathways to a Circular Economy in Cities and Regions [Internet]. Available from: https://espon. public.lu/dam-assets/publications/policy-brief-oncircular-economy-final.pdf
- [57] Sutcliffe, T.E., Ortega Alvarado, I.A., 2021.
 Domesticating circular economy? An enquiry into Norwegian subnational authorities' process of implementing circularity. Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning. 23(6), 752-765.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X.2021.1910016

- [58] Burns, H., 2018. Thematic analysis: Transformative sustainability education. Journal of Transformative Education. 16(4), 277-279.
- [59] The Free Repair Guide for Everything written by Everyone [Internet]. iFixit; 2016. Available from: https://www.ifixit.com/
- [60] Nunes, B. T., Pollard, S. J., Burgess, P. J., et al., 2018. University contributions to the circular economy: Professing the hidden curriculum. Sustainability. 10(8), 2719.
- [61] Saunders, M., Lewis, P., Thornhill, A., 2016. Research methods for business students. Pearson: England.
- [62] Cresswell, J.W., 2009. Research design: Quantitative, qualitative and mixed methods approaches. Sage Publications: Los Angeles.
- [63] Kothari, C.R., 2004. Research methodology: Methods and techniques, 2nd revised edition. New Age International Limited Publishers: New Delhi.



Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research https://journals.bilpubgroup.com/index.php/jmser

ARTICLE

Companies' E-waste Estimation Based on General Equilibrium Theory Context and Random Forest Regression Algorithm in Cameroon: Case Study of SMEs Implementing ISO 14001:2015

Gilson Tekendo Djoukoue^{1*}⁽⁰⁾, Idriss Djiofack Teledjieu², Sijun Bai¹

¹ School of Management, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, 710072, China ² School of Artificial Intelligence, Xidian University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, 710071, China

ABSTRACT

Given the challenge of estimating or calculating quantities of waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE) in developing countries, this article focuses on predicting the WEEE generated by Cameroonian small and medium enterprises (SMEs) that are engaged in ISO 14001:2015 initiatives and consume electrical and electronic equipment (EEE) to enhance their performance and profitability. The methodology employed an exploratory approach involving the application of general equilibrium theory (GET) to contextualize the study and generate relevant parameters for deploying the random forest regression learning algorithm for predictions. Machine learning was applied to 80% of the samples for training, while simulation was conducted on the remaining 20% of samples based on quantities of EEE utilized over a specific period, utilization rates, repair rates, and average lifespans. The results demonstrate that the model's predicted values are significantly close to the actual quantities of generated WEEE, and the model's performance was evaluated using the mean squared error (MSE) and yielding satisfactory results. Based on this model, both companies and stakeholders can set realistic objectives for managing companies' WEEE, fostering sustainable socio-environmental practices.

Keywords: Electrical and electronic equipment (EEE); Waste from electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE); General equilibrium theory; Random forest regression algorithm; Decision-making; Cameroon

*CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

Gilson Tekendo Djoukoue, School of Management, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, 710072, China; Email: gilsonteky@gmail.com

ARTICLE INFO

Received: 29 July 2023 | Revised: 24 August 2023 | Accepted: 25 August 2023 | Published Online: 27 September 2023 DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5862

CITATION

Djoukoue, G.T., Teledjieu, I.D., Bai, S.J., 2023. Companies' E-waste Estimation Based on General Equilibrium Theory Context and Random Forest Regression Algorithm in Cameroon: Case Study of SMEs Implementing ISO 14001:2015. Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(2): 60-81. DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5862

COPYRIGHT

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). Published by Bilingual Publishing Group. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

1. Introduction

The best living conditions and guaranteed survival depend on a healthy environment. International policies are becoming increasingly responsible and protective of this environment. However, even if good living conditions are supported by the consumption of electrical and electronic equipment (EEE), WEEE creates a retarding effect to these efforts through its exponential growth, estimated at more than 1,400,000 Mega tons by 2023 ^[1], and its poorly controlled management in most developing countries.

African developing countries, in their race towards a numerical balance ^[2], are becoming WEEE dumping grounds as a result of cross-border movements combated by the Basel Convention ^[3]. The fight against WEEE is thus becoming an uphill battle, as second-hand or end-of-life EEE is easier to access. As the lifespan of these EEEs is almost over, they very quickly become WEEE and are abandoned in the environment to the benefit of informal recyclers. Through their dismantling and open-air incineration activities, informal recyclers become catalysts for environmental pollution ^[4].

The hazardous nature of WEEE no longer needs to be demonstrated, either for the environment or for health. The incineration of WEEE also causes air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions ^[5]. Incineration ash has a high concentration of metals such as Cu > Pb > Zn > Mn > Ni > Sb > Cr > Cd and contaminates between 10 and 30 cm of the earth's crust ^[6]. Rahul Rautela ^[7] emphasizes the polluting properties of informal recycling activities on soil, air, and water.

On the human side, some of the substances resulting from incineration such as PBDD/Fs (polybrominated dibenzo-p-dioxins) are lipophilic and can bioaccumulate through the food web in the human body ^[8]. Many studies also found connections with elevated rates of spontaneous abortions, premature births, and reduced birth weights due to backyard WEEE recycling ^[7].

On the economic and social front, there has been a strong expansion of informal recycling trades employing mainly young people; this means the creation of between 4,000 and 6,000 direct jobs ^[9] in sub-Saharan Africa with rudimentary remuneration ^[10]. Conversely, the treatment of e-waste allows for entrepreneurship, job creation, reuse, and refurbishment for the sale of cheap electronics, less waste, and the recovery of metals ^[9].

In Cameroon, like everywhere else, companies consume common EEE to support their core business, and for reasons of social responsibility and contribution to sustainable development are called upon to play their part in the production of WEEE. An EEE is defined as equipment operating using electric currents or electromagnetic fields, as well as the production, transfer, and measurement of these currents and fields, designed to be used at a voltage not exceeding 1000 volts in alternating current and 1500 volts in direct current ^[11], A waste is economically conceptualized as a product whose physical and financial flow have the same direction ^[12], it is defined as any residue from a production, transformation or use process; any substance or material produced; or, more generally, any movable or immovable property abandoned or intended for abandonment ^[13]. A joint order in Article 2 distinguishes waste electrical and household electronic appliances (WEHEA) from professional waste electrical and electronic equipment (PWEEE)^[11]. National waste management policy is oriented towards municipal solid waste collection, transport, and landfill^[14].

Several research studies interested in understanding the growth of WEEE have proposed methods for estimating and calculating the amount of WEEE generated at national, regional, and international levels. However, it is difficult to approve calculation methods and Vanessa Froti and all ^[15] think that determining the quantities of global WEEE is difficult due to a lack of harmonization on the definition of WEEE, the difficulty of measuring the flows of legal or illegal cross-border movements; elimination of WEEE in ordinary garbage cans and informal collection and recycling practices. Research studies attempting to estimate the quantities of WEEE in developing countries, especially in Africa, have always deplored the lack of a historical database. This is due to the lack of control over EEE imports, which is a legacy of cross-border movements ^[16,3], and the limited data available held by agencies and organizations ^[17].

As WEEE production is the result of EEE consumption, it would be interesting to start estimating or calculating the quantities of WEEE generated by these economic agents. Companies in developing countries are not insignificant when it comes to WEEE production. They use EEE to provide saleable products and services for profit. The question arises regarding how to estimate or calculate the WEEE companies produce.

Trying to answer this question, we're going to analyze the use made of EEE in companies, to understand the path it takes. This step is important if we are to understand the stages undergone by an item of EEE before it becomes WEEE. Since we're talking about companies, the consumption of EEE is objectified, i.e., their consumption patterns are not necessarily similar to those of households. With this in mind, we propose a set of contextual hypotheses based on general equilibrium theory (GET). This theory is widely used in economics to analyze the behavior of economic agents and to understand and anticipate certain economic phenomena and interactions at both macro and micro levels. Adapting this economic theory to our phenomenon will enable us to propose a model for calculating WEEE quantities that is close to the realities of business.

This paper proposes a model for calculating the amount of WEEE produced by companies, taking into account the economic context of the company and its performance objectives. Assumptions derived from Walrasian equilibrium by adaptation simplify the calculation context of WEEE and the random forest regression learning algorithm will be deployed for prediction. The method we use will be both qualitative and quantitative. Qualitative in order to determine the stages in the EEE's journey until it becomes WEEE, and quantitative for reasons of manipulation of the numerical data collected to quantify the WEEE produced.

This article will be structured as follows: Section

2 will present the state of the art in WEEE estimation and calculation, the applications of GET to WEEE management, and the random forest regression algorithm; Section 3 will present the methodology used in this research, which is a mixture of qualitative and quantitative approaches; Section 4 will present the results of applying the model; Section 5 will be devoted to discussions and recommendations; and Section 6 will provide a conclusion to this research.

2. Literature work

The existence of WEEE and its inordinate growth rate is a fact. Given the harmful nature of this type of waste, we're seeing a great deal of progress in WEEE research. Many researchers have focused on the hazardous components of WEEE, such as PVC in wire coatings and cables, di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), diisononyl phthalate (DINP), butylbenzyl phthalate (BBP), diisodecyl phthalate (DIDP) and dibutyl phthalate (DBP)^[18]. Informal recycling activities expose nature and life to substances such as PCBs and chlorinated materials^[19]; chlorobenzenes^[20], triphenyl phosphates (TPPs), cadmium sulphide^[21]; mercury, chromium, beryllium^[22].

Other research has highlighted environmental impacts such as high concentrations of heavy metals in soils ^[23] and vegetation ^[24]. Concentrations of manganese, nickel, and bismuth were respectively up to 4, 11, and 53 times higher in e-waste soils than in reference soils ^[25]; high concentrations of Cu, Pb, Zn, and Cr in some soil samples in Yaoundé, exceeding recommended thresholds ^[26].

Research has focused on human and socio-economic impacts. Toxins released into the environment accumulate in human tissues ^[27]; they have been found in e-waste workers ^[28], surrounding populations ^[29] and represent environmental risks ^[10]. Informal e-waste recycling is a major source of income for many poor urban communities ^[30]. E-waste management has economic benefits such as financial stability, job creation, and community cohesion ^[31]. These impacts, requiring an effective response, have led to the application of concepts such as reverse logistics and the circular economy.

More recent articles look at reverse logistics and the circular economy as tools for sustainable WEEE management. The concept of circular economy and its link with trade and highlighting their different interactions are presented ^[32]. 110,000 tons of e-waste were collected, of which 80% were recycled into useful materials and 17% were recovered energetically through the circular economy in Holland in 2016^[33]. The circular economy deployment model adopted by China and the challenges facing the country are highlighted ^[34]. A mathematical model for managing end-of-life electronics, considering multiple manufacturers and retailers for reverse logistics ^[35]. A focus on approaches such as recycling, the adoption of circular economy concepts, the formulation of appropriate policies, and the use of advanced computational techniques are discussed as effective ways of managing e-waste, with the possibility of recovering valuable and critical materials, as well as the use of machine learning for monitoring and processing such waste ^[36]. These techniques for clean, sustainable management of WEEE contribute to the SDGs, but will only be fully appreciated once the quantities of WEEE produced have been brought under control.

With regard to estimating or calculating WEEE, a number of research projects have been carried out at both national and regional levels, using different methods depending on data availability and the type of EEE. The table below summarizes the state of the art in this field.

This state-of-the-art estimation or calculation of WEEE (**Table 1**) indicates that calculation methods differ based on the approaches and available data for certain EEE. These methods possess the distinct feature of being grounded in mathematical techniques and tools of varying complexity, which might not be readily understandable for common readers or users. Furthermore, these studies are focused on the quantities of WEEE at national or regional scales. Engaging with scales of this nature might appear relevant due to the requirements and achieved outcomes. However, discrepancies between the predicted results and actual reality can be notable. This article adopts a "reverse" approach as it focuses on the consumption of EEE to propose a calculation method. The main producers of WEEE are economic agents such as households and businesses. SMEs use EEE to improve their activities and ultimately generate WEEE. In order to remain profitable and address environmental challenges, businesses need to manage EEE in a particular way, leading to potentially unique approaches to managing WEEE. Considering its economic specificity, we propose a calculation model for WEEE specific to the business context, drawing inspiration from general equilibrium theory (GET).

General equilibrium is an economic concept introduced by Léon Walras in his 1874 work, "Elements of Pure Economics or the Theory of Social Wealth". It aims to explain how prices are formed in markets by reducing the economic system to a model.

GET relies on three main characteristics ^[56]. Firstly, it is based on a system of interdependent variables representing quantities supplied and demanded in markets under certain price conditions. Secondly, it refers to the individual behaviors of economic agents. Rational individual choices are taken into account in the analysis, considering the constraints perceived by agents. The third characteristic of general equilibrium is that it relies on coordination through prices. Economic agents primarily coordinate through a system of prices that can be flexible, fixed, or partially fixed.

Any general equilibrium analysis explicitly or implicitly refers to these characteristics and takes a stance on each of them. Some research may emphasize certain characteristics, neglect them, or reserve them for other studies. The formalisms used to study general equilibrium are generally not directly transferable to other disciplines. However, the general idea of general equilibrium can be adapted to other fields of study by translating the characteristics according to the specific needs of each object of study in accordance with its extension principle.

The extension of GET to various research domains has allowed its application to the environment,

	Metho	ods																	
A	DRA	TSA	FM	EA	IOA	Meth	ods									GM	SD	MM	
Autnors					TS	MSN	1				SBM		MFA	PBM	SSLM	[- Country/region
						SD	DD	SM	СМ	A2	SLM	C&U							-
Zeng et al. [37]													Х						China
Duman et al. [38]																х			Washington
Islam and Huda ^[39]							х												Australia
Ravindra and Mor ^[40]												х							Chandigarh e India
Awasthi et al. ^[41]				х															European Countries
Tran et al. ^[42]											х								Vietnam
Pengwei et al. [43]							х												China
Babayemi et al. ^[44]													х						Nigeria
Guo and Yan ^[45]														Х					China
Gomes et al. [46]	х																		Brazil
Kumar et al. ^[47]				х															Global
Kusch and Hills ^[48]				х															European Countries
Parajuly et al. [49]							х												Denmark
Dasgupta et al. ^[50]																	х		India
Hamouda et al. [51]											х								Algeria
Ikhlayel [52]					х	х	х			х		х							Jordan
Petridis et al. ^[53]							х		х										Global
Cao et al. ^[54]						х		х				х							China
Neto et al. ^[55]		х					х												Brazil

Table 1. Overview of existing methods for estimating or calculating WEEE.

Note: Method (group): DRA—Disposal Related Analysis; TSA—Time Series Analysis; FM—Factor Model; EA—Econometric Analysis; IOA—Input-Output Analysis; IOA methods: TS—Time Step method; MSM—Market supply method; SM—Simple Delay; DD—Distribution Delay; SM—Stanford Method; CM—Carnegie Mellon Method; A2—Approximation 2 method; SBM—Stock-Based Model; SLM—Stock Lifespan Model; C & U—Consumption and Use method; MFA—Material Flow Analysis; PBM—Population Balance model; SSLM—Sales stocks and lifetime model; GM—Grey Model; SD—System Dynamics; MM—Mathematical Model.

specifically in the management of WEEE. Plambeck and Wang ^[57] highlight the importance of striking a balance between WEEE reduction and promoting sustainability in the electronics industry through regulations based on "purchase tax" and "disposal tax" and their impacts. Wakolbinger et al. ^[58] examine the influence of technical, commercial, and legislative factors on WEEE management and demonstrate the importance of the interaction between the supply and demand of precious materials in policy decisions.

Authors have focused on the WEEE supply chain and recycling, leading to the formulation of a variational inequality model used to obtain material flows and prices in a multi-level electric bicycle network, along with an algorithm for analyzing qualitative properties of the equilibrium model ^[59]. Another model analyzes a Cournot pricing game between manufacturers and consumer markets, offering interesting perspectives ^[60].

Research has examined the impact of government subsidies on recycled material flows in a decentralized reverse supply chain through an equilibrium model, revealing that the optimal allocation of subsidies to laptop collectors significantly increases the total quantity of recycled materials collected ^[61]. The allocation to transformers has a significant impact on equilibrium quantities and subsidy efficiency ^[62].

One study proposes an advanced computable general equilibrium analysis at the country level to assess the impacts and adaptations related to climate change. It focuses on Egypt and simulates the effects of climate change on consumption, investment, and income until 2050. The results indicate that, in the absence of adaptation investments, Egypt's real GDP could decrease by 6.5% by 2050, but adaptation measures could reduce this loss to around 2.6% ^[63].

GET is widely used to analyze the impacts of parameter variations on certain phenomena. However, few authors have drawn inspiration from General Equilibrium Theory to estimate the quantities of waste generated. Yuzuru Miyata ^[64] is one such author who constructed a computable general equilibrium (CGE) model to analyze the interaction between waste disposal/treatment and the economy in the

city of Hokkaido in 1985. The model incorporates waste production and treatment for both businesses and households. The effects of waste pricing, promotion of recycling, and other factors on the economy, including income, prices, and well-being, are examined by applying the model ^[64].

Given that our study focuses on a specific economic agent, namely the enterprise, it is highly appropriate to provide context for this research. The challenges faced by businesses are certainly different from those of other EEE consumers. They need to optimize their investment returns and exhibit rational behavior. Thus, GET serves as the theoretical foundation that aligns with our research objectives.

The main objective of this article is to estimate or predict the quantities of WEEE. After simplifying our study context using GET, we will apply our data to a learning process. Our approach involves using a machine learning algorithm to estimate WEEE production.

Machine learning and its ability to solve problems in various domains have made it increasingly popular through its algorithmic solutions ^[65]. There are several learning algorithms available, including linear regression, support vector machines, decision tree classifiers, random forest regression, and neural networks ^[66]. In line with our need to quantify WEEE, the random forest regression algorithm will be our estimation algorithm.

Indeed, there are several regression methods such as linear regression, decision tree regression, gradient boosting regression, and random forest regression. Our choice is oriented toward Random Forest Regression due to its effectiveness in ensemble learning, where multiple decision trees are combined to make predictions ^[67]. This method has gained popularity owing to its ability to handle both categorical and numerical features, effectively capturing complex patterns and interactions. The algorithm offers the following key advantages:

1) Versatility: Random forest regression can accommodate various types of data, making it suitable for datasets with a mixture of feature types. And doesn't mean that the more trees, the better the prediction.

2) Non-linear relationships: It has the capability to capture non-linear relationships between variables, allowing it to model complex data patterns effectively.

3) Robustness: Random forest regression addresses the issue of overfitting by aggregating predictions from multiple decision trees, thereby reducing individual tree biases.

These characteristics make random forest regression a suitable choice for estimating the amount of electronic waste generated by SMEs in developing countries. By considering the diverse nature of the data and capturing complex relationships, this method can provide reliable and accurate estimates for waste management planning and policy-making.

What makes this article innovative is its approach of moving from the specific to the general. In other words, it proposes a calculation model that is applicable to individual economic agents and can be generalized to multiple enterprises. From another perspective, this study takes into account the realities of the economic agents under investigation, in the truest sense of the term, and closely relates to the life cycle of EEE within enterprises. Lastly, the main innovation lies in the fact that the random forest regression algorithm is deployed for the calculation of the quantities of generated WEEE will be based on relevant parameters of EEE usage.

3. Research methodology

3.1 Area of study

In this study, the city of Douala in Cameroon was chosen as the place of study. It is located on the edge of the Atlantic Ocean, at the bottom of the Gulf of Guinea, and at the mouth of the Wouri River^[68]. Given its openness to sea lanes for both Cameroon and countries of the Central African sub-region, it constitutes a geographically strategic location for the establishment of businesses. According to the National Institute of Statistics of Cameroon^[69], this justifies the presence of 41.4% of modern enterprises (in the formal sector and producing a DSF) installed in

the city of Douala in 2018. Our study was carried out in Cameroon, by its recognized status as a developing country and, more specifically, with ISO 14001: 2015-certified small and medium-sized companies in the economic capital Douala.

3.2 Data collection tools

In the first part of our structured interview guide, we were only able to obtain limited data, such as those necessary for calculating the rates related to the maintenance of EEE. The most significant rates included their repair rate, utilization rate, and average lifespan of the EEE.

The main input data for the model, specifically the quantities of available EEE within the company, were obtained through the review of the financial statements for the year 2021. The EEE selected for our analysis is based on their significance as support for the company's core activities and their representation across various industry sectors. These include "Phones", "Laptops", "Desktops" and "Air conditioners".

3.3 Sampling

For the sake of representativeness, our sample consisted of specific organizations based in the city of Douala. This choice was made due to Douala being Cameroon's economic pool. Companies are more diverse there than in other cities in the country. Our sampling technique was theoretical, as it selects participants according to a rationale based on the concepts that emerge during a study. The relevance of our sample stems from the fact that the people with whom we spoke were authorized managers and responsible for strategic or operational IT maintenance. Given that our study was carried out during the COVID-19 period, the accessibility and administration of an interview guide to collect qualitative and quantitative data proved to be more complicated in companies; hence, we eventually obtained a reduced number of samples.

The guide was drawn up in a detailed manner, in order to not deviate from the orientations that we have given ourselves around the following themes: general information about the company, general information on EEE and WEEE, company culture in WEEE material, and their EA (Environmental Aspects), regulatory and normative knowledge in terms of WEEEM (WEEE Management), controls and measures to prevent and fight against WEEE, and potential difficulties related to WEEEM.

3.4 Contextual hypothesis

1) The market for Electrical and Electronic Equipment (EEE) remains unsaturated, allowing for continued access to new EEE. The EEE available in the market is in excellent condition without any defects.

2) Equilibrium is achieved when the total quantity of EEE within the company is equal to the quantity of WEEE generated by the company. Factors such as utilization rate, lifespan, and repair rate contribute to the transformation of EEE into WEEE.

3) The company adopts a rational approach and optimizes the performance of its EEE. The decision to purchase EEE is based on forecasts of the generated WEEE. Emphasis is placed on the utilization rate, maintenance, and lifespan of the equipment to maximize efficiency.

- Utilization rate represents the actual usage of the devices relative to the predicted usage, indicating how the devices are used in practice.

- Lifespan refers to the average operational lifetime of the EEE, with average values considered for each type of equipment.

- Maintenance encompasses the maintainability of the EEE, focusing on actions such as repair, leading to the repair rate.

4) The company is environmentally conscious and aligns with the sustainable development goals (SDGs). It adheres to environmental laws and regulations by implementing appropriate practices for the management of its WEEE. The company actively contributes to sustainable development and environmental preservation.

3.5 Data analysis tools

Our analysis of the data for this initial survey category was conducted in two stages. The data were categorized into two groups based on their nature. Qualitative data was identified as relevant parameters impacting the life of Electrical and Electronic Equipment (EEE) in a business context. Quantitative data was utilized to construct data tables for each company.

The development of a machine learning algorithm using the Python programming language, based on the random forest regression method, enabled us to estimate the quantities of Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) that could be generated over a one-year period.

3.6 Preliminary data processing

To begin with, we needed to simplify the expressions of relevant parameters influencing the life cycle of EEE in the business context.

The first parameter is the lifespan of the EEE. In this research, we have adopted the average lifespan of EEE based on existing studies, as in reality, these values are relatively consistent.

The second parameter is the utilization rate of the EEE. This is a performance indicator used by our sample companies. It is calculated by dividing the total duration of EEE usage by its maximum intended usage duration.

The third parameter is the repair rate of the EEE. All the companies in our sample prioritize the repair of EEE experiencing failures, which is also a performance indicator. It is highly regarded by our sample companies and is calculated as the ratio of the total duration of EEE interruption due to failures to the total number of interruptions for failure-related reasons (see **Table 2**).

3.7 WEEE estimation algorithm

To estimate the quantities of WEEE that can be generated over a one-year period, we developed an estimation algorithm based on the random forest

Parameters	Mathematical expression	Observations						
Lifespan (L)	L = Literature review average lifespan for each device	/						
Using rate (U)	U = $(\sum u_{i'} u_{max}) \ge 100$ UI = using time, u_{max} = maximum using time,	Rates are determined annually for each type of EEE by the						
Repair rate (R)	$R = (\sum r_i / N_i) \ge 100$ r_i = interruption duration, N_i = number of failures	company						

Table 2. Formula of parameters calculation.

regression method implemented in the Python programming language.

Here is an overview of the steps involved in the algorithm:

Step 1. Data collection: We gathered relevant data, including qualitative parameters impacting the life of EEE in the company and quantitative data used to construct data tables for each company.

Step 2. Data preprocessing: We simplified the expressions of the relevant parameters influencing the EEE lifecycle in the business context, such as the lifespan of EEE, utilization rate, and repair rate. This involved normalizing and transforming the data to ensure compatibility.

Step 3. Setting program: 1-Input Data

Let Dn = ((Ei, Xi), ..., (En, Xn)) be the training set, where Ei is an input vector representing parameters such as the quantity of WEEE, utilization rate (U), repair rate (R), mean lifespan (L), and Xi is the corresponding amount of generated WEEE over a given period (see **Table 3**).

2-Random forest training: To train the random forest regression model, we follow the following steps:

- Tree construction: We create a set of M random

regression trees, where M is the number of trees in the forest (we can let M approach infinity for better performance).

- Resampling: Before constructing each tree, we resample the training set D_n using a random variable Θ to obtain a new data sample D_n^(Θ j) for each tree Θ j.

- Node splitting: At each node of the tree, we randomly select m_tree directions from the input parameters E to perform a split according to the CART (Classification and Regression Trees) criterion.

- Tree Construction: We build the tree by performing successive splits until each cell (node) contains fewer data points than node size (see **Figure 1**).

Step 4. Model Training: Using the random forest regression method, we trained the algorithm on the preprocessed data. Random forest regression is a machine learning technique that constructs an ensemble of decision trees and combines their predictions to generate accurate estimates.

Step 5. Feature importance analysis: We performed a feature importance analysis to identify the parameters that have the most significant impact on the quantities of generated WEEE. This analysis helps in understanding the key factors driving WEEE

	Company (C _{1,,8})			
	Phones	Desktops	Laptops	Air conditioners
EEE quantity (E ⁿ)	$E_{1,1}^{n}, \ldots, E_{1,8}^{n}$	$E_{2,1}^{n}{}_{;\ldots;}E_{2,8}^{n}$	$E_{3,1}^{n}$;; $E_{3,8}^{n}$	$E_{4,1}^{\ n}, \ldots, E_{4,8}^{\ n}$
Using rate (U)	$U_{1,1}{}^{n}{}_{;\ldots;}U_{1,8}{}^{n}$	$U_{2,1}{}^n{}_;;U_{2,8}{}^n$	$U_{3,1}{}^n{}_;{};U_{3,8}{}^n$	$U_{4,1}{}^n{}_;;U_{4,8}{}^n$
Repair rate (R)	$R_{1,1}{}^{n}{}_{;\ldots;}R_{1,8}{}^{n}$	$R_{2,1}^{n}$,, $R_{2,8}^{n}$	$R_{3,1}^{n}{}_{;\ldots;}^{n}R_{3,8}^{n}$	$R_{4,1}{}^n{}_;;R_{4,8}{}^n$
Lifespan (L)	L_1	L ₂	L_3	L_4
WEEE generated quantities (n+1)	$X_{1,1}^{n+1};; X_{1,8}^{n+1}$	$X_{2,1}^{n+1}$;; $X_{2,8}^{n+1}$	$X_{3,1}^{n+1}$;; $X_{3,8}^{n+1}$	$X_{4,1}^{n+1}$;; $X_{4,8}^{n+1}$

Table 3. Tabular representation of data organization.


Figure 1. Random forest trees for an SME.

generation.

Step 6. Estimation of generated WEEE quantity: Once we have trained the ensemble of M trees, we can use the model to estimate the quantity of WEEE generated for new input data Xi, i.e., for new combinations of input parameters. The estimation of the generated WEEE quantity for an input vector Ei is given by:

m_(M,n) (Ei; Θ_1 ,..., Θ_M ,Dn) = 1/M $\sum_{j=1}^{j=1}^{M}$ (1_(Ei \in An (Ei; Θ_j ,Dn)) Xi)/(Nn (Ei; Θ_j ,Dn)); where An (Ei; Θ_j , Dn) is the cell containing the input vector Ei in tree Θ_j , and Nn (Ei; Θ_j , Dn) is the number of data points (parameters) previously se-

-Final Prediction:

lected and falling into that cell.

To predict the quantity of WEEE generated over a given period for a company, we take the average of the estimations for each input vector Ei:

 $m_{-}(\infty,n)$ (Ei;Dn) = E_ Θ [m_(M,n) (Ei; Θ , Dn)]; where E_ Θ represents the expectation with respect to the random parameter Θ , conditioned on Dn. This represents the final prediction of the quantity of WEEE generated for a given company using the random forest regression model.

By using the trained algorithm, we applied it to the input data, which includes the quantities of EEE available in the company. The algorithm utilizes the identified parameters and their relationships to generate estimates of WEEE quantities for a one-year period. This was made possible by training on 80% of the data and using the remaining 20% for simulation purposes.

Step 7. Evaluation and validation: We assessed the accuracy and reliability of the generated estimates by comparing them to real data or conducting validation experiments. The mean squared error (MSE) was the most suitable scientific tool for this procedure as it is highly recommended for regression programs. This step ensured the effectiveness of the estimation algorithm.

4. Result analysis

This research follows a quantitative paradigm primarily because it utilizes quantitative data obtained from literature reviews, documentary research, and observations conducted on our samples. The definition of the study context using GET and the algorithmic programming of an estimation model through the Python programming language has led us to results that closely approximate reality.

The methodological result of our scientific approach is shown in **Figure 2** below.



Figure 2. Research flowchart.

4.1 Qualitative results

The qualitative results of this approach allow us to identify the relevant parameters that describe the lifecycle of an EEE within companies. It emerges that, in the majority of cases, EEE devices have a certain average lifespan that is more or less known. The manner in which they are utilized significantly influences their fate, thus necessitating consideration of their utilization rate. Typically, before being permanently taken out of service, they undergo several repairs aimed at maintaining their operational status, which justifies the relevance of the repair rate. Figure 3 represents the EEE using process. Furthermore, the relevance of the selected parameters is based on the fact that our sample SMEs have identified these three parameters as their main indicators for assessing and evaluating their EEE.

4.2 Quantitative results

As mentioned in our methodological approach, a crucial step was to develop and deploy the machine learning code that would correspond to our prediction problem, namely the random forest regression algorithm. The learning phase was conducted using 80% of the data, representing N = 8 companies from our sample. The remaining 20% served as a performance test for the regression model.

The training data used are summarized in **Table 4** below:

After machine learning by the algorithm, we proceeded to analyze the performance of our prediction. The performance of a regression model generally expresses the reliability of its application in terms of the quality of its prediction results. A good prediction should provide values close to reality. Our chosen performance indicator for this model was the mean



Figure 3. Flowchart of EEE using process.

	Company (C _{1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7,8})				
	Phones Desktops Lapto		Laptops	Air condi- tioners	
EEE quantity (E ²⁰²⁰)	10, 15, 10, 21, 43, 12, 13, 4	13, 15, 8, 27, 11, 10, 10, 0	6, 8, 8, 12, 22, 2, 2, 4	8, 5, 4, 15, 9, 31, 32, 1	
Using rate (U)	0.9, 0.9, 0.8, 0.7, 0.55, 0.7, 0.7, 0.6	0.9, 0.92, 0.9, 0.8, 0.7, 0.95, 0.95, 0.0	0.9, 0.89, 0.8, 0.75, 0.85, 0.7, 0.7, 0.7	0.8, 0.6, 0.7, 0.8, 0.9, 0.9, 0.6, 0.85	
Repair rate (R)	0.0, 0.3, 0.35, 0.2, 0.2, 0.1, 0.15, 0.2	0.6, 0.7, 0.6, 0.6, 0.6, 0.15, 0.15, 0.0	$\begin{array}{c} 0.7, 0.6, \\ 0.4, 0.4, \\ 0.5, 0.2, \\ 0.25, 0.4 \end{array}$	0.8, 0.8, 0.8, 0.8, 0.85, 0.1, 0.1, 0.23	
Lifespan (L)	3	10.36	5.066	12.3	
WEEE generated quantities ⁽²⁰²¹⁾	4, 3, 2, 6, 8, 3, 1, 1	3, 2, 2, 3, 2, 1, 0, 0	1, 1, 1, 2, 3, 0, 0, 0	1, 1, 0, 3, 1, 0, 1, 0	

Table 4. Tabular representation of data organization.

squared error (MSE). Its application to our study yielded an MSE ranging from 0 to 0.9 for each of the studied EEE. **Figure 4** below provides a graphical representation of this performance evaluation.

This figure highlights the MSE as a measure of error evaluating the performance of our model. The values range from 0.3 to 0.8, indicating a discrepancy between the predictions and the actual data. This discrepancy, for us, is an area for improvement, but it remains close to the reality of our sample companies. Improving this performance would likely involve a much larger dataset, which would facilitate the algorithm's learning process and bring the predicted results even closer to reality.

The simulation of our model was conducted using data obtained from two explored companies. The results of the simulation are as follows:



Figure 4. Graph of predicting performance.

Tables 5 and 6 allow us to formulate the following interpretation: For each of the companies, the deployed algorithmic model can predict the quantities of WEEE they are likely to generate. Based on the EEE used by these companies during the year 2020, along with their respective utilization rates, repair rates, and average lifespan of the studied EEE, the algorithm provided us with quantities of WEEE produced in 2021 that are very close to the actual values, with decimal differences. For example, in company 9, the algorithm estimated 3.59 waste phones, and the actual number was 4 waste phones. In companies 9 and 10, we observed 2 and 3 desktops, respectively, as waste produced in 2021, and the model predicted 3.59 and 3.55 desktops as waste for the same year.

A graphical representation of the prediction results (**Figure 5**) clearly reveals the proximity between the actual quantities of WEEE generated by types of EEE in 2021 and the predicted quantities of WEEE for the same year.

A graphical synthesis of both prediction results and reality provides a better understanding of the discrepancies between them.

Figure 6 clearly suggests some confusion between the units of predicted quantities of WEEE

	Table 5. Predicted I	2-waste quantities from C	Company 9.	
	Company (C ₉)			
	Phones	Desktops	Laptops	Air conditioners
EEE quantity (E ²⁰²⁰)	16	10	6	3
Using rate (U)	0,7	0,8	0,75	0,85
Repair rate (R)	0,22	0,6	0,4	0,8
Lifespan (L)	3	10,36	5,066	12,3
WEEE generated quantities (2021)	4	2	1	1
WEEE predicted quantities (2021)	3.59	2.21	0.92	0.74

. ...

Table 6. Predicted	l E-waste	quantities	from	Company	10.
--------------------	-----------	------------	------	---------	-----

	Company (C ₁₀)			
	Phones	Desktops	Laptops	Air conditioners
EEE quantity (E ²⁰²⁰)	22	17	5	7
Using rate (U)	0,8	0,9	0,8	0,75
Repair rate (R)	0,3	0,5	0,4	0,6
Lifespan (L)	3	10,36	5,066	12,3
WEEE generated quantities (2021)	4	3	1	1
WEEE predicted quantities (2021)	3.55	2.51	0.91	0.81



Figure 5. Graph of predicted and actual WEEE.

and the actual quantities produced for each of the studied EEE. This, in turn, confirms the performance of the prediction model. The visible prediction errors underscore the need for a larger dataset to refine the algorithm's learning process and, consequently, enhance its precision.

We can have an idea of the quantities of WEEE for the year 2022 if we obtain data regarding the quantities of EEE used by these organizations in 2021, as well as the parameter values related to factors such as lifespan, utilization rate, and repair rate for that specific year.



Figure 6. Synthetic graph of predicted and actual WEEE.

5. Discussion

This study allowed us to delve into the behavior of a specific type of economic agent, namely businesses, in Cameroon (a developing country). More specifically, we analyzed and highlighted the trajectory of EEE within the context of SMEs. The results led us to understand that the transformation of EEE into WEEE is influenced not only by its lifespan but also by its utilization rate and repair rate.

The method of calculating or estimating the quantities of generated WEEE appears better suited through the automated algorithmic learning technique based on random forest regression, provided accurate data is available. Given that businesses operate continuously, no organizational year goes by without the production of WEEE.

In comparison to existing works, conducting a direct comparative study is challenging due to the fact that the pre-existing works do not adhere to the same ideological approach as ours. Our approach quantifies WEEE among end consumers and aims to generalize it to find aggregated values over a specific period. The advantage of this approach lies in the fact that end consumers almost always have data on the EEE in use or consumed, and the main difficulty could be accessing this data. Conversely, other prediction approaches require considerable amounts of data, which might not always be available or need to be constructed.

Moreover, this study's strength lies in describing the journey of EEE in its context and considering the factors influencing their transformation into WEEE. This seems rare since existing works that share similar perspectives mainly consider the lifespan of EEE and/or planned obsolescence.

Regarding the calculation method, existing works propose statistical techniques and tools of varying complexity, which might not be easily reproducible for common users. In contrast, in our case, once the algorithm is available and well-trained, having input data is sufficient to generate results. The proposed prediction method is practical, accessible, and does not require statistical prerequisites from users.

One common aspect shared with other research might be that the method's performance is better demonstrated with larger datasets. However, considering the performance results of our method, having a large dataset might be necessary but not sufficient.

In conclusion, this discussion of the results highlights the practical, reproducible, and performance-driven nature of the proposed method.

5.1 Recommendations

It is no longer necessary to provide a historical overview of estimation methods used by researchers to calculate the quantities of WEEE. This research proposes a new approach to estimation methods that can be generalized to consumers of the same nature. Furthermore, the application of this method can be extended to any type of EEE consumer, provided that the specificity of parameters related to their transformation into WEEE is taken into account. In the past, calculation methods appeared complex, and data availability was limited. With this approach, the only remaining challenge lies in the availability of data.

5.2 Managerial implication

In practice, managing without measurement is merely blind action and management entails forecasting, organizing, directing, and controlling. This research proposes a tool for predicting the quantities of WEEE that will be produced by companies. It would serve the organization itself in assessing and revising its WEEE management strategy, setting reasonable targets to minimize its environmental footprint.

The potential benefits of this research for businesses are as follows:

- Informed decision-making: With a reliable model for estimating WEEE, businesses will be able to make more informed decisions regarding their electronic waste management policies. This may include waste reduction strategies, choices of recycling or revalorization options, and more relevant investments in sustainable WEEE management.

- Financial planning: By having a more accurate estimation of generated electronic waste, businesses can better plan for waste management costs and forecast future expenses. Considering that Cameroonian law on hazardous waste from businesses (referred to as PWEEE) places the responsibility for their evacuation, treatment, and disposal on the users and mandates that it must be done by approved service providers, this can lead to improved financial management and more efficient resource utilization in the near future.

- Compliance with regulations: Electronic waste management is subject to strict environmental laws in many countries. In the Cameroonian context, though the legislative framework for WEEE exists, its implementation suffers from infrastructure and rigorous monitoring insufficiencies. A reliable estimation model can help businesses comply with legal requirements regarding WEEE management.

- Social responsibility and brand image: Implementing responsible WEEE management can enhance a company's brand image by demonstrating its commitment to sustainability and the environment. This demonstration becomes more significant when backed by quantifiable forecasted objectives. A WEEE prediction model provides a forecast basis for the quantities of WEEE against which quantified and budgeted management practices and objectives can be aligned.

This research can bring significant advantages to businesses by improving their WEEE management. It can enable better financial planning, compliance with environmental regulations, and enhance their social responsibility and brand image. These improvements can contribute to the overall sustainability of businesses and their positive impact on the environment.

The potential benefits of this research at the governmental level are as follows:

- Waste management policies: By providing reliable estimates of the quantity of WEEE generated by businesses, this research can assist governments in developing more targeted and effective waste management policies. These policies may include incentives to encourage WEEE recycling and revalorization, as well as regulations to control and reduce electronic waste.

- Planning and resource allocation: Accurate estimates of WEEE produced by businesses will enable governments to better plan and allocate their resources for waste management. This may involve establishing collection infrastructures, recycling centers, and appropriate disposal sites.

- Monitoring environmental compliance: With a WEEE estimation model, governments can better monitor and assess businesses' compliance with environmental regulations regarding electronic waste management. This will allow corrective actions to be taken in case of non-compliance and ensure responsible WEEE management.

- Business and public awareness: The results of this research can be used to raise awareness among businesses and the public about issues related to electronic waste and the importance of proper management. Increased awareness can lead to more active participation by businesses and citizens in WEEE management.

- Collaboration with businesses: Accurate estimates of WEEE produced by businesses can facilitate collaboration between governments and companies to find effective and sustainable solutions for electronic waste management. Public-private partnerships can be encouraged to promote responsible WEEE management.

Overall, this research can have significant implications for governmental waste management strategies, resource planning, environmental compliance monitoring, awareness campaigns, and collaborative efforts with businesses to address the challenges posed by electronic waste.

By this research, governments would have a means to predict the quantities of WEEE generated by companies, contributing to the development of an effective national strategy for short, medium, and long-term WEEE management. It also serves as a control tool for monitoring the fate of WEEE.

The environmental, health, and social impacts of the rapid growth of WEEE in developing countries are undeniable. This research provides a quantified barometer for awareness programs emphasizing the importance of implementing responsible WEEE management practices to minimize their environmental impacts.

From the perspective of environmental regulations, this work offers targeted guidance on environmental objectives regarding WEEE production by companies. The choices and adoption of rules can be realistic and context-appropriate.

Additionally, a precise estimation of the quantities of generated WEEE serves as a data source for business opportunity analysis and can facilitate the commitment to invest in the eco-friendly treatment industry of WEEE.

5.3 Research limits

This study has certain limitations that should be taken into account. Firstly, the accurate estimation of WEEE produced by companies can be challenging due to the accessibility of reliable data. Companies have the particularity that all inputs are recorded in their financial documents, but they may not be readily available to the public.

This research may not have considered certain aspects related to EEE, such as their nature at the time of purchase, as companies may acquire second-hand EEE. An approach that incorporates cost-based estimation, such as the costs of purchasing EEE, maintenance costs, and/or EEE productivity, could have been included in the predictive analysis. The redefinition of WEEE, where declared WEEE may still be usable for another entity, could also influence the prediction results.

This work was conducted with a small sample size, totalling 10 companies, which may be considered less statistically significant for some researchers. Thus, there is room for further research that provides sufficient data to refine the trend of WEEE quantities produced.

Another limitation of this article is that the predictions are only feasible in the short term (1 year). It would be possible to make estimations for the medium and long term by aggregating predictions over multiple years. Additionally, it could be proposed for the algorithm to learn and make predictions for the medium and long term by incorporating parameter values corresponding to these time periods.

6. Conclusions

The field of management remains a complex area of study as it typically involves multiple disciplines. Our endeavor was to calculate or estimate the quantities of WEEE produced by companies. A review of the literature presented several studies with a similar objective. Each study distinguished itself by the chosen estimation method based on data availability and size. These studies primarily focused on larger scales of analysis. In contrast, our study concentrated on the sources of WEEE production and conducted research on the consumption of EEE by ISO 14001:2015 certified SMEs in the economic capital of Cameroon. It was found that the transformation of EEE into WEEE is influenced during consumption by parameters such as average lifespan, utilization rate, and maintenance, often expressed through repair rates. General Equilibrium Theory enabled us to contextualize and simplify this qualitative analysis while adhering to the paradigm of our population.

We needed to adopt an estimation method that was user-friendly, efficient, and up-to-date. Hence, our choice fell on the random forest regression machine learning algorithm. After developing the code using the Python programming language, data deployment was carried out through machine learning. 80% of our collected data was used for the algorithm to learn and generate predictive values of WEEE for one year. The remaining 20% of our collected data, representing data from two companies, served as a simulation, and the discrepancies were found to be insignificant. The performance test of our algorithmic model using the MSE method yielded values ranging from 0.3 to 0.8, indicating promising performance.

The significant contribution of this research lies in its hybrid methodology. Our study combined classical research methods with artificial intelligence through a learning algorithm to estimate the quantities of WEEE produced. Moreover, the application of GET established the foundation of this research and simplified the research context without losing sight of the fundamental objectives of our study population. The relevance of this research is that it provides the scientific community with an easy method for calculating or estimating WEEE, thereby resolving difficulties associated with calculation methods and shifting focus to data availability and accessibility issues.

This work represents a relevant management tool for organizations and institutions. By applying this

method, organizations and companies have a kind of barometer that allows them to anticipate the quantities of WEEE they may produce in a given year and plan for their EEE needs accordingly. Given their environmental orientations, they have the opportunity to set realistic targets and define appropriate policies to reduce their environmental footprint and contribute to sustainable development goals. Institutions, on the other hand, have a concrete tool to anticipate the annual size of WEEE, which would enable them to develop a national policy and plan for managing business WEEE. It will now be possible to monitor the quantities of WEEE and their fate.

However, there are limitations to this research. The size of our sample could have been larger, but data collection was heavily disrupted by the COV-ID-19 pandemic. Health restrictions and the imposition of new habits significantly limited our contact with the study population. We do not claim to have considered all the aspects influencing the transformation of EEE into WEEE in companies. The prediction period in this research may seem short to some researchers, and future studies could explore medium or long-term predictions. Another limitation is that the model's performance evaluation could be questioned by employing an indicator other than MSE.

Future research should aim to improve the model by incorporating more real-world data collected in the field, enabling the algorithmic model to learn more and refine predictions, thus reducing the MSE values closer to zero. Consequently, the management of WEEE and the race toward contributing to sustainable development will also involve developing countries.

Author Contributions

Each author has made significant contributions to this manuscript, with roles as follows:

- Gilson Tekendo Djoukoue: Conception/design, Data collection, qualitative analysis and results interpretation.

- Idriss Djiofack Teledjieu: Development of a machine learning algorithm for prediction. - Sijun Bai: Supervision, Review, and Validation of the final version for submission and publication.

Conflict of Interest

We declare that there are no conflicts of interest related to this research. None of the authors have any financial or professional relationships that could inappropriately influence the results or interpretations presented in this article.

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgement

We, the authors of this paper, extend our sincere thanks to the various organizations that contributed to this study despite the difficult conditions due to COVID-19. We express our gratitude to the staff who have devoted themselves to the cause of this research work.

References

- Ingole, A.R., 2018. E-waste its advance collection system and innovative application in field of civil and environmental engineering. LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing: Bangkok.
- [2] Maphosa, V., Maphosa, M., 2020. E-waste management in Sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic literature review. Cogent Business & Management. 7(1), 1814503.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.18 14503
- [3] Bâle, S.E., 2012. DEee en Afrique : Etat des lieux-Résultats du Programme e-waste Africa de la convention de Bâle (French) [DEee in Africa: State of play-Results of the Basel Convention's e-waste Africa programme]. 11-13 chemin des Anémones 1219 Châtelaine, Switzerland: Secretariat of the Basel Convention.
- [4] Bakhiyi, B., Gravel, S., Ceballos, D., et al., 2018. Has the question of e-waste opened a Pandora's box? An overview of unpredictable issues

and challenges. Environment International. 110, 173-192.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.10.021

- [5] Perkins, D.N., Drisse, M.N.B., Nxele, T., et al., 2014. E-waste: A global hazard. Annals of Global Health. 80(4), 286-295.
- [6] Jiang, B., Adebayo, A., Jia, J., et al., 2019. Impacts of heavy metals and soil properties at a Nigerian e-waste site on soil microbial community. Journal of Hazardous Materials. 362, 187-195. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2018.08.060
- [7] Rautela, R., Arya, S., Vishwakarma, S., et al., 2021. E-waste management and its effects on the environment and human health. Science of the Total Environment. 773, 145623.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145623
- [8] Dai, Q., Xu, X., Eskenazi, B., et al., 2020. Severe dioxin-like compound (DLC) contamination in e-waste recycling areas: An under-recognized threat to local health. Environment International. 139, 105731.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105731

- [9] Asante, K.A., Amoyaw-Osei, Y., Agusa, T., 2019. E-waste recycling in Africa: Risks and opportunities. Current Opinion in Green and Sustainable Chemistry. 18, 109-117.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogsc.2019.04.001
- [10] Mihai, F.C., Gnoni, M.G., Meidiana, C., et al., 2019. Chapter 1-Waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE): Flows, quantities, and management—A global scenario. Electronic waste management and treatment technology. Elsevier: USA. pp. 1-34.
 DOL: https://doi.org/10.1016/D078.0.12.816100

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816190-6.00001-7

[11] Arrêté conjoint n°005/minepded/Mincommerce du 24 octobre 2012 Fixant les conditions spécifiques de Gestion des équipements électriques et Électroniques ainsi que de l'élimination Des déchets issus de ces équipements (French) [Joint Judgment No. 005/Mined/MinCommerce of October 24, 2012] [Internet]. Available from: https://minepded.gov.cm/wp-content/ uploads/2021/09/Arr%C3%AAt%C3%A9conjoint-N%C2%B0005-MINEPDED-MIN-COMMERCE-du-24-octobre-2012.pdf

- [12] Bertolini, G., 2003. La régulation des mouvements trans-frontières de déchets. Un dispositif à consolider (French) [Regulating cross-border movements of waste. A system to be consolidated]. Géographie Économie Société. 5(1), 91-105.
- [13] Loi N°96/12 Du 5 Aout 1996 Portant Loi-Cadre Relative A La Gestion De L'Environnement. (French) [Law No. 96/12 of August 5, 1996 on the Framework Law on Environmental Management] [Internet]. Available from: https://www. snh.cm/images/reglementation/FR/Loi%20cadre-gestion%20de%20l'environnement.pdf
- [14] Achankeng, E. (editor), 2003. Globalization, urbanization and municipal solid waste management in Africa. Proceedings of the African Studies Association of Australasia and the Pacific 26th Annual Conference; 2003 Oct 1-3; Adelaide, Australia. p. 1-22.
- [15] Forti, V., Baldé, C.P., Kuehr, R., 2018. E-waste Statistics Guidelines on Classification, Reporting and Indicators [Internet]. Available from: https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6477/ RZ_EWaste_Guidelines_LoRes.pdf
- [16] Amoyaw-Osei, Y., Agyekum, O.O., Pwamang, J.A., et al., 2011. Ghana e-Waste Country Assessment. SBC e-Waste Africa Project [Internet]. Available from: https://www.basel.int/Portals/4/ Basel%20Convention/docs/eWaste/E-wasteAssessmentGhana.pdf
- [17] Hameed, S.A. (editor), 2012. Controlling computers and electronics waste: Toward solving environmental problems. 2012 International Conference on Computer and Communication Engineering (ICCCE); 2012 Jul 3-5; Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. New York: IEEE. p. 972-977.
- [18] Otake, T., Yoshinaga, J., Yanagisawa, Y., 2001. Analysis of organic esters of plasticizer in indoor air by GC–MS and GC–FPD. Environmental Science & Technology. 35(15), 3099-3102.
- [19] Hedman, B., Näslund, M., Nilsson, C., et al.,

2005. Emissions of polychlorinated dibenzodioxins and dibenzofurans and polychlorinated biphenyls from uncontrolled burning of garden and domestic waste (backyard burning). Environmental Science & Technology. 39(22), 8790-8796.

- [20] Grimes, S.M., Lateef, H., Jafari, A.J., et al., 2006. Studies of the effects of copper, copper (II) oxide and copper (II) chloride on the thermal degradation of poly (vinyl chloride). Polymer Degradation and Stability. 91(12), 3274-3280.
- [21] Brigden, K., Labunska, I., Santillo, D., et al., 2008. Chemical Contamination at E-waste Recycling and Disposal Sitesin Accra and Korforidua, Ghana [Internet]. Available from: https://www.greenpeace.to/publications/chemical-contamination-at-e-wa.pdf
- [22] Sivaramanan, S., 2013. E-waste management, disposal and its impacts on the environment. Universal Journal of Environmental Research & Technology. 3(5), 531-537.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.2978.0489
- [23] Kyere, V.N., Greve, K., Atiemo, S.M., 2016. Spatial assessment of soil contamination by heavy metals from informal electronic waste recycling in Agbogbloshie, Ghana. Environmental Health and Toxicology. 31, 1-10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5620/eht.e2016006
- [24] Affum, A.O., Osae, S.D., Kwaansa-Ansah, E.E., et al., 2020. Quality assessment and potential health risk of heavy metals in leafy and nonleafy vegetables irrigated with groundwater and municipal-waste-dominated stream in the Western Region, Ghana. Heliyon. 6(12). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05829
- [25] Adomako, E.E., Raab, A., Norton, G.J., et al., 2022. Potential Toxic Element (PTE) soil concentrations at an urban unregulated Ghanaian e-waste recycling centre: Environmental contamination, human exposure and policy implications. Exposure and Health. 1-10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12403-022-00516-x
- [26] Nana, A.S., Falkenberg, T., Rechenburg, A., et al., 2023. Seasonal variation and risks of poten-

tially toxic elements in agricultural lowlands of central Cameroon. Environmental Geochemistry and Health. 45, 4007-4023.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-022-01473-9

[27] Srigboh, R.K., Basu, N., Stephens, J., et al., 2016. Multiple elemental exposures amongst workers at the Agbogbloshie electronic waste (e-waste) site in Ghana. Chemosphere. 164, 68-74.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2016.08.089

[28] Asampong, E., Dwuma-Badu, K., Stephens, J., et al., 2015. Health seeking behaviours among electronic waste workers in Ghana. BMC Public Health. 15, 1-9.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2376-z

[29] Asamoah, A., Essumang, D.K., Muff, J., et al., 2018. Assessment of PCBs and exposure risk to infants in breast milk of primiparae and multiparae mothers in an electronic waste hot spot and non-hot spot areas in Ghana. Science of the Total Environment. 612, 1473-1479. DOL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psit.ttps://2017.08.177

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.177

- [30] Amankwaa, E.F., Tsikudo, K.A.A., Bowman, J.A., 2017. 'Away' is a place: The impact of electronic waste recycling on blood lead levels in Ghana. Science of the Total Environment. 601, 1566-1574.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.05.283
- [31] Jagun, Z.T., Daud, D., Ajayi, O.M., et al., 2022.
 Waste management practices in developing countries: A socio-economic perspective. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 1-12.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-21990-5
- [32] Yamaguchi, S., 2018. International Trade and the Transition to a More Resource Efficient and Circular Economy [Internet]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1787/847feb24-en
- [33] Golsteijn, L., Valencia Martinez, E., 2017. The circular economy of E-waste in the Netherlands: Optimizing material recycling and energy recovery. Journal of Engineering. 8984013.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8984013
- [34] Mounir, R., 2022. Les défis de l'adoption de

l'économie circulaire: cas de la Chine (French) [The challenges of adopting the circular economy: The case of China]. Finance & Business Economies Review. 6(1).

[35] Kumar Singh, S., Chauhan, A., Sarkar, B., 2022.Supply chain management of e-waste for endof-life electronic products with reverse logistics. Mathematics. 11(1), 124.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/math11010124

[36] Srivastav, A.L., Markandeya, Patel, N., Pandey, M., et al., 2023. Concepts of circular economy for sustainable management of electronic wastes: Challenges and management options. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 30(17), 48654-48675.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-023-26052-y

[37] Zeng, X., Ali, S.H., Tian, J., et al., 2020. Mapping anthropogenic mineral generation in China and its implications for a circular economy. Nature Communications. 11(1), 1544.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15246-4

[38] Duman, G.M., Kongar, E., Gupta, S.M., 2019. Estimation of electronic waste using optimized multivariate grey models. Waste Management. 95, 241-249.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2019.06.023

[39] Islam, M.T., Huda, N., 2019. E-waste in Australia: Generation estimation and untapped material recovery and revenue potential. Journal of Cleaner Production. 237, 117787.
DOL https://loi.org/10.1016/j.jel.eog.2010.117787.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.117787

[40] Ravindra, K., Mor, S., 2019. E-waste generation and management practices in Chandigarh, India and economic evaluation for sustainable recycling. Journal of Cleaner Production. 221, 286-294.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.02.158

- [41] Awasthi, A.K., Cucchiella, F., D'Adamo, I., et al., 2018. Modelling the correlations of e-waste quantity with economic increase. Science of the Total Environment. 613, 46-53. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.288
- [42] Tran, H.P., Wang, F., Dewulf, J., et al., 2016. Estimation of the unregistered inflow of electrical

and electronic equipment to a domestic market: A case study on televisions in Vietnam. Environmental Science & Technology. 50(5), 2424-2433.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b01388

- [43] He, P., Wang, C., Zuo, L., 2018. The present and future availability of high-tech minerals in waste mobile phones: Evidence from China. Journal of Cleaner Production. 192, 940-949.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.04.222
- [44] Babayemi, J.O., Osibanjo, O., Weber, R., 2017. Material and substance flow analysis of mobile phones in Nigeria: A step for progressing e-waste management strategy. Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management. 19, 731-742. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10163-016-0472-5
- [45] Guo, X., Yan, K., 2017. Estimation of obsolete cellular phones generation: A case study of China. Science of the Total Environment. 575, 321-329.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.054

- [46] Gomes, A.S., Souza, L.A., Yamane, L.H., et al., 2017. Quantification of e-waste: A case study in Federal University of Espírito Santo, Brazil. International Journal of Environmental and Ecological Engineering. 11(2), 195-203.
- [47] Kumar, A., Holuszko, M., Espinosa, D.C.R., 2017. E-waste: An overview on generation, collection, legislation and recycling practices. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 122, 32-42.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.01.018

- [48] Kusch, S., Hills, C.D., 2017. The link between e-waste and GDP—New insights from data from the pan-European region. Resources. 6(2), 15. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/resources6020015
- [49] Parajuly, K., Habib, K., Liu, G., 2017. Waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE) in Denmark: Flows, quantities and management. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 123, 85-92.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.08.004

[50] Dasgupta, D., Debsarkar, A., Hazra, T., et al., 2017. Scenario of future e-waste generation and

recycle-reuse-landfill-based disposal pattern in India: A system dynamics approach. Environment, Development and Sustainability. 19, 1473-1487.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-016-9815-6

- [51] Hamouda, K., Rotter, V., Korf, N. (editors), 2016. Methodological approach to improving WEEE assessment in emerging economies. Electronics Goes Green 2016+; 2016 Sep 6-9; Berlin, Germany. New York: IEEE. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1109/EGG.2016.7829844
- [52] Ikhlayel, M., 2016. Differences of methods to estimate generation of waste electrical and electronic equipment for developing countries: Jordan as a case study. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 108, 134-139.

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.01.015

[53] Petridis, N.E., Stiakakis, E., Petridis, K., et al., 2016. Estimation of computer waste quantities using forecasting techniques. Journal of Cleaner Production. 112, 3072-3085.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.09.119

- [54] Cao, J., Chen, Y., Shi, B., et al., 2016. WEEE recycling in Zhejiang Province, China: Generation, treatment, and public awareness. Journal of Cleaner Production. 127, 311-324.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.03.147
- [55] Neto, J.C., Silva, M.M., Santos, S.M., 2016. A time series model for estimating the generation of lead acid battery scrap. Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy. 18, 1931-1943. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10098-016-1121-3
- [56] L'équilibre général comme savoir: de Walras à nos jours (French) [General equilibrium as knowledge: From Walras to the present day].HAL Open Science [Internet]. Available from: https://hal.science/hal-01765036
- [57] Plambeck, E., Wang, Q., 2009. Effects of e-waste regulation on new product introduction. Management Science. 55(3), 333-347.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1080.0970
- [58] Wakolbinger, T., Toyasaki, F., Nowak, T., et al.,2014. When and for whom would e-waste be a treasure trove? Insights from a network equilib-

rium model of e-waste flows. International Journal of Production Economics. 154, 263-273. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.04.025

[59] Nagurney, A., Toyasaki, F., 2005. Reverse supply chain management and electronic waste recycling: A multitiered network equilibrium framework for e-cycling. Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review. 41(1), 1-28.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2003.12.001

[60] Hammond, D., Beullens, P., 2007. Closed-loop supply chain network equilibrium under legislation. European Journal of Operational Research. 183(2), 895-908.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2006.10.033

[61] Chen, P.C., Hong, I.H., 2013. Government subsidy impacts on a decentralized reverse supply chain using a multitiered network equilibrium model. Proceedings of the Institute of Industrial Engineers Asian Conference 2013. Springer: Singapore. pp. 173-180.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-4451-98-7_21

- [62] Hong, I.H., Chen, P.C., Yu, H.T., 2016. The effects of government subsidies on decentralised reverse supply chains. International Journal of Production Research. 54(13), 3962-3977.
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2016.1167982
- [63] Elshennawy, A., Robinson, S., Willenbockel, D., 2016. Climate change and economic growth: An intertemporal general equilibrium analysis for Egypt. Economic Modelling. 52, 681-689. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2015.10.008

[64] Miyata, Y., 1995. A general equilibrium analysis of the waste-economic system a CGE modeling approach. Infrastructure Planning Review. 12, 259-270.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.2208/journalip.12.259

- [65] Simeone, O., 2018. A very brief introduction to machine learning with applications to communication systems. IEEE Transactions on Cognitive Communications and Networking. 4(4), 648-664.
- [66] Albon, C., 2018. Machine learning with python cookbook: Practical solutions from preprocessing to deep learning. O'Reilly Media, Incorporated: Sebastopol.
- [67] Kurniawati, N., Putri, D.N.N., Ningsih, Y.K. (editors), 2020. Random forest regression for predicting metamaterial antenna parameters. 2020 2nd International Conference on Industrial Electrical and Electronics (ICIEE); 2020 Oct 20-21; Lombok, Indonesia. New York: IEEE. p. 174-178.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1109/ICIEE49813.2020.9276899

- [68] Plan directeur d'urbanisme de Douala à l'horizon 2025 (French) [Douala Urban Master Plan to 2025]. Douala. Available from: https://www. fsmtoolbox.com/assets/pdf/Plan_Directeur_d_ urbanisme.pdf
- [69] Institut National de Statistique, 2021. Répertoire et démographie des entreprises modernes en 2018 (French) [Directory and demography of modern businesses in 2018]. Departement des Statistiques D'entreprises: Yaoundé.



Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research https://journals.bilpubgroup.com/index.php/jmser

ARTICLE

Greening the Supply Chain: Drivers and Outcomes in the Korean **Manufacturing Industry**

Joohan Ryoo

Graduate School of International Studies, Hanyang University, 222 Wangsimni-Ro, Seongdong-Gu, Seoul, 04763, South Korea

ABSTRACT

This research investigates the determinants of green supply chain management (GSCM) adoption and its impact on organizational performance, while considering the potential moderating factors influencing GSCM adoption. Despite the growing prevalence of GSCM practices among Korean firms, the factors driving their adoption have not received sufficient attention. To bridge this gap, the study uses structural equation modeling, integrating stakeholder theory and resource-based theory to explore how green entrepreneurial orientation (GEO), institutional pressure, and relational capital affect GSCM adoption. Additionally, the study explores the effects of GSCM implementation on competitiveness and economic performance. Drawing data from a sample of 213 Korean manufacturing firms, the PLS-SEM analysis highlights the significant influence of GEO, institutional pressure, and relational capital on GSCM adoption. Additionally, the study emphasizes the positive impact of GSCM implementation on firm competitiveness. These findings provide valuable insights for enhancing sustainability in supply chain management and are applicable to similar context countries such as Taiwan, China, Japan, and the Netherlands.

Keywords: Green supply chain management; Green entrepreneurial orientation; Institutional pressure; Relational capital; Competitiveness; Economic perform

1. Introduction

special report by the Intergovernmental Panel on Cli-The 2015 Paris Agreement and the 2021 sixth mate Change (IPCC) have created increased pressure

***CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:**

Joohan Ryoo, Graduate School of International Studies, Hanyang University, 222 Wangsimni-Ro, Seongdong-Gu, Seoul, 04763, South Korea; Email: jhryoo@hanyang.ac.kr

ARTICLE INFO

Received: 28 August 2023 | Revised: 5 September 2023 | Accepted: 6 September 2023 | Published Online: 18 September 2023 DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5930

CITATION

Ryoo, J., 2023. Greening the Supply Chain: Drivers and Outcomes in the Korean Manufacturing Industry. Journal of Management Science & Engineering Research. 6(2): 82-100. DOI: https://doi.org/10.30564/jmser.v6i2.5930

COPYRIGHT

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). Published by Bilingual Publishing Group. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

on firms worldwide to adopt strategies that reduce the negative impact of their products and services on the environment. With customers and regulatory authorities overwhelmingly supporting environmental protection, conservation is a top priority for firms worldwide ^[1,2]. In response, Korean firms are complying with strict operational standards to mitigate climate change and environmental damage. Accordingly, efforts are underway to strengthen organizational processes and behaviors to pursue green business strategies and practices ^[3,4]. These practices can help firms address key regulatory issues, such as competitive pressure, business performance, environmental protection, and operational excellence. Despite the growing interest of many Korean companies in environmentally friendly practices such as green supply chain management (GSCM), there is a lack of research on who actually adopts this approach and what its effects are. This study was conducted to address this curiosity and fill the research gap.

Primarily, the concept of GSCM integrates sustainable environmental practices into the traditional supply chain processes. This comprehensive business approach is designed to mitigate environmental degradation, focusing on green purchasing, manufacturing, logistics, and investment recovery ^[5]. Implementing GSCM practices helps firms improve their environmental, social, and operational performance, leading to a competitive advantage ^[6,7]. Waste reduction has emerged as a viable solution for reducing manufacturing costs, and GSCM is recognized as a key tool for achieving this goal ^[8,9]. Thus, firms must adopt innovative GSCM practices to enhance their operational efficiency, reduce costs, and improve existing value chains.

Several dimensions of GSCM have been examined in previous studies, including definition and scope, and the concept has been identified as the summation of green purchasing, integrated supply chains, and reverse logistics ^[10,11]. Researchers have also examined ecological supply chain management and its determinants and impact on various aspects of organizational performance (e.g., ^[11]). Firms are improving their supply chain management to maintain ecological standards through inter-organizational relationships, particularly with customers and suppliers ^[12]. For example, SONY has implemented a "green partner quality certification system", and encouraged its suppliers to follow environmental standards. Other global firms such as NIKE, IKEA, BOEING, and Ford are participating in sustainability projects with their customers and suppliers to restrict the use of chemicals and waste materials that endanger human and environmental health ^[13]. An increasing number of companies are incorporating sustainable practices in their supply chain management strategies to reduce their environmental impact and contribute to global efforts to save the planet.

Nevertheless, the existing literature lacks a comprehensive framework to explain the relationship between GSCM and operational performance. While some studies explore GSCM's antecedents, they often overlook the internal and external factors influencing this relationship^[8]. Focusing on these factors is crucial as it provides a deeper understanding of how organizations can effectively implement GSCM practices and improve their operational performance ^[8,14,15]. To bridge this gap, our study analyzes real-world scenarios in the context of GSCM practices in South Korea, aiming to identify the antecedents, conduct, and performance while considering both internal and external influences. By unraveling these complexities, our research aims to provide valuable insights for researchers and practitioners and contribute to the advancement of sustainable supply chain management practices in the Korean industry.

This study explores various issues related to GSCM, leading to the following research questions:

Q1: To what extent do a firm's internal conditions impact GSCM adoption? Do a firm's green entrepreneurial orientation (GEO) and relational capital influence its GSCM adoption?

Q2: How do external conditions affect GSCM adoption? Specifically, to what degree do government institutional efforts influence firms' effective adoption of GSCM?

Q3: What is the impact of implementing GSCM practices on firm performance? This question is important, as it seeks to understand the extent to which the adoption of GSCM practices improves performance outcomes for firms.

This study addresses vital questions relevant to any firm considering or implementing GSCM. Drawing on stakeholder theory and resource-based theory, the research emphasizes the crucial role of GEO, relational capital, and institutional efforts in GSCM adoption within the Korean context. Investigating their interplay advances the understanding of their collective influence, offering valuable insights for academia and industry. Synthesizing relevant literature, the research constructs a comprehensive model based on key findings. Using 213 valid surveys from Korean manufacturing firms, the study examines how internal and external factors influence GSCM adoption. Despite the growing importance of GSCM, the existing literature lacks a comprehensive framework to elucidate its relationship with operational performance, especially regarding internal and external factors. This research fills the crucial gap in GSCM practices by examining antecedents, conduct, and performance in the Korean context, considering internal and external influences. The study's results provide valuable insights into academic literature and practical GSCM applications.

2. Literature review

2.1 Green supply chain management (GSCM)

A supply chain involves moving goods or services from their origin to end users, both internally and externally, within a firm ^[12]. However, traditional supply chain management results in energy wastage and environmental damage, leading to the emergence of GSCM as a solution ^[16]. In response to increasing societal and governmental pressure, GSCM has been implemented to reduce resource usage and pollution. As a result, academic research and literature have focused on areas such as institutional pressure, implementation, and evaluation of GSCM. Insights into

these areas are essential for justifying the adoption of GSCM practices $[^{[8,17]}$.

Described as a set of supply chain management (SCM) strategies, initiatives, and partnerships developed in response to environmental concerns, GSCM encompasses all stages of a product or service life cycle from design and procurement to production, distribution, utilization, reuse, and disposal ^[18,19]. Srivastava (2007) defined GSCM as "the integration of environmental considerations into SCM, including product design, material sourcing and selection, manufacturing processes, delivery of the final product to customers, and end-of-life management of the product after its useful life." ^[20]. Similarly, some scholars define GSCM as an environmentally friendly practice or eco-initiative that encompasses all stages of a product's lifecycle, including the design, production, and distribution phases ^[21,22].

2.2 Organizational performance

This study investigates the influence of GSCM techniques on organizational performance, encompassing both environmental and economic aspects. Existing research indicates that GSCM implementation positively impacts environmental performance but yields varying results for economic performance ^[23-25]. The heterogeneity of findings may stem from limited studies and the influence of internal and external factors on the GSCM-organizational performance link. This ambiguity poses a challenge for companies attempting to justify GSCM adoption, irrespective of their motives ^[26,27]. To accurately assess GSCM's impact, a comprehensive approach is essential ^[28]. Studies propose a multidimensional framework, combining financial and non-financial metrics, to gain a holistic understanding of GSCM's effects. By incorporating financial, environmental, and social dimensions, organizations can make informed decisions and align their strategies with sustainability goals, ultimately bolstering performance evaluations. This multidimensional perspective facilitates a more robust evaluation, leading to a deeper comprehension of GSCM's influence on organizational outcomes ^[29,30].

2.3 Theoretical background

This study is conducted in the context of two major theories. First, the stakeholder theory proposed by Freeman (1984) posits that organizations must maximize stakeholder value. These stakeholders comprise the organization, and the management must strive to fulfil their needs and interests while ensuring their rights and participation in the decision-making process^[31]. The fundamental premise of stakeholder theory is the shift in accountability from beneficiaries to those affected or impacted by the firm's activities ^[32]. The normative, imperative, and strategic nature of the theory implies that stakeholders are intrinsically valuable and have a discernible effect on the organization's business performance ^[33]. Additionally, the theory contends that stakeholder pressure compels organizations to adopt strategies that promote environmental protection^[34].

Freeman's (1984) seminal definition of stakeholders as "any group or individual who can affect or is affected by the achievement of the organization's objectives" encompasses shareholders, investors, employees, customers, suppliers, and public stakeholder groups, such as legislative governments and regulatory authorities that build infrastructure and markets, whose laws and regulations must be observed, and to whom taxes and other obligations are payable ^[35,36]. This definition establishes a connection between stakeholders and firm activities ^[37]. Regulatory stakeholders, such as the government and legislators, formulate and enforce environmental protection laws, whereas internal stakeholders wield relative power within the organization and influence firm performance. In contrast, market-oriented stakeholders affect firm performance through market relationships or trade ^[38]. As organizations generate externalities that cause negative and positive environmental outcomes, organizational and regulatory stakeholders exert increasing pressure on firms to mitigate the negative impact and promote positive environmental outcomes [39].

The resource-based theory contends that an organization's sustained competitive advantage is influenced by its heterogeneous resources that are valuable, rare, inimitable, and non-substitutable ^[40,41]. Resources refer to "stocks of available factors that are owned or controlled by the firm" ^[42]. The theory assumes that firms differ due to their unique resources, thereby establishing a connection between internal characteristics and competitive advantage ^[43]. Additionally, sustainable competitive advantage depends on the firm's ability to reintegrate its asset stocks and use them for new market opportunities, and to synchronize all resource management processes, including bundling and structuring the portfolio resources, while receiving feedback from the external environment, such as market forces ^[44]. According to Hitt et al. (2016), managers are responsible for selecting, developing and bundling resources to create, design and implement strategies ^[43]. These internal processes should also be linked to external suppliers in the supply chain because each activity along the chain requires resources and capabilities ^[43]. Thus, adopting GSCM enables firms to create valuable resources and capabilities, which are critical for competitiveness in the current eco-friendly business environment.

Informed by stakeholder and resource-based theories, this study proposes that green entrepreneurial orientation, institutional pressure, and relational capital, which are critical organizational resources and stakeholder pressures, influence a firm's decision-making concerning GSCM, and, subsequently, its outcomes. This approach is consistent with previous studies that accentuate the impact of internal and external stakeholder groups on a firm's adoption of GSCM practices ^[45]. **Figure 1** illustrates the study's conceptual model, and using this framework, hypotheses are developed to capture the relationships between the different constructs in the subsequent section.



Figure 1. Conceptual model.

3. Model development and hypotheses

3.1 Green entrepreneurial orientation (GEO) and GSCM

A firm's GEO influences the adoption of GSCM practices significantly. Even though previous studies demonstrate a positive association between GEO and firm performance ^[46,14], the underlying mechanism remains largely unknown. Hughes et al. (2017) contend that the precise pathways through which GEO enhances organizational performance are not well understood beyond the direct effect ^[47]. To enhance comprehension, it is essential to employ a comprehensive measurement method to investigate how a firm's GEO serves as a critical antecedent to GSCM adoption ^[14].

The concept of GEO is defined as "the inclination of an entrepreneur to explore potential opportunities that reduce both economic and environmental costs by initiating green activities"^[14]. The concept of GEO differs from environmental entrepreneurship and eco-entrepreneurship as it focuses on innovative behavior, proactive market participation, and commitment to take risks to promote green practices ^[14,48]. Three key factors explain the emergence of GEO: entrepreneurs' emotional attachment to green issues, regulatory and social pressure, and the desire to improve environmental and economic performance ^[49,50]. Entrepreneurs create value and drive business growth through their innovation, proactive behaviors, and risk-taking strategies. Similarly, green entrepreneurs create value beyond profit maximization by adopting green and sustainable business practices.

Entrepreneurial orientation (EO) encompasses a firm-level decision-making attitude that drives strategic processes and generates innovative ideas for organizational growth and rejuvenation^[47]. In a similar vein, GEO seizes potential business opportunities through green activities, leading to both economic and ecological benefits ^[51]. This study firmly posits that GEO plays a pivotal role in motivating firms to adopt GSCM practices. The adoption and implementation of GSCM practices are recognized as inherently risky endeavors, primarily due to the increasing information asymmetry between firms and their suppliers ^[46,52]. Without a resolute commitment to green and sustainable growth, as well as a willingness to integrate GSCM principles into supplier relationships, firms may encounter considerable challenges in implementing these practices. However, when firm leadership demonstrates conscious engagement and a steadfast dedication to managing the supply chain, it can greatly facilitate the adoption of GSCM practices ^[53,54]. Consequently, this study hypothesizes that GEO exerts a positive influence on the adoption of GSCM practices.

H 1: GEO robustly and positively influences the adoption of GSCM practices.

3.2 Institutional pressure and GSCM

This study argues that while a strong leader's inclination towards GSCM is important, external factors contribute to the adoption of GSCM practices. Previous research has identified institutional pressure as a key facilitator in adopting GSCM ^[55,38,15,53,56]. This study proposes that institutional pressure, as an external factor, is a crucial determinant of GSCM adoption. Governments are increasingly demanding corporate action toward environmental sustainability by enforcing regulations, resulting in many firms developing green strategies to meet customer requirements and gain competitive advantage, such as obtaining ISO 14001 certification for environmental management ^[57].

Institutional pressure is a key area in sustainability research, and this study examines the mechanisms through which it affects the adoption of GSCM practices. Institutional pressure creates a sense of urgency to comply with regulations and societal expectations. For example, governments may penalize firms that do not adhere to environmental standards, urging them to adopt GSCM practices. Customers, investors, and other stakeholders can exert institutional pressure to demand sustainable products and services, forcing firms to meet these expectations and remain competitive. Moreover, institutional pressure legitimizes GSCM practices and can help firms overcome their internal resistance to change. Conforming to societal norms and expectations, firms are likely to gain support from employees and other internal stakeholders for implementing GSCM initiatives. Thus, institutional pressure plays a critical role in GSCM adoption by incentivizing and legitimizing sustainable business practices.

This study highlights the increasing demand for environmentally sustainable strategies from stakeholders and interest groups, such as customers, political and social entities, religious groups, local communities, and regulatory bodies ^[58,59]. Specifically, this study argues that green entrepreneurs who perceive the importance of legitimizing their operations in a sustainability-oriented environment are more responsive to institutional pressure and adopt green business approaches, such as GSCM, to survive ^[60,12].

The study suggests that green entrepreneurs, who view "green" as a new paradigm and "greening" as a sustainability-oriented business management approach, recognize the significance of legitimizing their operations within a sustainability-focused business environment ^[52].

Thus, this study hypothesizes that:

H 2: Institutional pressure affects GSCM adoption.

H 2-1: Institutional pressure positively influences the adoption of GSCM practices.

H 2-2: The outcome of GEO on GSCM practices is more substantial when institutional pressure increases.

3.3 Relational capital and GSCM

A firm's internal conditions play a critical role in the adoption of GSCM practices. Relational capital is an essential aspect of green practices as it captures the value inherent in collaborative buyer-supplier relationships and the knowledge derived from such relationships^[61]. Trust, obligation, respect, and friendship are integral components of relational capital that actors have formed with each other through a history of interactions ^[62]. Research shows that relational capital is the lubricant that stimulates environmental responsibility and the adoption of GSCM practices, including a wide range of inter-firm activities such as green innovation in co-procurement, co-production, reverse logistics, and distribution ^[52,63,64]. Relational capital supports green innovation activities in GSCM by engaging valuable members in the supply chain network ^[65].

Social network theory contends that promoting cooperation among supply chain members is a significant challenge in implementing GSCM ^[66]. Effective communication, reduced opportunism, cooperative response to unforeseen issues, and the ability to adapt are critical to GSCM practices ^[67,68]. Strong social capital improves GSCM engagement by building and maintaining relationships based on trust and loyalty and indicates a greater capacity for green innovation and better deployment of GSCM practices ^[69,61]. Thus, leaders with strong GEO are more likely to adopt GSCM practices when their firms possess strong social capital.

Thus, this study hypothesizes that:

H 3: Relational capital impacts the adoption of

GSCM practices.

H 3-1: Relational capital directly influences the adoption of GSCM initiatives.

H 3-2: The effect of GEO on GSCM practices is stronger when a firm possesses sufficient relational capital.

3.4 Impact of adopting GSCM practices on firm performance

Adopting GSCM practices can enhance a firm's performance across multiple dimensions, including environmental, economic, and social [67,56]. Environmental performance, the first dimension, involves reducing air and water pollution, solid waste, and hazardous materials, and minimizing environmental accidents during economic activities. The second dimension, economic performance, focuses on enhancing efficiency and cost savings through the adoption of GSCM practices such as waste reduction, improving resource productivity, and enhancing energy efficiency. Social performance measures the impact of GSCM practices on the well-being and satisfaction of employees, customers, suppliers, and other stakeholders in the community ^[30,67]. These multiple dimensions of organizational performance must be considered when implementing GSCM practices to realize optimal benefits.

Implementation of GSCM is expected to improve firm performance; however, empirical evidence shows mixed results. Specifically, in the context of the Chinese market, some studies have found that GSCM has a positive influence on economic performance by improving environmental and operational performance ^[70]. Additional research by Yu et al. (2017) demonstrated that collaboration with green initiative suppliers affects environmental and operational performance positively ^[71]. Feng and Choi (2017) reported that GSCM practices such as green purchasing and innovation can enhance environmental and economic performance ^[72]. Feng et al. (2018) also suggested that improved environmental and operational performance through GSCM adoption can enhance financial performance ^[73]. However, some studies have reported adverse performance outcomes with GSCM. For example, eco-design, reverse logistics, green purchasing, and customer cooperation have not significantly improved performance ^[74,67].

The impact of GSCM practices on firm performance is mixed, stemming from a multitude of factors such as varying industry contexts, complexity and variability of GSCM practices due to different approaches and implementation levels, and the lack of standardized performance measurement methods [75]. Previous research showed that using a combination of economic performance and competitiveness may yield a more comprehensive evaluation of the impact of GSCM practices on firm performance ^[76,54]. Economic performance and competitiveness are widely accepted as measures of business performance. They are easily quantifiable and comparable across firms, enabling a direct assessment of the impact of GSCM practices on performance ^[76]. Additionally, examining financial and non-financial factors by focusing on economic performance and competitiveness facilitates a more holistic evaluation of firm performance, eventually providing a more comprehensive understanding of the impact of GSCM practices on a firm's overall performance.

This study defines economic performance as financial performance, encompassing metrics such as revenue, profit, return on investment, and market share ^[76]. In contrast, competitiveness pertains to a firm's ability to compete effectively in the marketplace, considering factors such as cost efficiency, product quality, and innovation ^[54,28]. These measures offer a concrete and tangible means to evaluate the financial and operational advantages of GSCM practices, namely cost savings achieved through waste reduction and increased supply chain efficiency ^[18,76]. Economic performance and competitiveness are crucial for a company's long-term success, as they are interdependent. However, economic performance is a relevant short-term performance measure, given that financial metrics such as revenue and profit clearly indicate a firm's financial health in the short term ^[76]. In contrast, competitiveness measures may require more time to reflect a firm's performance changes.

This study posits that the adoption of GSCM

practices yields positive outcomes on economic performance and competitiveness. First, such practices can help firms reduce their environmental impact by reducing waste, conserving resources, and mitigating negative environmental effects. These practices can have positive long-term implications for operational efficiency as they can lead to cost savings owing to improved energy efficiency, increased recycling, and reduced waste, ultimately resulting in lower operating costs. Additionally, firms can manage their supply chain risks better, improve product quality, and enhance customer satisfaction, leading to increased competitive advantage and customer loyalty. In fact, GSCM practices improve firms' financial performance by increasing their revenue and profits. For instance, by enhancing the sustainability and efficiency of their supply chain operations, firms can reduce costs, improve productivity and innovation, and respond better to market demand, thereby improving their overall competitiveness.

Thus, this study hypothesizes that:

H 4: Adopting GSCM practices impacts firm performance positively.

H 4-1: Adopting GSCM practices has a positive influence on firm competitiveness.

H 4-2: Adopting GSCM practices positively affects a firm's economic performance.

4. Research methods

4.1 Sampling and data collection

Drawing on prior research ^[9,77], firms that hold ISO 14000 series certification are defined as entities that implement GSCM practices. A sample of 926 manufacturers was selected from the Corporate Information Database (TS2000) using predetermined selection criteria, and e-mail surveys were conducted to collect the data. The Korea Chamber of Commerce and Industry provides information on companies through the TS2000. It includes databases of business and audit reports submitted to the Financial Supervisory Service by various corporations, such as technology-intensive small and medium enterprises (SMEs), young entrepreneurial firms, well-established firms, and strongly internationalized firms. The diverse backgrounds of target firms were relevant to this study.

The online survey collected a demographic profile and measurement items related to GEO, GSCM, competitiveness, economic performance, and internal/external conditions. To ensure the choice of suitable respondents, this study targeted founders and senior and mid-level managers of listed firms. Recruitment was conducted via email, social networking sites, and telephone. Of the 926 survey questionnaires, 213 effective responses were obtained between June 2022 and September 2022. The minimum sample size for reliable PLS-SEM analysis depends on model complexity, effect sizes, and desired power. Some recommend a minimum of 100 samples ^[78], but no fixed rule exists. The response rate exceeded the minimum standard of 20% [79], reaching 23%. Table 1 provides an overview of the participating firms' characteristics.

4.2 Measurements

The items were assessed on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" (1) to "strongly agree" (7). Drawing on Li et al. [80] and Jian et al. [14], four items were employed to measure the GEO. GSCM practices were evaluated using five items based on the work of Zhu et al. [67], focusing on the green supplier and customer management practices of the value chain's upstream, internal, and downstream components. Drawing on prior research, two items were used to assess the extent of institutional pressure as an external condition. Relational capital was measured using three items as suggested in the literature ^[45,61]. Finally, four items were used to measure a firm's competitiveness and assess improvements in quality, efficiency, design, and patenting. Economic performance was evaluated based on respondents' views of their respective firm's performance over the past three years in terms of market share, customer satisfaction, and profitability using three items, as outlined in the previous literature ^[18,76]. Table 2 summarizes all the constructs, measurement items, and their respective sources.

Respondent composition		Firm composition		
Gender		Type of manufacturing		
Male	194	Information Technology	. 49	
Female	19	Automobile	. 42	
		Machine & equipment	. 41	
Age		Transportation & logistics	. 35	
31-40	53	Chemical	. 32	
41-50	83	Others	. 14	
51-60	77	No. of employees		
		< 50	17	
Education		51-300	108	
Post-graduate (Master, Ph.D.)	55	301-500	34	
Graduate	153	501-1,000	32	
High school	5	1,000 <	22	
-		Revenue ($\$1 = 1,240$ won)		
		<\$8mil	41	
		\$8mil-\$40mil	53	
		\$40mil-\$80mil	66	
		\$80mil-\$400mil	28	
		\$400mil <	25	

Table 1. Sample profile (n = 213).

Table 2.	Measurement	of construct	items.
----------	-------------	--------------	--------

Construct	No.	Item	Sources		
Green		Our firm favors a strong emphasis on green practices, such as R & D, technological leadership, and innovation			
entrepreneurial	GEO2	When facing uncertainty, we adopt a proactive position to seize potential green opportunities	[14]		
(GEO)	GEO3	lealing with competitors, we initiate green actions that competitors respond to			
	GEO4	In dealing with competitors, we adopt a competitive "undo- the competitors" position			
Green	GSM1	Providing design specifications to suppliers that include environmental requirements for purchased items			
supply chain	GSM2	Cooperation with suppliers for environmental objectives			
management practices	GSM3	Suppliers' ISO14001 certification	[67, 12]		
(GSCM)	GSM4	Second-tier supplier environmentally friendly practice evaluation			
	GSM5	Cooperation with customers for cleaner production			
	C1	Improvement in product and process quality			
Competitiveness	C2	mprovement in efficiency and productivity [7]			
(C)	C3	Innovation in product and process design	[/0]		
	C4	Patenting of products and processes			
	B1	Our market share and sales has increased during the last three years compared to competitors			
Economic performance (B)	B2	Our customer satisfaction level has increased during the last three years compared to competitors	[18]		
	B3	Our profitability has increased during the last three years compared to competitors			
Institutional	IST1	There are frequent government inspections or audits on my firm to ensure that the firm complies with environmental laws and regulations			
pressure (IP)	IST2	Increased awareness of environmental issues among our customers and stakeholders			
	RC1	Relationship with key suppliers is characterized by close, personal interactions at multiple levels			
Relational	RC2	Relationship with key suppliers is characterized by mutual respect at multiple levels	[61]		
cupiui (ice)	RC3	Relationship with key suppliers is characterized by mutual trust at multiple levels			

4.3 Method of analysis

This study uses the structural model to examine the path relationships among the various constructs in the proposed model (see **Figure 2**). The PLS-SEM (4.0) technique was employed to test the proposed hypotheses, as it is capable of assessing the measurement of latent variables, while also testing the relationship between latent variables with a relatively small sample size ^[78]. A T-test was conducted to evaluate non-response bias, and the results showed no significant differences in basic attributes, such as size, industry, sales, etc., between early and late responses. Therefore, non-response bias is not expected to impact the subsequent analysis.

5. Results and discussion

5.1 Measurement model

Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was used to

assess the reliability and validity of the measured constructs^[81]. Composite reliability and Cronbach's alpha were used to determine the reliability. Table 3 shows that all composite reliability values for the first-order constructs exceeded the 0.6-0.7 threshold value, and Cronbach's alpha values also matched or exceeded this threshold. These findings support the model's reliability ^[78]. This study employed the average variance extracted (AVE) approach to assess convergent validity. The AVE values for all constructs exceed the acceptable threshold value of 0.5, indicating good convergent validity. Discriminant validity was evaluated using the Fornell-Larcker criterion, which requires that the square root of each construct's AVE exceed its correlations with other constructs. Table 4 presents the results of the Fornell-Larcker criterion, demonstrating that the square roots of the diagonal elements (representing the construct's AVE) were greater than those of the off-diagonal correlations, providing evidence of discriminant validity.

Construct and items	Loading	Cronbach's a	CR	AVE
Green entrepreneurship orientation			0.921	0.(20
GEO 1	0.847	0.806	0.831	0.630
GEO 2	0.827			
GEO 3	0.781			
GEO 4	0.714			
Green Management Practice			0.954	0.(20
GSM 1	0.765	0.853	0.854	0.630
GSM 2	0.812			
GSM 3	0.817			
GSM 4	0.833			
GSM 5	0.737			
Economic performance			0 (70	0.500
B1	0.779	0.664	0.678	0.580
B2	0.684			
B3	0.816			
Competitiveness			0.746	0.5(2
C1	0.735	0.743	0.746	0.363
C2	0.754			
C3	0.782			
C4	0.729			
Institutional pressure			0.953	0.971
INST1	0.932	0.852	0.852	0.871
INST2	0.934			
Relational Capability			0.010	0.005
RC1	0.835	0.780	0.818	0.695
RC2	0.915			
DC2	0.741			

Table 3. CFA results.

	В	С	G	GEO	IST	RC
В	0.762					
С	0.064	0.750				
G	0.139	0.676	0.794			
GEO	0.086	0.527	0.543	0.794		
IST	0.103	0.422	0.525	0.322	0.933	
RC	0.134	0.405	0.528	0.678	0.346	0.833

Table 4. Discriminant validity (Fornell-Larcker criterion).

5.2 Structural model

Based on the analysis using the PLS-SEM technique, the result of hypotheses testing is presented in Figure 1 and Table 5. This study followed two steps to test the proposed study hypotheses. First, a direct path analysis of latent variables was tested for significance through bootstrapping of 5000 subsamples. Second, we analyzed the moderating effects of institutional pressure and relational capital on GSCM. The explanatory power of the structural model was examined using the R-square value of the dependent variable. The results of the structural model, as presented in Figure 1, demonstrate that GEO, institutional pressure, and relational capability explain 45.8% of the variance in green management practices, which in turn explains 45.6% of competitiveness, thereby providing a good explanation for the variance in each latent variable [78,81].

The association between independent and dependent variables was tested using the path coefficient β and t-statistics. According to the PLS-SEM results in **Figure 2**, GEO (H 1: β = 0.276, t-statistics = 3.019), institutional pressure (H 2-1: $\beta = 0.348$, t-statistics = 4.030), and relational capital (H 3-1: $\beta = 0.187$, t-statistics = 2.011) significantly influence the adoption of GSCM, in turn, this enhances the competitiveness of the responding firms (H 4-1: $\beta = 0.676$, t-statistics = 13.705). However, institutional pressure and relational capital do not moderate the relationship between GEO and the adoption of GSCM (H 2-2: $\beta = 0.017$, t-statistic = 0.169, and H 3-3: $\beta = 0.053$, t-statistic = 0.696, respectively). Furthermore, adopting GSCM did not improve economic performance (H 4-2: $\beta = 0.139$, t-statistics = 1.723). The findings of the hypotheses tests are summarized in Table 5.

5.3 Discussion

This study investigated the relationship between green-oriented leadership and the adoption of GSCM practices in the Korean manufacturing sector. The results support the first hypothesis, that green-oriented leaders are more likely to adopt GSCM practices than their non-green counterparts ^[54,28]. To effectively



Figure 2. PLS-SEM results.

Table 5. Summary of hypotheses resul	ts.
--------------------------------------	-----

Hypotheses	Result
H 1: Green entrepreneurial orientation (GEO) influences the adoption of GSCM practices positively.	Supported
H 2-1: Institutional pressure influences direct adoption of GSCM practices.	Supported
H 2-2: The effect of GEO on GSCM practices will be stronger when institutional pressure increases.	Not supported
H 3-1: Relational capital influences the adoption of GSCM practices directly.	Supported
H 3-2: The effect of GEO on GSCM practices is stronger and more pronounced when a firm possesses sufficient relational capital.	Not supported
H 4-1: Adopting GSCM practices has a positive impact on firm competitiveness.	Supported
H 4-2: Adopting GSCM practices will positively impact a firm's economic performance.	Not supported

implement GSCM, proactive efforts are required to transform traditional supply chain management practices and identify new opportunities for environmental change. Compliance with environmental regulations and the need to address public concerns in the South Korean context requires efficient use of energy and natural resources. Achieving an integrated ecological and sustainable economy through GSCM demands close collaboration with suppliers and customers, departing from decentralized management and transforming operating systems into a social-ecological economy. However, the successful implementation of GSCM practices relies on proactive and risk-taking green leaders in the Korean manufacturing sector. Their commitment and visionary attitudes drive adoption and implementation, overcoming barriers and fostering a culture of sustainability throughout the supply chain. Green leadership is vital for achieving environmental protection, social responsibility, and long-term business success.

Institutional pressures, including government regulations and incentives, have positively influenced the adoption of GSCM practices in Korean firms, as supported by this study's second hypothesis. The Korean government is committed to achieving carbon neutrality and reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, leading to the implementation of ESG (environmental, social, and governance) supply chain management practices for Korean companies. The government requires ESG due diligence in the supply chain, with penalties imposed on non-compliant companies, and support for GSCM practices through various partnership programs and funding loan-use products. This study provides empirical evidence affirming the efficacy of government initiatives in promoting GSCM practices ^[45]. It emphasizes the significance of institutional pressure as a driving force for fostering environmentally responsible practices within the manufacturing sector. The study underscores that the successful implementation of GSCM practices hinges upon firms' willingness to undergo transformative changes in traditional supply chain management approaches. Additionally, collaboration with suppliers and customers is vital in collectively working towards the establishment of a sustainable social-ecological economy. These findings highlight the crucial role of both governmental and organizational efforts in advancing sustainable practices and fostering a more environmentally conscious and socially responsible manufacturing sector.

Previous research suggests that embracing green policies enhances institutional legitimacy and moral support for green entrepreneurs ^[38,15,53]. However, this study does not find evidence to support the notion that institutional pressure, as an external moderating condition, enhances or moderates Korean green entrepreneurs' propensity to adopt GSCM practices. It is commonly believed that a social policy, such as GSCM, can promote social consensus. Contrary to expectations, the findings of this study do not provide evidence to support the notion that institutional pressure, as an external moderating condition, enhances or moderates the propensity of Korean green entrepreneurs to adopt GSCM practices. While it is commonly believed that social policies, such as GSCM, can promote social consensus, the study reveals that institutional pressure for GSCM does not primarily act as a coercive force compelling Korean green entrepreneurs to conform to green government policies. Instead, the adoption of GSCM practices is driven by the entrepreneurs' personal vision and does not necessarily align with the pursuit of institutional legitimacy or social consensus. Consequently, the findings of this study do not support hypothesis 2-2, indicating a deviation from the anticipated relationship between institutional pressure and the adoption of GSCM practices among Korean green entrepreneurs.

Effective coordination between suppliers and customers forms a unique aspect of GSCM practices, distinguishing them from other practices, according to previous studies. Such close coordination facilitates knowledge sharing and collaboration and green environmental collaboration in GSCM. However, not all firms can fully realize the benefits of GSCM through close coordination and cooperation. Firms with strong relational capital, including comprehensive partner and supplier networks that provide valuable resources and information, are better positioned to exploit the benefits of GSCM. Trust and loyalty are intrinsic components of relational capital, and they can be effectively harnessed through the profound knowledge possessed by partner members. This study confirms that Korean firms with strong relational capital are more likely to adopt GSCM practices, thus supporting H 3-1. Relational capital, such as in-depth knowledge and a mutual understanding of government regulations, industry standards, and market conditions, enables firms to address complex issues more effectively. However, firms with strong relational capital may also face increased pressure from partners to adopt GSCM.

This study shows that, primarily, green entrepreneurs are not motivated to increase their engagement in GSCM practices by perceiving stronger relational capital, which does not support H 3-2. Further examination is necessary to confirm these findings. This finding can be attributed to various factors that deserve careful consideration. One potential reason is the possibility that a lack of awareness hampers the conversion of robust social capital into knowledge of GSCM practices and their associated benefits. Alternatively, green entrepreneurs, despite possessing stronger social capital, may prioritize other pressing business concerns over the adoption of GSCM practices. Moreover, cost constraints could discourage green entrepreneurs with substantial social capital from embracing GSCM practices. These multifaceted dynamics underscore the need for a comprehensive understanding of the contextual factors influencing the adoption of GSCM practices among green entrepreneurs.

H 4-1 is supported showing that GSCM practices improve firm competitiveness. Previous studies yielded mixed outcomes regarding the impact of GSCM on organizational performance, possibly because of measurement limitations and lack of empirical evidence. This study's focus on two dimensions of organizational performance-competitiveness and economic performance-clarifies the benefits of adopting GSCM. The respondents deemed that GSCM practices contributed toward a firm's competitiveness by improving the efficiency of green operations, reducing disposal costs, and avoiding penalties and future compliance costs in the global supply chain. Additionally, the adoption of GSCM practices enhances a firm's positive image, creating a competitive advantage among consumers. However, the respondents did not associate GSCM practices with short-term economic profits due to increased costs of pollution-free equipment and opportunistic behavior between partners until conformity was achieved. Thus, the respondents were not optimistic about short-term profitability and failed to support H 4-2.

6. Conclusions

This empirical study investigated the determinants and performance outcomes of adopting GSCM practices, including green suppliers and customer management targeting Korean manufacturers for the first time in the recent decade. This study identifies GEO, institutional pressure, and relational capital as determinants of GSCM adoption, with institutional pressure and relational capital acting as moderating factors. Competitiveness and economic performance were measured as the outcomes of GSCM practices. This study is both relevant and timely, given South Korea's increasing concern for global environmental conservation, particularly in the manufacturing sector, which has seen substantial growth and government support for environmental sustainability. The PLS-SEM approach provides significant theoretical and practical insights, summarized as follows:

This study makes valuable contributions to the understanding of sustainable supply chain management practices. The relationships between GEO, institutional pressure, relational capital, and GSCM adoption were explored for the first time to clarify the drivers and enablers of GSCM adoption among Korean firms. However, the absence of a moderating effect of institutional pressure and relational capital suggests that these factors may not be critical in influencing GSCM adoption, as previously deemed. Korean firms in the study may have developed strong and well-established GSCM practices that are relatively independent of external pressures or relationships with stakeholders. Their internal commitment to sustainability might be driving their GSCM adoption, rendering external moderating factors less influential. Therefore, more sophisticated statistical techniques are required to fully understand these relationships.

This study offers actionable insights for organizations and policymakers. It emphasizes the role of GEO as a driver for GSCM adoption, underscores the importance of considering multidimensional sustainability outcomes, and highlights the need to address barriers to successful GSCM implementation. First, it highlights the crucial role of GEO as a driver of GSCM adoption, and this can guide organizations in developing strategies to enhance their green orientation. This study's findings hold relevance for similar contexts in countries like Japan and Taiwan, facing comparable challenges and opportunities in Green Supply Chain Management (GSCM) practices. By examining factors influencing GSCM adoption and its impact on competitiveness in these countries, valuable insights can be gained to enhance sustainable supply chain practices. Policymakers can use these findings to formulate policies that promote sustainable supply chain management practices. For instance, they can provide tax incentives or subsidies to companies that reduce their carbon emissions, use renewable energy sources, or implement waste reduction strategies. Additionally, when evaluating the benefits of GSCM adoption, the lack of a significant impact of GSCM on economic performance emphasizes the importance of considering other factors such as environmental and social sustainability. Second, the study underscores the need for organizations to address the barriers to GSCM adoption, including lack of institutional pressure and relational capital. By actively seeking collaborations and fostering strong relationships, companies can overcome these challenges and achieve successful adoption of sustainable supply chain practices.

To provide a balanced interpretation of our findings, it is crucial to acknowledge and discuss the limitations of our study. This includes examining potential biases, limitations related to sample size and geographical scope, and other influencing constraints. The limited sample size affects the generalizability of our findings beyond this research's specific scope. Moreover, our study focused solely on the impact of GSCM on competitiveness enhancement and economic performance, omitting considerations of other potential benefits like improved environmental outcomes and stakeholder satisfaction. We also did not explore the potential moderating effects of variables such as firm size, industry type, economic context, or corporate culture. Recognizing these limitations and addressing them in future research will contribute to advancing knowledge in sustainable supply chain management. By considering biases, sample size, scope limitations, and other constraints, researchers can build upon our findings and foster a more comprehensive understanding of the subject. Acknowledging these limitations facilitates a realistic interpretation of our results and encourages further exploration in this field.

Conflict of Interest

The author(s) declare that they have no known

competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data Availability Statement

The data that has been used is confidential at the request of the participants of the study.

Funding

This study was conducted without support from outside the research funds.

Acknowledgement

The author (s) appreciate the Editor and the anonymous referees.

References

- Chan, H.K., Yee, R.W., Dai, J., et al., 2016. The moderating effect of environmental dynamism on green product innovation and performance. International Journal of Production Economics. 181, 384-391.
- [2] de Sousa Jabbour, A.B.L., Jabbour, C.J.C., Latan, H., et al., 2014. Quality management, environmental management maturity, green supply chain practices and green performance of Brazilian companies with ISO 14001 certification: Direct and indirect effects. Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review. 67, 39-51.
- [3] Chen, Y.S., 2008. The driver of green innovation and green image—green core competence. Journal of Business Ethics. 81, 531-543.
- [4] Hick, S., 2000. Morals maketh the money. Australian CPA. 70(4), 72-73.
- [5] Albort-Morant, G., Leal-Millan, A., Cepeda-Carrion, G., 2016. The antecedents of green innovation performance: A model of learning and capabilities. Journal of Business Research. 69(11), 4912-4917.
- [6] Baresel-Bofinger, A.C., Ketikidis, P.H., Koh, S.L., et al., 2011. Role of 'green knowledge' in

the environmental transformation of the supply chain: The case of Greek manufacturing. International Journal of Knowledge-Based Development. 2(1), 107-128.

- [7] Tseng, M.L., Islam, M.S., Karia, N., et al., 2019. A literature review on green supply chain management: Trends and future challenges. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 141, 145-162.
- [8] Choudhary, K., Sangwan, K., 2022. Green supply chain management pressures, practices and performance: A critical literature review. Benchmarking: An International Journal. 29(5), 1393-1428.
- [9] Eltayeb, T.K., Zailani, S., Ramayah, T., 2011. Green supply chain initiatives among certified companies in Malaysia and environmental sustainability: Investigating the outcomes. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 55(5), 495-506.
- [10] Lin, R.J., Sheu, C., 2012. Why do firms adopt/ implement green practices?—An institutional theory perspective. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences. 57, 533-540.
- [11] Maaz, M.A.M., Ahmad, R., Abad, A., 2022. Antecedents and consequences of green supply chain management practices: A study of Indian food processing industry. Benchmarking: An International Journal. 29(7), 2045-2073.
- [12] Xu, J., Yu, Y., Wu, Y., et al., 2021. Green supply chain management for operational performance: Anteceding impact of corporate social responsibility and moderating effects of relational capital. Journal of Enterprise Information Management. 35(6), 1613-1638.
- [13] Saygili, M., Karabacak, Z., 2022. Green practices in supply chain management: Case studies. Journal of Business and Trade. 3(1), 65-81.
- [14] Jiang, W., Chai, H., Shao, J., et al., 2018. Green entrepreneurial orientation for enhancing firm performance: A dynamic capability perspective. Journal of Cleaner Production. 198, 1311-1323.
- [15] Khidir, T.A., Zailani, S.H.M., 2011. Greening of the Supply Chain through Supply Chain Initiatives towards Environmental Sustainability [Internet].

Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/ profile/Suhaiza-Zailani/publication/267364072_ Greening_of_the_Supply_Chain_Through_Supply_Chain_Initiatives_Towards_Environmental_ Sustainability/links/54995c2e0cf22a831395a1e0/ Greening-of-the-Supply-Chain-Through-Supply-Chain-Initiatives-Towards-Environmental-Sustainability.pdf

- [16] Jaggernath, R., Khan, Z., 2015. Green supply chain management. World Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable Development. 11(1), 37-47.
- [17]Zahraee, S., Mamizadeh, F., Vafaei, S., 2018. Greening Assessment of Suppliers in Automotive Supply Chain: An Empirical Survey of the Automotive Industry in Iran. Global Journal of Flexible System Management, 19(3), 225-238.
- [18] Abdallah, A., Al-Ghwayeen, W. 2020. Green supply chain management and business performance: The mediating roles of environmental and operational performances. Business Process Management Journal, 26(2), 489-512.
- [19] Zsidisin, G.A., Siferd, S.P., 2001. Environmental purchasing: A framework for theory development. European Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management. 7(1), 61-73.
- [20] Srivastava, S.K., 2007. Green supply-chain management: A state-of-the-art literature review. International Journal of Management Reviews. 9(1), 53-80.
- [21] Kim, I., Min, H., 2011. Measuring supply chain efficiency from a green perspective. Management Research Review. 34(11), 1169-1189.
- [22] Kim, J., Rhee, J., 2012. An empirical study on the impact of critical success factors on the balanced scorecard performance in Korean green supply chain management enterprises. International Journal of Production Research. 50(9), 2465-2483.
- [23] Sarkis, J., Zhu, Q., Lai, K., 2011. An Organizational theoretic review of green supply Chain management literature. International Journal of Production Economics. 130(1), 1-15.
- [24] Wagner, M., Oehlmann, J., 2009. Endocrine

disruptors in bottled mineral water: Total estrogenic burden and migration from plastic bottles. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 16(3), 278-286.

- [25]Zhu, Q., Cote, R., 2004. Integrating green supply Chain management into an embryonic eco-industrial development: A case study of the Guitang Group. Journal of Cleaner Production. 12(8-10), 1025-1035.
- [26] Judge, W.Q., Elenkov, D., 2005. Organizational capacity for change and environmental performance: An empirical assessment of Bulgarian firms. Journal of Business Research. 58(7), 893-901.
- [27] Rahman, T., Ali, S.M., Moktadir, M.A., et al., 2020. Evaluating barriers to implementing green supply chain management: An example from an emerging economy. Production Planning & Control. 31(8), 673-698.
- [28] Rao, P., Holt, D., 2005. Do Green Supply Chains Lead to Competitiveness and Economic Performance? International Journal of Operation and. Production. Management, 25(9), 898-916.
- [29] Zailani, S., Jeyaraman, K., Vengadasan, G., et al., 2012. Sustainable supply chain management (SSCM) in Malaysia: A survey. International Journal of Production Economics. 140, 330-340.
- [30] Zhu, Q., Sarkis, J., Lai, K., 2012. Examining the effects of green supply chain management practices and their mediations on performance improvements. International Journal of Production Research. 50(5), 1377-1394.
- [31] Friedman, A.L., Miles, S., 2006. Stakeholders: Theory and practice. Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK.
- [32] Miles, S., 2012. Stakeholder: Essentially contested or just confused?. Journal of Business Ethics. 108(3), 285-298.
- [33] Donaldson, T., Preston, L., 1995. The stakeholder theory of the corporation: Concepts, evidence, and implications. Academy of Management Review. 20(1), 65-91.
- [34] Eesley, C., Lenox, M., 2006. Firm responses to secondary stakeholder action. Strategic Manage-

ment Journal. 27(8), 765-781.

- [35] Freeman, R., 1984. Strategic management: A stakeholder approach. Pitman: Boston, MA.
- [36] Clarkson, M.E., 1995. A stakeholder framework for analyzing and evaluating corporate social performance. Academy of Management Review. 20(1), 92-117.
- [37] Mitchell, R.K., Agle, B.R., Wood, D.J., 1997. Toward a theory of stakeholder identification and salience: Defining the principle of who and what really counts. Academy of Management Review. 22(4), 853-886.
- [38] Huang, X., Tan, B., Dong, L., 2012. Pressures on green supply chain management: a study on manufacturing small and medium-sized enterprises in China. International Business Management. 4(1), 76-82.
- [39] Sarkis, J., Gonzalez-Torre, P., Adenso-Diaz, B., 2010. Stakeholder pressure and the adoption of environmental practices: The mediating effect of training. Journal of Operations Management. 28(2), 163-176.
- [40] Barney, J., 1991. Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. Journal of Management. 17(1), 99-120.
- [41] Galbreath, J., 2005. Which resources matter the most to firm success? An exploratory study of resource-based theory. Technovation. 25(9), 979-987.
- [42] Amit, R., Schoemaker, P., 1993. Strategic assets and organizational rent. Strategic Management Journal. 14(1), 33-46.
- [43] Hitt, M.A., Xu, K., Carnes, C.M., 2016. Resource based theory in operations management research. Journal of Operations Management. 41, 77-94.
- [44] Sirmon, D.G., Hitt, M.A., Ireland, R.D., 2007. Managing firm resources in dynamic environments to create value: Looking inside the black box. Academy of Management Review. 32(1), 273-292.
- [45] Hashmi, S.D., Akram, S., 2021. Impact of green supply chain management on financial and environmental performance: Mediating role of oper-

ational performance and the moderating role of external pressures. LogForum. 17(3).

- [46] Gast, J., Gundolf, K., Cesinger, B., 2017. Doing business in a green way: A systematic review of the ecological sustainability entrepreneurship literature and future research directions. Journal of Cleaner Production. 147, 44-56.
- [47] Hughes, P., Hodgkinson, I., Hughes, M., et al., 2017. Explaining the entrepreneurial orientation performance relationship in emerging economies: The intermediate roles of absorptive capacity and improvisation. Asia Pacific Journal of Management. 35(4), 1025-1053.
- [48] Schaltegger, S., 2016. A framework and typology of ecopreneurship: Leading bio-neers and environmental managers to ecopreneurship. Making Ecopreneurs. Routledge: London, UK. pp. 95-114.
- [49] Biniari, M.G., 2012. The emotional embeddedness of corporate entrepreneurship: The case of envy. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice. 36(1), 141-170.
- [50] Meek, W.R., Pacheco, D.F., York, J.G., 2010. The impact of social norms on entrepreneurial action: Evidence from the environmental entrepreneurship context. Journal of Business Venturing. 25(5), 493-509.
- [51] Dean, T.J., McMullen, J.S., 2007. Toward a theory of sustainable entrepreneurship: Reducing environmental degradation through entrepreneurial action. Journal of Business Venturing. 22(1), 50-76.
- [52] Muo, I., Adebayo Azeez, A., 2019. Green entrepreneurship: Literature review and agenda for future research. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Knowledge. 7(2), 17-29.
- [53]Lin, C.Y., Ho, Y.H., 2011. Determinants of green practice adoption for logistics companies in China. Journal of Business Ethics. 98, 67-83.
- [54] Rao, P., 2002. Greening the supply chain: A new initiative in South East Asia. International Journal of Operation and Production Management. 22(6), 632-655.
- [55] Brik, A., Mellahi, K., Rettab, B., 2013. Drivers

of green supply chain in emerging economies. Thunderbird International Business Review. 55(2), 123-136.

- [56] Zhu, Q., Sarkis, J., Geng, Y., 2005. Green supply chain management in China: Pressures, practices and performance. International Journal of Operations and Production Management. 25(5), 449-468.
- [57] Christmann, P., Taylor, G., 2001. Globalization and the environment: Determinants of firm self-regulation in China. Journal of International Business Studies. 32, 439-458.
- [58] Seles, B., de Sousa Jabbour, A., Jabbour, C., et al., 2016. The green bullwhip effect, the diffusion of green supply chain practices, and institutional pressures: Evidence from the automotive sector. International Journal of Production Economics. 182, 342-355.
- [59] Tingey-Holyoak, J., 2014. Sustainable water storage by agricultural businesses: Strategic responses to institutional pressures. Journal of Business Research. 67, 2590-2602.
- [60] Nkrumah, S.K., Asamoah, D., Annan, J., et al., 2021. Examining green capabilities as drivers of green supply chain management adoption. Management Research Review. 44(1), 94-111.
- [61] Yu, Y., Zhang, M., Huo, B., 2021. The impact of relational capital on green supply chain management and financial performance. Production Planning and Control. 32(10), 861-874.
- [62] Villena, V., Revilla, E., Choi, T., 2011. The dark side of buyer-supplier relationships: A social capital perspective. Journal of Operation Management. 29(6), 561-576.
- [63] Sarkis, J., 2003. A strategic decision framework for green supply chain management. Journal of Cleaner Production. 11, 397-409.
- [64] Melander, L., 2017. Achieving sustainable development by collaborating in green product innovation. Business Strategy and Environment. 26(8), 1095-1109.
- [65] Wu, S., Yao, X., Wu, G., 2020. Environmental investment decision of green supply chain considering the green uncertainty. Complexity. 1-13.

- [66] Kumar, N., Andrew, B., Shi, E., et al., 2019. Integrating sustainable supply chain practices with operational performance: An exploratory study of Chinese SEMs. Production Planning and Control. 30(5-6), 464-478.
- [67] Zhu, Q., Sarkis, J., Lai, K., 2007. Green supply chain management: pressures, practices and performance within the Chinese automobile industry. Journal of Cleaner Production. 15(11/12), 1041-1052.
- [68] Zhang, M., Lettice, F., Chan, H., et al., 2018. Supplier integration and firm performance: The moderating effects of internal integration and trust. Production Planning and Control. 29(10), 802-813.
- [69] Geng, R., Mansouri, S., Aktas, E., et al., 2017. The role of Guanxi in green supply Chain management in Asia's emerging economies: A conceptual framework. Industrial Marketing Management. 63, 1-17.
- [70] Zhu, Q., Sarkis, J., Lai, K., 2013. Institutional-based antecedents and performance outcomes of internal and external green supply chain management practices. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management. 19(2), 106-117.
- [71] Yu, W., Chavez, R., Feng, M., 2017. Green supply management and performance: A resource-based view. Production Planning and Control. 28(6-8), 659-670.
- [72] Zhu, Q., Feng, Y., Choi, S.B., 2017. The role of customer relational governance in environmental and economic performance improvement through green supply chain management. Journal of Cleaner Production. 155, 46-53.
- [73] Feng, M., Yu, W., Wang, X., et al., 2018. Green supply chain management and financial performance: The mediating roles of operational and environmental performance. Business Strategy and Environment. 27(7), 811-824.
- [74] Choi, S., Min, H., Joo, H., 2018. Examining the inter-relationship among competitive market environments, green supply chain practices, and firm performance. International Journal of Logistics Management. 29(3), 1025-1048.

- [75] Achtenhagen, L., Naldi, L., Melin, L., 2010."Business growth"—Do practitioners and scholars really talk about the same thing? Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice. 34(2), 289-316.
- [76] Mitra, S., Datta, P., 2014. Adoption of green supply chain management practices and their impact on performance: An exploratory study of Indian manufacturing firms. International Journal of Production Research. 52, 2085-2107.
- [77] Laosirihongthong, T., Adebanjo, D., Tan, K., 2013. Green supply chain management practices and performance. Industrial Management & Data Systems. 113(8), 1088-1109.
- [78] Hair Jr., J., Sarstedt, M., Hopkins, L., et al.,2014. Partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM): An emerging tool in

business research. European Business Review. 26, 106-121.

- [79] Hu, L., Bentler, P., 1999. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal. 6(1), 1-55.
- [80] Li, Y., Wei, Z., Liu, Y., 2010. Strategic orientations, knowledge acquisition, and firm performance: the perspective of the vendor in cross-border outsourcing. Journal of Management Studies. 47(8), 1457-1482.
- [81] Hair Jr., J., Hult, G., Ringle, C., et al., 2016. A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM). Sage Publications: Thousand Oaks, CA.

